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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

Portions of the FRP Holdings, Inc. 2020 Annual Report to Shareholders are incorporated by reference in Parts I and II. 

 

Portions of the FRP Holdings, Inc. Proxy Statement which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 

not later than March 31, 2021 are incorporated by reference in Part III. 

 

 

Preliminary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.   

 

Certain matters discussed in the report contain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of 

Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The words or phrases “anticipate,” “estimate,” ”believe,” “budget,” 

“continue,” “could,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “seek,” “should,” “will,” “would,” 

“expect,” “objective,” “projection,” “forecast,” “goal,” “guidance,” “outlook,” “effort,” “target” and similar 

expressions identify forward-looking statements.  Such statements reflect management’s current views with 

respect to financial results related to future events and are based on assumptions and expectations that may not 

be realized and are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which cannot be predicted with 

accuracy and some of which might not even be anticipated. Future events and actual results, financial or 

otherwise, may differ, perhaps materially, from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Risk 

factors discussed in Item 1A of this Form 10-K and other factors that might cause differences, some of which 

could be material, include, but are not limited to:  the impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic on our operations and 

financial results; the possibility that we may be unable to find appropriate investment opportunities;  levels of 

construction activity in the markets served by our mining properties; demand for apartments in Washington 
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D.C. and Richmond, Virginia; our ability to obtain zoning and entitlements necessary for property 

development; the impact of lending and capital market conditions on our liquidity, our ability to finance 

projects or repay our debt; general real estate investment and development risks; vacancies in our properties; 

risks associated with developing and managing properties in partnership with others; competition; our ability to 

renew leases or re-lease spaces as leases expire; illiquidity of real estate investments; bankruptcy or defaults of 

tenants; the impact of restrictions imposed by our credit facility; the level and volatility of interest rates; 

environmental liabilities; inflation risks; cyber security risks; as well as other risks listed from time to time in 

our SEC filings, including but not limited to, our annual and quarterly reports. We have no obligation to revise 

or update any forward-looking statements, other than as imposed by law, as a result of future events or new 

information. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.  

 

These forward-looking statements are made as of the date hereof based on management’s current expectations, 

and the Company does not undertake an obligation to update such statements, whether as a result of new 

information, future events or otherwise. Additional information regarding these and other risk factors may be 

found in the Company’s other filings made from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
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PART I 

 

Item 1. BUSINESS. 

 

FRP Holdings, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated on April 22, 2014 in connection 

with a corporate reorganization that preceded the Spin-off of Patriot Transportation Holding, Inc.  The 

Company’s predecessor issuer was formed on July 20, 1998. The business of the Company is conducted 

through our wholly-owned subsidiaries FRP Development Corp., a Maryland corporation, and Florida Rock 

Properties, Inc., a Florida corporation, and the various subsidiaries of each. 

 

Our Business. The Company is a holding company engaged in various real estate businesses. Our business 

segments are: (i) leasing and management of commercial properties owned by the Company (the “Asset 

Management Segment”), (ii) leasing and management of mining royalty land owned by the Company  (the 

“Mining Royalty Lands Segment”), (ii) real property acquisition, entitlement, development and construction 

primarily for apartment, retail, warehouse, and office buildings either alone or through joint ventures (the 

“Development Segment”), (iv) ownership, leasing and management of buildings through joint ventures (the 

“Stabilized Joint Venture Segment”). 

 

The Asset Management Segment owns, leases and manages commercial properties. The Company completed 

the disposition of 40 industrial warehouse properties and three additional land parcels to an affiliate of 

Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII, L.P. for $347.2 million on May 21, 2018 and sold an additional 

industrial warehouse property to the same buyer on June 28, 2019 for $11.7 million, leaving only two 

commercial properties and one recent industrial acquisition (Cranberry Run Business Park, which we 

purchased in 2019) in the Asset Management Segment.  In July 2020 we sold our property located at 1801 62
nd

 

Street, our most recent spec building in Hollander Business Park, which we acquired on April 1, 2019.  Our 

overall business strategy includes the re-deployment of the warehouse portfolio sales proceeds into asset 

classes across various business segments that will allow management to exploit its knowledge and expertise, 

including mixed-use properties, raw land, existing buildings, and strategic partnerships located in core markets 

with growth potential.  

 

Our Mining Royalty Lands Segment owns several properties comprising approximately 15,000 acres currently 

under lease for mining rents or royalties and an additional 4,280 acres through our Brooksville joint venture 

with Vulcan Materials.  Other than one location in Virginia, all of our mining properties are located in Florida 

and Georgia.  

 

Our Development Segment owns and continuously monitors the “highest and best use” of parcels of land that 

are in various stages of development. The overall strategy for this segment is to convert all of our non-income 

producing property into income-producing property through (i) an orderly process of constructing new 

apartment, retail, warehouse, and office buildings to be operated by the Company or (ii) a sale to, or joint 

venture with, third parties. Additionally, our Development Segment will form joint ventures on new 

developments of land not previously owned by the Company. Since 1990, one of our primary strategies in this 

segment has been to acquire, entitle and ultimately develop commercial and industrial business parks providing 

5–15 building pads which we typically convert into warehouse or office buildings.  To date, our management 

team has converted 30 of these pads into developed buildings.  Our typical practice has been to transfer these 

assets to the Asset Management Segment on the earlier to occur of (i) commencement of rental revenue or (ii) 

issuance of the certificate of occupancy.  We have also occasionally sold several of these pad sites over time to 

third parties.   

 

The Stabilized Joint Venture Segment owns buildings held for lease through joint ventures. We intend to 

transfer additional joint ventures from our Development Segment into this segment as they reach stabilization. 

Stabilization occurs when our minimum percentage leased goal is achieved. 

 

Competition.  As a developer, we compete with numerous developers, owners and operators of real estate, 

many of whom own properties similar to ours in the same submarkets in which our properties are located.  
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Price, location, rental space availability, flexibility of design and property management services are the major 

factors that affect competition.   

 

Customers. In the Mining Royalty Lands Segment, we have a total of five tenants currently leasing our 

mining locations, and Vulcan Materials Company (“Vulcan” or “Vulcan Materials”) accounted for 32.0% of 

the Company’s consolidated revenues in 2020.   An event affecting Vulcan’s ability to perform under its lease 

agreements could materially impact the Company’s results. 

 

Sales and Marketing. We use national brokerage firms to assist us in marketing our vacant properties.  Our 

hands on in-house management team focuses on tenant satisfaction during the life of the lease which we have 

found to be very beneficial with respect to our tenant renewal success rate over the years.   

 

Financial Information.  Financial information is discussed by industry segment in Note 10 to the consolidated 

financial statements included in the accompanying 2020 Annual Report to Shareholders, which is incorporated 

herein by reference. 

 

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic is having an extraordinary impact on the 

world economy and the markets in which we operate. As an essential business, we have continued to operate 

throughout the pandemic in accordance with government guidelines and orders issued by state and local 

authorities. Our Dock 79 and Maren properties in Washington, D.C. suffered the principal impacts to our 

business from the pandemic during 2020 due to our retail tenants being unable to operate at full capacity, the 

lack of fan attendance at the Washington Nationals baseball park, and the rent freeze on lease renewals 

imposed in Washington, D.C. These restrictions and any future restrictions imposed by any federal, state, or 

local government may impact our ability lease retail spaces or increase rents. 

 

Environmental Matters. The Company incurs costs from time to time to investigate and remediate 

environmental contamination on its real estate, in particular, in connection with our Development Segment.  

The Company's mining leases contain provisions under which the lessee is responsible for environmental 

liabilities and reclamation of mining sites at least to the extent required by law. 

   

Employees.  The Company employed 13 people and was provided services by three executive officers under a 

related party agreement at December 31, 2020. 

 

Company Website. The Company’s website may be accessed at www.frpdev.com. All of our filings with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission are accessible through our website promptly after filing.  This includes 

annual reports on Form 10-K, proxy statements, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports filed or 

furnished on Form 8-K and all related amendments.   

 

 

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS. 

 

Our future results may be affected by a number of factors over which we have little or no control.  The 

following issues, uncertainties, and risks, among others, should be considered in evaluating our business and 

outlook.  Also, note that additional risks not currently identified or known to us could also negatively impact 

our business or financial results. 

Risks Relating to the COVID-19 Pandemic 

 

The current pandemic of the novel coronavirus COVID-19 could materially and adversely impact or 

disrupt our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and performance. 

 

Since being reported in December 2019, the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had repercussions 

across regional and global economies and financial markets. The outbreak of COVID-19 has significantly 

adversely impacted global economic activity, contributed to significant volatility and negative pressure in 

financial markets and increased economic uncertainty. In response to the pandemic, many states and cities in 
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which we own properties have instituted quarantines, restrictions on travel, restrictions on types of business 

that may continue to operate, and/or restrictions on the types of construction projects that may continue. In 

response to these restrictions and to protect employee safety, many of our employees continue to work 

remotely. 

 

The restrictions in place as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic are negatively impacting many industries, 

especially the commercial real estate industry and mixed-use properties, which have apartment dwellers, small 

businesses, and restaurants as tenants. The significance, extent and duration of the impacts of the COVID-19 

pandemic on our business and operations are dependent on factors that cannot be accurately predicted at this 

time, such as the continued severity and spread of the virus, the period of time during which mandated social 

distancing or other mitigation measures remain in place, and the timetable for implementing effective 

treatments and vaccines.  

 

The financial performance of our mixed-use properties in Washington, D.C. (The Maren and Dock 79) has 

been adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic due to restrictions on the operation of local businesses, the 

rent freeze on lease renewals imposed in Washington, D.C., and the lack of fan attendance at the Washington 

Nationals baseball park. At this time, the Company anticipates that these factors will continue to impact The 

Maren and Dock 79 for at least the first half of 2021, which will adversely affect our financial condition, 

results of operations and cash flows. 

 

Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic could materially and adversely affect our ability to complete pending 

and planned construction projects in a timely manner due to restrictions imposed on construction activities, 

delays in the permitting process or delays in the supply of materials or labor necessary for construction. 

Risks Relating to our Business 

 

A decline in the economic conditions in Baltimore and Washington, D.C. markets could adversely affect 

our business. 

 

Nearly all of our commercial and residential/mixed use properties are located in the Baltimore area and 

Washington, D.C.  We are, therefore, subject to increased exposure (positive or negative) to economic and 

other competitive factors specific to markets in confined geographic areas.  Our operations may also be 

affected if too many competing properties are built in these markets.  An economic downturn in these markets 

could adversely affect our operation.  We cannot be sure that these markets will continue to grow or demand 

the type of assets in our portfolio. 

 

We conduct a significant portion of our operations through joint ventures, which may lead to 

disagreements with our joint venture partners and adversely affect our interests in the joint ventures. 

 

We currently are a party to several joint ventures and we may enter into additional joint ventures in the future. 

In each of our existing joint ventures, the consent of our joint venture partner is required to take certain actions, 

and in some cases will share equal voting control. Our joint venture partners, as well as future partners, may 

have interests that are different from ours which may result in conflicting views as to the conduct of the joint 

ventures. In the event that we have a disagreement with a joint venture partner as to the resolution of a 

particular issue to come before the joint venture, or as to the conduct or management of the joint venture 

generally, we may not be able to resolve such disagreement in our favor and such a disagreement  could have a 

material adverse effect on our interest in the joint venture or on the business of the joint venture generally. 

 

Our business may be adversely affected by seasonal factors and harsh weather conditions. 

 

The Mining Royalty Lands Segment and the Development Segment could be adversely affected by reduced 

construction and mining activity during periods of inclement weather.  These factors could cause our operating 

results to fluctuate from quarter to quarter. An occurrence of unusually harsh or long-lasting inclement weather 

such as hurricanes, tornadoes and heavy snowfalls could have an adverse effect on our operations and 

profitability. 
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Our business could be negatively impacted by cyberattacks targeting our computer and 

telecommunications systems and infrastructure, or targeting those of our third-party service providers. 

 

Our business, like other companies in our industry, has become increasingly dependent on digital technologies, 

including technologies that are managed by third-party service providers on whom we rely to help us collect, 

host or process information. Such technologies are integrated into our business operations. Use of the internet 

and other public networks for communications, services, and storage, including "cloud" computing, exposes all 

users (including our business) to cybersecurity risks. 

 

While we and our third-party service providers commit resources to the design, implementation, and 

monitoring of our information systems, there is no guarantee that our security measures will provide absolute 

security. Despite these security measures, we may not be able to anticipate, detect, or prevent cyberattacks, 

particularly because the methodologies used by attackers change frequently or may not be recognized until 

launched, and because attackers are increasingly using techniques designed to circumvent controls and avoid 

detection. We and our third-party service providers may therefore be vulnerable to security events that are 

beyond our control, and we may be the target of cyber-attacks, as well as physical attacks, which could result in 

information security breaches and significant disruption to our business. 

 

Our revenues depend in part on construction sector activity, which tends to be cyclical.      

 

Our Mining Royalty Lands Segment revenues are derived from royalties on construction aggregates mined on 

our properties.  Thus, our results depend in part on residential, commercial and infrastructure construction 

activity and spending levels.  The construction industry in our markets tends to be cyclical.  Construction 

activity and spending levels vary across our markets and are influenced by interest rates, inflation, consumer 

spending habits, demographic shifts, environmental laws and regulations, employment levels and the 

availability of funds for public infrastructure projects.  Economic downturns may lead to recessions in the 

construction industry, either in individual markets or nationally. 

 

Our operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations, the violation of which could 

result in substantial fines or penalties. 

 

Liability for environmental contamination on real property owned by the Company may include the following 

costs, without limitation: investigation and feasibility study costs, remediation costs, litigation costs, oversight 

costs, monitoring costs, institutional control costs, penalties from state and federal agencies and third-party 

claims. These costs could be substantial and in extreme cases could exceed the value of the contaminated 

property. Moreover, on-site operations may be suspended until certain environmental contamination is 

remediated and/or permits are received, and governmental agencies can impose permanent restrictions on the 

manner in which a property may be used depending on the extent and nature of the contamination. This may 

result in a breach of the terms of the lease entered into with our tenants. Governmental agencies also may 

create liens on contaminated sites for damages it incurred to address such contamination. In addition, the 

presence of hazardous substances at, on, under or from a property may adversely affect our ability to sell the 

property or borrow funds using the property as collateral, thus harming our financial condition. 

 

The presence of contaminated material at our RiverFront on the Anacostia development site will 

subject us to substantial environmental liability and costs as construction proceeds. 

 

With respect to our RiverFront on the Anacostia site in Washington, D.C., preliminary environmental testing 

has indicated the presence of contaminated material that will have to be specially handled in excavation in 

conjunction with construction.  While we have recovered and will continue to seek partial reimbursement for 

these costs from neighboring property owners, we still expect to incur significant environmental costs in 

connection with construction. 

 

During the quarter ending December 31, 2015, management successfully completed negotiations and entered 

into a $3.0 million settlement of environmental claims on all four phases against our former tenant at the 
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Riverfront on the Anacostia property and continues to pursue settlement negotiations with other potentially 

responsible parties. The total remediation expense for Phase I of this development was $1.833 million. 

 

The Company executed a letter of intent with MRP Realty in May 2016 to develop Phase II of the Riverfront 

on the Anacostia project and recorded an estimated environmental remediation expense of $2.0 million for the 

Company’s estimated liability under the proposed agreement. The Company substantially completed the 

remediation and reduced the estimated liability in the quarter ending September 30, 2018 by $465,000 and 

further reduced the liability $92,000 to zero in 2020.   

 

The Company has no obligation to remediate this contamination on Phases III and IV of the development until 

such time as it makes a commitment to commence construction on each phase.  The Company's actual expense 

to address this issue may be materially higher or lower than the expense previously recorded depending upon 

the actual costs incurred. 

 

Uninsured losses could significantly reduce our earnings. 

 

We self-insure for a portion of our claims exposure resulting from workers’ compensation, auto liability, 

general liability and employees’ health insurance. We also are responsible for our legal expenses relating to 

such claims.  We maintain insurance above the amounts for which we self-insure with licensed insurance 

carriers.  Although we believe the aggregate insurance limits should be sufficient to cover reasonably expected 

claims, it is possible that one or more claims could exceed our aggregate coverage limits.  Additionally, there 

are certain losses, such as losses from hurricanes, terrorism, wars or earthquakes, where insurance is limited or 

not economically justifiable.  If the Company experiences an uninsured loss of real property, we could lose 

both the invested capital and anticipated revenues associated with such property.  We accrue currently for 

estimated incurred losses and expenses and periodically evaluate and adjust our claims accrued liability to 

reflect our experience.  However, ultimate results may differ from our estimates, which could result in losses 

greater than accrued amounts.  

 

We may be unable to renew leases or re-lease properties as leases expire.  

 

When a lease expires, a tenant may elect not to renew it.  If that occurs, we may not be able to lease the 

property on similar terms.  The terms of renewal or re-lease (including the cost of required renovations and 

concessions to tenants) may be less favorable than the prior lease.  If we are unable to lease all or substantially 

all of our properties, or if the rental rates upon such re-leasing are significantly lower than expected rates, our 

cash generated before debt repayments and capital expenditures may be adversely affected.  

 

We may be unable to lease currently vacant properties. 

 

If we are unable to obtain leases sufficient to cover carrying costs, then our cash flows may be adversely 

affected. 

 

The bankruptcy or insolvency of significant tenants with long-term leases may adversely affect income 

produced by our properties. 

 

Should tenants default on their obligations, our cash flow would be adversely affected, and we may not be able 

to find another tenant to occupy the space under similar terms or may have to make expenditures to retrofit or 

divide the space. Additionally, we may have to incur a non-cash expense for a significant amount of deferred 

rent revenue generated from the accounting requirement to straight-line rental revenues.  The bankruptcy or 

insolvency of a major tenant may also adversely affect the income produced by a property.  If any of our 

tenants become a debtor in a case under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, we cannot evict that tenant solely because 

of its bankruptcy.  The bankruptcy court may authorize the tenant to reject and terminate its lease with the 

Company.  Our claim against such a tenant for unpaid future rent would be subject to a statutory limitation that 

may be substantially less than the remaining rent actually owed to us under the tenant’s lease.  Any shortfall in 

rent payments could adversely affect our cash flow. 
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Our inability to obtain necessary approvals for property development could adversely affect our 

profitability. 

 

We may be unable to obtain, or incur delays in obtaining, necessary zoning, land-use, building, occupancy and 

other required governmental permits and authorizations, which could result in increased costs or abandonment 

of certain projects.  Before we can develop a property, we must obtain a variety of approvals from local and 

state governments with respect to such matters as zoning, density, parking, subdivision, site planning and 

environmental issues.  Legislation could impose moratoriums on new real estate development or land-use 

conversions from mining to development. These factors may reduce our profit or growth and may limit the 

value of these properties. 

 

Real estate investments are not as liquid as other types of assets.  

 

The illiquid nature of real estate investments may limit our ability to react promptly to changes in economic or 

other conditions.  In addition, significant expenditures associated with real estate investments, such as 

mortgage payments, real estate taxes and maintenance costs, are generally not reduced when circumstances 

cause a reduction in income from the investments. Thus, the illiquid nature of our real estate investments could 

adversely affect our profitability under certain economic conditions. 

 

Our debt service obligations may have adverse consequences on our business operations. 

 

We use debt to finance our operations, including acquisitions of properties.  As of December 31, 2020, we had 

outstanding non-recourse mortgage indebtedness of $90,000,000, secured by developed real estate properties 

having a carrying value of $89,964,000.Our use of debt may have adverse consequences, including the 

following: 

 

 Our cash flows from operations may not be sufficient to meet required payments of principal 

and interest. 

 We may be forced to dispose of one or more of our properties, possibly on disadvantageous 

terms, to make payments on our debt. 

 We may default on our debt obligations, and the lenders may foreclose on our properties that 

collateralize those loans. 

 A foreclosure on one of our properties could create taxable income without any accompanying 

cash proceeds to pay the tax. 

 We may not be able to refinance or extend our existing debt. 

 The terms of any refinancing or extension may not be as favorable as the terms of our existing 

debt. 

 We may not be able to issue debt on unencumbered properties under reasonable terms to 

finance growth of our portfolio of properties. 

 We may be subject to a significant increase in the variable interest rates on our unsecured and 

secured lines of credit, which could adversely impact our operations. 

 Our debt agreements have yield maintenance requirements that result in a penalty if we 

prepay loans.  

 

Our uncollateralized revolving credit agreement restricts our ability to engage in some business 

activities. 

 

Our uncollateralized revolving credit agreement contains customary negative covenants and other financial and 

operating covenants that, among other things: 

 

 restricts our ability to incur certain additional indebtedness; 

 restricts our ability to make certain investments; 

 restricts our ability to merge with another company; 

 restricts our ability to pay dividends; 
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 requires us to maintain financial coverage ratios; and 

 requires us to not encumber certain assets except as approved by the lenders. 

 

These restrictions could cause us to default on our unsecured line of credit or negatively affect our operations. 

 

The replacement of LIBOR with an alternative reference rate may adversely affect interest expense 

related to outstanding debt and our financial results. 

 

The United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) has announced that it would phase out LIBOR as a 

benchmark by the end of 2021.  It is unclear if LIBOR will cease to exist at that time or if new methods of 

calculating LIBOR will be established such that it continues to exist after 2021. If LIBOR ceases to exist, we 

will likely need to agree upon a replacement index with our lenders, which would require an amendment to our 

borrowing arrangements that use LIBOR as a factor in determining the interest rate (including our credit 

agreement with Wells Fargo), and the interest rate thereunder will likely change.  

 

The U.S. Federal Reserve, in conjunction with the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering 

committee comprised of large U.S. financial institutions, is considering replacing U.S. dollar LIBOR with a 

new index, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR), calculated using short-term repurchase agreements 

backed by Treasury securities. Whether or not SOFR, or another alternative reference rate, attains market 

traction as a LIBOR replacement tool remains in question.  

 

The transition to an alternative rate will require careful and deliberate consideration and implementation so as 

to not disrupt the stability of financial markets. There is no guarantee that a transition from LIBOR to an 

alternative will not result in financial market disruptions, significant increases in benchmark rates, or 

borrowing costs to borrowers, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations 

and financial condition. Furthermore, any changes announced by the FCA, U.S. Federal Reserve, or other 

regulators in the method pursuant to which the reference rates are determined may result in a sudden or 

prolonged increase or decrease in the reported reference rates, which could have an adverse effect on our 

interest payments and our results of operations and financial condition. 

 

Fluctuations in value of Bond Portfolio and losses on bonds sold. 

  

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had total investments of $75,609,000 in corporate bonds with 

maturities ranging from 2021 through 2022. The Company measures the fair value of these investments on a 

quarterly basis and recognizes the unrealized gain or loss in its comprehensive income. As a result, the 

Company’s comprehensive income will be impacted by factors outside our control such as fluctuations in 

interest rates that impact the value of our investment portfolio.  The Company could incur losses should it sell 

the bonds prior to maturity or if the bond issuer does not redeem the bond at par. 

 

Our Asset Management and Development Segments face competition from numerous sources.  

 

As a developer of apartments, retail, flexible warehouse and office space, we compete with numerous 

developers, owners and operators of real estate, many of whom own properties similar to ours in the same 

submarkets in which our properties are located.  If our competitors offer space at rental rates below current 

market rates, or below the rental rates we currently charge our tenants, we may lose potential tenants and we 

may be pressured to reduce our rental rates to an amount lower than we currently charge in order to retain 

tenants when our tenants’ leases expire.  As a result, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow 

and ability to satisfy our debt service obligations could be materially adversely affected. 

 

Construction costs may be higher than anticipated. 

 

Our long-term business plan includes a number of construction projects.  The construction costs of these 

projects may exceed original estimates and possibly make the completion of a property uneconomical.  

Building material commodity shortages, construction delays or stoppages or rapidly escalating construction 

costs may out-pace market rents, which would adversely affect our profits.  The market environment and 
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existing lease commitments may not allow us to raise rents to cover these higher costs. 

 

 

Risks Relating to our Common Stock 

 

Certain shareholders have effective control of a significant percentage of FRP's common stock and 

would have significant influence on the outcome of any shareholder vote. 

 

As of December 31, 2020, our Chief Executive Officer, John D. Baker, II beneficially owned approximately 

14.8% of the outstanding shares of our common stock (79.8% of which are held in trusts under which voting 

power is shared with other family members) and members of his family who are (i) officers or directors of the 

company, (ii) required to report their beneficial ownership on Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G, or (iii) are 

members of his immediate family beneficially own, collectively, an additional 20.8% of the outstanding shares 

of our common stock. As a result, these individuals effectively may have the ability to direct the election of all 

members of our board of directors and to exercise a controlling influence over its business and affairs, 

including any determinations with respect to mergers or other business combinations involving the Company, 

its acquisition or disposition of assets, its borrowing of monies, its issuance of any additional securities, its 

repurchase of common stock and its payment of dividends. 

 
Provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws and certain provisions of Florida law could 

delay or prevent a change in control of FRP.  

 

The existence of some provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws and Florida law could discourage, 

delay or prevent a change in control of FRP that a shareholder may consider favorable. These include 

provisions:  

 

 providing that directors may be removed by our shareholders only for cause; 

 

 authorizing a large number of shares of stock that are not yet issued, which would allow FRP’s board 

of directors to issue shares to persons friendly to current management, thereby protecting the 

continuity of its management, or which could be used to dilute the stock ownership of persons seeking 

to obtain control of FRP; 

 

 prohibiting shareholders from calling special meetings of shareholders or taking action by written 

consent; and 

 

 imposing advance notice requirements for nominations of candidates for election to our board of 

directors at the annual shareholder meetings. 

  

These provisions apply even if a takeover offer may be considered beneficial by some shareholders and could 

delay or prevent an acquisition that our board of directors determines is not in the Company’s or the 

shareholders’ best interests.  

 

FRP may issue preferred stock with terms that could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our 

common stock.  

 

Our articles of incorporation authorize us to issue, without the approval of our shareholders, one or more 

classes or series of preferred stock having such designations, powers, preferences and relative, participating, 

optional and other rights, and such qualifications, limitations or restrictions as our board of directors generally 

may determine. The terms of one or more classes or series of preferred stock could dilute the voting power or 

reduce the value of FRP's common stock. For example, FRP could grant holders of preferred stock the right to 

elect some number of its directors in all events or on the happening of specified events or the right to veto 

specified transactions. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or dividend, distribution or liquidation 

preferences FRP could assign to holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of the common stock. 
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Item 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS. 

 

None. 

 

Item 2.  PROPERTIES. 

 

The Company owns (predominately in fee simple but also through ownership of interests in joint ventures) 

approximately 20,000 acres of land in Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Virginia, South Carolina, and the District of 

Columbia.  This land is generally held by the Company in four distinct segments: (i) Asset Management 

Segment (land owned and operated as income producing rental properties in the form of commercial 

properties), (ii) Mining Royalty Lands Segment (land owned and leased to mining companies for royalties or 

rents), (iii) Development Segment (land owned and held for investment to be further developed for future 

income production or sales to third parties), and (iv) Stabilized Joint Venture Segment (ownership, leasing and 

management of buildings through joint ventures).  

 

Asset Management Segment.  As of December 31, 2020, the Asset Management Segment owned three 

commercial properties in fee simple as follows:   

 

1) 34 Loveton Circle in suburban Baltimore County, Maryland consists of one office building totaling 33,708 

square feet which is 95.1% occupied (16% of the space is occupied by the Company for use as our Baltimore 

headquarters).  The property is subject to commercial leases with various tenants. 

 

2) 155 E. 21
st
 Street in Duval County, Florida was an office building property that remains under lease through 

March 2026.  We permitted the tenant to demolish all structures on the property during 2018. 

 

3) Cranberry Run Business Park in Hartford County, Maryland consists of five office buildings totaling 

268,010 square feet which are 87.6% occupied. The property is subject to commercial leases with various 

tenants. 

 

On May 21, 2018, the Company completed the disposition of 40 industrial warehouse properties and three 

additional land parcels to an affiliate of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII, L.P. for $347.2 million.  The 

Company sold an additional warehouse property, which was excluded from the initial sale due to the tenant 

exercising its right of first refusal to purchase the property, to the same buyer for $11.7 million on June 28, 

2019. The warehouse portfolio sale resulted in the disposition of all of the Company’s industrial flex/office 

warehouse properties prior to the sale date and constituted a major strategic shift and, as a result, these 

properties have been reclassified as discontinued operations for all periods presented in the financial statements 

filed herewith. 

 

Mining Royalty Lands Segment – Mining Properties. The following table sets forth a summary of the 

mining royalty lands owned by the Company or its subsidiaries in fee simple and estimated reserves at 

December 31, 2020. These properties are subject to mining leases with various tenants, including Vulcan 

Materials, Martin Marietta, Cemex, Argos, and The Concrete Company. 
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Tons Sold in Year 

Ended 12/31/2020 

(000’s)   

Tons of Estimated 

Reserves at 12/31/2020 

(000’s) 

        

The Company owns nine properties currently being               

mined in Grandin, Fort Myers, Keuka, Newberry,               

and Astatula, Florida; Columbus, Macon, and                

Tyrone, Georgia; and Manassas, Virginia               

comprising approximately 12,657 acres.     8,206       428,292 

                

The Company owns four properties that are leased               

for mining but are not currently being mined in               

Marion County and Lake Louisa and Lake Sand in 

Lake County, Florida and Forest Park Georgia               

comprising approximately 2,452 acres.     0       73,369 

 

In May 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to our lease with Vulcan for our Fort Myers location 

requiring that the mining be accelerated and that the mining plan be conformed to accommodate the future 

construction of up to 105 residential dwelling units around the mined lakes. In return, the Company granted 

Lee County an option to purchase a right of way for a connector road that would benefit the residential area on 

our property and to place a conservation easement on part of the property, which the County exercised in 2020. 

 Mining activity commenced in 2017 following Lee County’s issuance of a mine operating permit allowing 

Vulcan to begin production.  

 

In November 2017, Lake County commissioners voted to approve a permit to Cemex to mine the Company’s 

land in Lake Louisa, Florida.  The county issued the permit in July 2019.  After completing the work necessary 

to prepare this site to become an active sand mine, Cemex expects to begin mining by the end of 2021. 

  

Mining Royalty Lands Segment - Brooksville Joint Venture.  In 2006, a subsidiary of the Company entered 

into a joint venture agreement with Vulcan Materials Company to jointly own and develop approximately 

4,280 acres of land near Brooksville, Florida as a mixed-use community. In April 2011, the Florida 

Department of Community Affairs issued its final order approving the development of the project consisting of 

5,800 residential dwelling units and over 600,000 square feet of commercial and 850,000 of light industrial 

uses.  Zoning for the project was approved by the County in August 2012.  Vulcan Materials still mines on the 

property and the Company receives 100% of the royalty on all tons sold at the Brooksville property.  In 2020, 

285,000 tons were sold, and estimated reserves were 4,326,000 as of December 31, 2020.  During 2017, the 

Company extended the mining lease on this property for an additional ten years (through 2032) in exchange for 

an increase in production of 100,000 tons by December 31, 2023. 

  

Mining Royalty Lands Segment - Other Properties.  The segment also owns an additional 160 acres of 

investment property in Brooksville, Florida. 

 

Development Segment – Warehouse/Office Land.  

 

At December 31, 2020 this segment owned the following future development parcels: 

  

1) 25 acres of horizontally developed land capable of supporting 226,750 square feet of warehouse, 

office, and flex buildings at Hollander 95 Business Park in Baltimore City, Maryland. 

2) 55 acres of land that will be capable of supporting over 625,000 square feet of industrial product 

located at 1001 Old Philadelphia Road in Aberdeen, Maryland. 

 

Development Segment – Land Held for Investment or Sale.  

 

At December 31, 2020, this segment owned the following development parcels: 
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1) RiverFront on the Anacostia: The RiverFront on the Anacostia property is a 5.8-acre parcel of real 

estate in Washington, D.C. that fronts the Anacostia River and is adjacent to the Washington Nationals 

Baseball Park.  A revised Planned Unit Development (PUD) plan was approved in 2012 and permits 

the Company to develop, in four phases, a four-building, mixed-use project, containing approximately 

1,161,050 square feet. The approved development includes numerous publicly accessible open spaces 

and a waterfront esplanade along the Anacostia River.  The first phase (now known as Dock 79), 

which was completed through a joint venture with MRP Realty and which consisted of a single 

building with residential and retail uses,  became our fourth business segment in July 2017, now 

known as the Stabilized Joint Venture Segment. Construction began on the second phase (now known 

as the Maren) in April 2018. This project, like Dock 79, consists of a single building with residential 

and retail uses, and it received its certificate of occupancy in September 2020. The final two phases, 

Phase 3 and Phase 4 remain under a first-stage PUD approval expiring April 5, 2023, permitting 

599,545 square feet of development. 

 

2) Hampstead Trade Center: The Hampstead Trade Center property in Hampstead, Carroll County, 

Maryland is a 118-acre parcel located adjacent to the State Route 30 bypass.  The parcel was 

previously zoned for industrial use, but our request for rezoning for residential use was approved in 

December 2018.    Management believes this to be a higher and better use of the property.  We are 

fully engaged in the formal process of seeking PUD entitlements for this tract, which is now known as 

“Hampstead Overlook”. 

 

3) Bryant Street: On December 24, 2018 the Company and MRP Realty formed four partnerships to 

purchase and develop approximately five acres of land at 500 Rhode Island Ave NE, Washington, 

D.C.  This property is the first phase of the Bryant Street Master Plan.  The property is located in an 

Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new communities development program as 

established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. This first phase is a mixed-use 

development which supports 487 residential units and 85,681 square feet of first floor and stand-alone 

retail on approximately five acres of the roughly 12-acre site.  
 

4) 1800 Half Street:  On December 20, 2019 the Company and MRP formed a joint venture to acquire 

and develop a mixed-use project located at 1800 Half Street, Washington, D.C. This property is 

located in the Buzzard Point area of Washington, DC, less than half a mile downriver from Dock 79 

and the Maren.  It lies directly between our two acres on the Anacostia currently under lease by 

Vulcan and Audi Field, the home stadium of the DC United.  The project is located in an Opportunity 

Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established by 

Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. 

 

5) Square 664E: The Company’s Square 664E property is approximately two acres situated on the 

Anacostia River at the base of South Capitol Street less than half a mile down river from our 

RiverFront on the Anacostia property. This property is currently under lease to Vulcan Materials for 

use as a concrete batch plant. The initial term of the lease terminates on August 31, 2021, and Vulcan 

has exercised its option to renew for one additional period of five years.  In March 2017, 

reconstruction of the bulkhead was completed at a cost of $4.2 million in anticipation of future high-

rise development. 
 

6) .408 Jackson: In December 2019, the Company entered into a joint venture with a new partner, 

Woodfield Development, for the acquisition and development of a mixed-use project known as “.408 

Jackson” in Greenville, South Carolina. Woodfield specializes in Class-A multi-family, mixed use 

developments primarily in the Carolinas and DC. The project is located across the street from 

Greenville’s minor league baseball stadium and will hold 227 multi-family units and 4,700 square feet 

of retail space.  It is located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new 

communities’ development program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. 
 

7) Riverside: In December 2019, the Company entered into a joint venture with Woodfield Development 

for the acquisition and development of a 200-unit multi-family apartment project located at 1430 
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Hampton Avenue, Greenville, South Carolina. The project is located in an Opportunity Zone, which 

provides tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established by Congress in the 

Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. 
 

8) Windlass Run: In March 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with St. Johns Properties Inc., 

a Baltimore development company, to jointly develop the remaining lands of our Windlass Run 

Business Park, located in Middle River, Maryland, into a multi-building business park consisting of 

approximately 329,000 square feet of single-story office space.  The project will take place in several 

phases, with construction of the first phase, which includes two office buildings and two retail 

buildings totaling 100,030-square-feet (inclusive of 27,950 retail), commenced in the fourth quarter of 

2017 and was completed in January 2019.  At December 31, 2020 Phase I was 46.7% leased and 

44.3% occupied, the subsequent phases will follow as each phase is stabilized.   

 

Stabilized Joint Venture Segment. 

 

We renamed this segment from RiverFront on the Anacostia to the Stabilized Joint Venture Segment as we 

intend to transfer additional joint ventures from our Development Segment into this segment as they reach 

stabilization. 

 

At December 31, 2020, this segment owned the following stabilized joint ventures: 

 

1) Dock 79: Dock 79 (Phase I of the Riverfront on the Anacostia development) is a 305-unit residential 

apartment building with approximately 18,000 square feet of first floor retail space. The property is 

situated on approximately 2.1 acres of land located on Potomac Avenue in Washington, DC, across 

the street from the Nationals Park. 

 

2) DST Hickory Creek: In July 2019, the Company completed a like-kind exchange by reinvesting 

$6,000,000 into a Delaware Statutory Trust (DST) known as CS1031 Hickory Creek DST.  The DST 

owns a 294-unit garden-style apartment community located in Henrico County, Virginia known as 

Hickory Creek, which consists of 19 three-story apartment buildings containing 273,940 rentable 

square feet.  Hickory Creek was constructed in 1984 and substantially renovated in 2016.  The 

Company is 26.649% beneficial owner and receives monthly distributions. 

 

Item 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. 

 

Through its joint venture with MRP Realty, the Company is redeveloping the property located at 680 Rhode 

Island Avenue N.E. in Washington, D.C. In connection with the redevelopment, the Company discovered and 

removed three underground storage tanks. Post-excavation sampling of the sidewall and soil was conducted to 

investigate the potential extent of contamination. The sidewall sampling detected the presence of some 

petroleum-related contaminants, only two of which (ethylbenzene and naphthalene) were detected at 

concentrations that exceeded applicable regulatory limits in a limited area of the sidewall. 

 

On March 20, 2020, the Department of Energy and the Environment (“DOEE”) issued a Comprehensive Site 

Assessment Directive Letter dated March 20, 2020 (the “Directive”). The Directive indicated that DOEE’s 

Underground Storage Tank Branch had opened a Leaking Underground Storage Tank case relating to the 

former tanks, and directed preparation of a Work Plan and CSA report “to delineate the extent of both 

groundwater and soil contamination.” Notably, the Directive indicated that whether a Corrective Action Plan  

would be needed would be determined following DOEE’s review of the CSA report. 

 

Based on work conducted by the joint venture’s environmental consultant, the Company believes that any 

offsite contamination is unrelated to the tanks removed from the joint venture’s property. The Company does 

not believe that this case will have a material adverse impact on the Company. 

 

Additionally, Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements included in the accompanying 2020 Annual 

Report to Shareholders is incorporated herein by reference.  
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Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES. 

 

None. 

 

 

 

 

 

PART II 

 

 

Item 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER 

MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES. 

 

There were approximately 339 holders of record of FRP Holdings, Inc. common stock, $.10 par value, as of 

December 31, 2020.  The Company's common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market (Symbol FRPH).  

 

Price Range of Common Stock. Information concerning stock prices is included under the caption "Quarterly 

Results" on page 9 of the Company's 2020 Annual Report to Shareholders, and such information is 

incorporated herein by reference.   

 

Dividends. The Company has not paid a cash dividend in the past and it is the present policy of the Board of 

Directors not to pay cash dividends.  Information concerning restrictions on the payment of cash dividends is 

included in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements included in the accompanying 2020 Annual Report 

to Shareholders, and such information is incorporated herein by reference.   

 

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans. Information regarding securities 

authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans is included in Item 12 of Part III of this Annual 

Report on Form 10-K, and such information is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers 

 
            (c)     

            Total     

            Number of     

            Shares   (d) 

            Purchased   Approximate 

    (a)       As Part of   Dollar Value of 

    Total   (b)   Publicly   Shares that May 

    Number of   Average   Announced   Yet Be Purchased 

    Shares   Price Paid   Plans or   Under the Plans 

Period   Purchased   per Share   Programs   or Programs (1) 

  October 1                                   

  Through                                   

  October 31       63,253     $ 42.21       63,253     $ 12,583,000   

                                      

  November 1                                   

  Through                                   

  November 30       47,414     $ 43.99       47,414     $ 10,497,000   

                                      

  December 1                                   

  Through                                   

  December 31       19,669     $ 44.23       19,669     $ 9,627,000   

                                      

  Total       130,336     $ 43.16       130,336           

 



 
 

17 

(1) On February 4, 2015, the Board of Directors authorized management to expend up to $5,000,000 to 

repurchase shares of the Company’s common stock from time to time as opportunities arise.  On December 

5, 2018, the Board of Directors approved a $10,000,000 increase in the Company’s stock repurchase 

authorization.  On August 5, 2019, the Board of Directors approved a $10,000,000 increase in the 

Company’s stock repurchase authorization.  On May 6, 2020, the Board of Directors approved a 

$10,000,000 increase in the Company’s stock repurchase authorization. On August 26, 2020, the Board of 

Directors approved a $10,000,000 increase in the Company’s stock repurchase authorization. 

 

 

Item 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA. 

 

Information required in response to this Item 6 is included under the caption "Five Year Summary" on page 9 

of the Company's 2020 Annual Report to Shareholders and such information is incorporated herein by 

reference. 

 

 

Item 7.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 

RESULTS OF OPERATION. 

 

Information required in response to Item 7 is included under the caption "Management’s Discussion and 

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation" on pages 10 through 21 of the Company’s 2020 

Annual Report to Shareholders, and such information is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

 

Item 7.A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. 

 

Interest Rate Risk - We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes through our variable-rate 

borrowings under our Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo.  

 

Under the Wells Fargo Credit Agreement, the applicable margin for borrowings at December 31, 2020 was 

Daily 1 Month LIBOR plus 1.0%.  The applicable margin for such borrowings will be increased in the event 

that our debt to capitalization ratio as calculated under the Wells Fargo Credit Agreement Facility exceeds a 

target level.  

 

The Company did not have any variable rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2020, so a sensitivity analysis 

was not performed to determine the impact of hypothetical changes in interest rates on the Company’s results 

of operations and cash flows. 

 

For our debt instruments with variable interest rates, changes in interest rates affect the amount of interest 

expense incurred.  The following table provides information about the Company’s long-term debt and variable 

rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands): 

 
                      There       Fair 

Liabilities: 2021   2022   2023   2024   2025   after   Total   Value 

                                                                

Scheduled                                                               

maturities of                                                               

long-term debt:                                                               

                                                                

Fixed Rate $      127     $ 1,556       $ 1,622     $ 1,690     $ 1,761     $ 83,244     $ 90,000     $ 89,964   

Average interest rate   

4.125

%       

4.125

%       

4.125

%       

4.125

%       

4.125

%       

4.125

%                   
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Item 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. 

 

Information required in response to this Item 8 is included under the caption "Quarterly Results" on page 9 and 

on pages 22 through 41 of the Company's 2020 Annual Report to Shareholders.  Such information is 

incorporated herein by reference. 

 

 

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE. 

 

None. 

 

 

 

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. 

 

CONCLUSION REGARDING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND 

PROCEDURES 

 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer, 

principal financial officer and chief accounting officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls 

and procedures, as such terms is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act.  Based 

on this evaluation, our principal executive officer, our principal financial officer and our chief accounting 

officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered 

by this Annual Report. 

 

 

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 

reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).  Under the supervision and with the 

participation of our management, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and 

principal accounting officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over 

financial reporting based on the framework in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).  Based on our evaluation 

under the framework in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013), our management concluded that 

our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020. 

 

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our Independent Registered Certified Public 

Accounting Firm, Hancock Askew & Co., LLP, regarding internal control over financial reporting. 

Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting 

Firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only 

management’s report in this Annual Report. 

 

 

CHANGE IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 

During the fourth quarter of 2020, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that 

have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 

reporting. 

 

 

INHERENT LIMITATIONS OVER INTERNAL CONTROLS 
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Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes 

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  Our internal control over financial reporting 

includes those policies and procedures that: 

 

i. pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 

the transactions and dispositions of our assets; 

 

ii. provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 

of consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with 

authorizations of our management and directors; and 

 

iii. provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 

acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Internal control over financial reporting cannot provide absolute assurance of achieving financial reporting 

objectives because of its inherent limitations, including the possibility of human error and circumvention by 

collusion or overriding of controls. Accordingly, even an effective internal control system may not prevent or 

detect material misstatements on a timely basis.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the 

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

 

 

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION. 

 

None. 

 

 

 

 

 

PART III 

 

Item 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE. 

 

The Company has adopted a Financial Code of Ethical Conduct applicable to its principal executive officers, 

principal financial officers and principal accounting officers.  A copy of this Financial Code of Ethical Conduct 

is filed as Exhibit 14 to this Form 10-K.  The Financial Code of Ethical Conduct is also available on our web 

site at www.frpdev.com/investor-relations/corporate-governance/. 

 

The rest of the information required in response to this Item 10 is included under the captions “Board of 

Directors & Corporate Governance”, “Our Executive Officers”, “Securities Ownership” in the Company's 

Proxy Statement, and such information is incorporated herein by reference.  The Proxy Statement will be filed 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than March 31, 2021. 

 

 

Item 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION. 

 

Information required in response to this Item 11 is included under the caption “Executive Compensation” in 

the Company's Proxy Statement, and such information is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy 

Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than March 31, 2021. 
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Item 12.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND      

MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS. 

 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

 
                  
              Number of Securities   
              remaining available   
    Number of Securities         for future issuance   
    to be issued upon      Weighted average   under equity   
    exercise of     exercise price of   compensation plans   
    outstanding options,     outstanding options,   (excluding securities   
    warrants and rights     warrants and rights   reflected in column (a))    
Plan Category   (a)     (b)   (c)   

                  
Equity compensation plans                 
 approved by security holders   124,661 (1) $ 35.33 (2) 439,248 (1) 
                  
Equity compensation plans                 
 not approved by security holders   0     0   0   

                  
Total   124,661   $ 35.33   439,248   

 
1. Column (a) includes 120,089 stock options granted under our 2016 Equity Incentive Plan and 2006 

Stock Incentive Plan and 4,572 performance share awards granted under our 2016 Equity Incentive 

Plan. Each performance share award shown in the table represents a right to receive, subject to the 

satisfaction of certain performance criteria and the recipient’s continued service to the Company, a 

number of shares of restricted stock, which number will be calculated after the applicable 

performance period by dividing the pre-determined value of each award by the closing price of our 

common stock on the date the restricted stock is issued. The aggregate value of the performance 

share awards shown in table is $237,500. For illustrative purposes, the maximum payout of the 

performance share awards has been assumed, and the number of performance share awards has 

been calculated using our closing stock price on March 8, 2021 ($51.95). The performance share 

awards are subject to partial or complete forfeiture if the vesting criteria are not met. Because some 

or all of the performance share awards may not vest, and because the number of shares of restricted 

stock to be issued thereunder is dependent on future stock prices, columns (a) and (c) may overstate 

or understate expected dilution. 
 

2. Because there is no exercise price associated with the performance share awards, the weighted-

average exercise price does not take the performance share awards into account. 
 

 

 

The remainder of the information required in response to this Item 12 is included under the captions 

“Securities Ownership” in the Company's Proxy Statement, and such information is incorporated herein by 

reference.  The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than 

March 31, 2021. 

 

 

Item 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 

INDEPENDENCE. 

 

Information required in response to this Item 13 is included under the captions “Related Party Transactions” 

and “Board of Directors & Corporate Governance” in the Company's Proxy Statement, and such information is 

incorporated herein by reference.  The Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission not later than March 31, 2021. 
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Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES. 

 

Information required in response to this Item 14 is included under the captions “Proposal 2: The Auditor 

Proposal” in the Company’s Proxy Statement, and such information is incorporated herein by reference.  The 

Proxy Statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not later than March 31, 2021. 

 

 

PART IV 

 

Item 15.  EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE. 

 

(a) (1) and (2) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule. 

 

The response to this item is submitted as a separate section.  See Index to Financial Statements 

and Financial Statement Schedule on page 24 of this Form 10-K. 

 

(3) Exhibits. 

 

The response to this item is submitted as a separate section.  See Exhibit Index on pages 24 

through 25 of this Form 10-K. 
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SIGNATURES 

 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has 

duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

 

      FRP Holdings, Inc. 

          

          

 

Date:  March 19, 2021   By JOHN D. BAKER II   

      John D. Baker II   

      Chief Executive Officer 

      (Principal Executive Officer) 

          

          

    By JOHN D. BAKER, III   

      John D. Baker, III.   

      Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 

      (Principal Financial Officer) 

          

          

    By JOHN D. KLOPFENSTEIN   

      John D. Klopfenstein   

      Controller and Chief Accounting 

      Officer (Principal Accounting Officer) 
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 19, 2021. 

 

 

 

/s/ John D. Baker II 

John D. Baker II 

Executive Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ Charles E. Commander III 

Charles E. Commander III 

Director 

(Principal Executive Officer)  

  

/s/ John D. Baker, III 

John D. Baker, III 

Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer) 

/s/ H. W. Shad III 

H. W. Shad III 

Director 

  

/s/ John D. Klopfenstein 

John D. Klopfenstein 

Controller and Chief Accounting Officer 

(Principal Accounting Officer) 

/s/ Martin E. Stein, Jr. 

Martin E. Stein, Jr. 

Director 

  

/s/ William H. Walton 

William H. Walton 

Director 

/s/Margaret Wetherbee 

Margaret Wetherbee 
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FRP HOLDINGS, INC. 

 INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE 

 (Item 15(a) (1) and 2))  

 

      Page 

Consolidated Financial Statements:         

  Consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2020 and 2019      25 (a)  

      

 

  

  For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018          

    Consolidated statements of income     23 (a) 

    Consolidated statements of comprehensive income     24 (a) 

    Consolidated statements of cash flows     26 (a) 

    Consolidated statements of shareholders' equity     27 (a) 

          

  Notes to consolidated financial statements     28-40 (a) 

          

  Reports of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm     42-43 (a) 

          

  Selected quarterly financial data (unaudited)     6-10 (a) 

          

Consent of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm     25 (b) 

          

Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm         

  on Financial Statement Schedule     25 (b) 

          

Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule:         

          

III – Real estate and accumulated depreciation and depletion     26-27 (b) 

          

(a)         Refers to the page number in the Company's 2020 Annual Report to Shareholders.  Such information is 

incorporated by reference in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. 

          

(b)         Refers to the page number in this Form 10-K   

          

All other schedules have been omitted, as they are not required under the related instructions, are inapplicable, 

or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Exhibit 23 

 

 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM    

 

FRP Holdings, Inc. 

Jacksonville, Florida 

 

 

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333- 

125099, 333-131475 and 333-216025) of FRP Holdings, Inc. of our reports dated March 19, 2021, relating 

to the consolidated financial statements which appear in the Annual Report to Shareholders incorporated by 

reference herein. We also consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated March 19, 2021 

relating to the financial statement schedule, which appears in this Form 10-K. 

 

Hancock Askew & Co., LLP 

 

 

Savannah, Georgia  

March 19, 2021 

 

 

  

 

 

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON 

FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE 

 

 

The Shareholders and Board of Directors 

FRP Holdings, Inc.: 

 

Our audit of the consolidated financial statements referred to in our report dated March 19, 2021 appearing 

in the 2020 Annual Report to Shareholders of FRP Holdings, Inc. (which report and consolidated financial 

statements are incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K) also included an audit of the 

financial statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)(2) of this Form 10-K. The financial statement schedule is 

the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

financial statement schedule based on our audit. In our opinion, the financial statement schedule presents 

fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Hancock Askew & Co., LLP 

 

 

Savannah, Georgia 

March 19, 2021 
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FRP HOLDINGS, INC. 

SCHEDULE III (CONSOLIDATED)-REAL ESTATE & ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 

DEPLETION (dollars in thousands) 

DECEMBER 31, 2020 

 

County 
Encumb- 

rances 

  

Initial cost 

to 

Company 

  

Cost  

capitalized 

subsequent 

to 

acquisition   

Gross amount 

at which 

carried at 

end of period 

(a)   

Accumulated 

Depreciation 

& Depletion 

  

Year 

Of 

Constr- 

uction 
  

Date 

Acquired 

  

Depreciation 

Life 

Computed 

on: 

Mining Royalty Lands                                                 

 Alachua, FL         $ 1,442     $ 0     $ 1,442     $ 179         n/a     4/86     unit 

Clayton, GA           369       0       369       5         n/a     4/86     unit 

Fayette, GA           685       200       885       126         n/a     4/86     unit 

Lake, FL           403       0       403       158         n/a     4/86     unit 

Lake, FL           1,083       0       1,083       1,010         n/a     4/86     unit 

Lake Louisa, FL         11,039       0       11,039       0         n/a     5/12     unit 

Lee, FL           4,489       13       4,502       270         n/a     4/86     unit 

Monroe, GA           792       0       792       300         n/a     4/86     unit 

Muscogee, GA         369       (45 )     324       324         n/a     4/86     unit 

Prince William, VA         298       0       298       298         n/a     4/86     unit 

Putnam, FL           15,002       37       15,039       4,837         n/a     4/86     unit 

Putnam, FL           123       (2 )     121       104         n/a     4/86     5 yr. 

Spalding, GA           20       0       20       0         n/a     4/86     n/a 

Marion, FL           1,180       5       1,185       600         n/a     4/86     unit 

Investment Property           16       0       16       0         n/a     4/86     n/a 

    0       37,310       208 

 

    37,518       8,211                   

 Asset Management Properties                                                 

 Duval, FL         198       0       198       39         n/a     4/86     25 yr. 

Baltimore Co, MD     439    5,165    5,604    3,269    1990   10/89   39 yr. 

Harford, MD       40       8,627       8,667       501       2019     2/19     32 yr. 

    0       677       13,792       14,469       3,809                   

 Development Properties                                     

 Carroll, MD          4,720       4,421       9,141       0         n/a     3/08     n/a 

Baltimore City, MD     750    7,317    8,067    241    2018   12/10   39 yr. 

Harford, MD     11,250    4    11,254    0    n/a   11/20   n/a 

Washington D.C.          2,957       5,046       8,003 

 

    1,916         n/a     4/86     15 yr. 

Washington D.C.          3,811       4,669       8,480       636         n/a     10/97     n/a 

    0       23,488       21,457       44,945       2,793                   

 Residential Rental Properties                                     

 Washington D.C.   89,964       6,165       142,981       149,146       19,435       2016     07/17     39 yr. 

                                                        

 GRAND TOTALS $ 89,964     $ 67,640     $ 178,438     $ 246,078     $ 34,248                   

  

 (a)  The aggregate cost for Federal income tax purposes is $87,596. 
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FRP HOLDINGS, INC. 

SCHEDULE III (CONSOLIDATED) - REAL ESTATE AND 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND DEPLETION 

 (In thousands) 

 

    Years ended December 31, 

    2020   2019   2018 

              
Gross Carrying Cost of Real Estate:                         
                          
Balance at beginning of period   $ 240,128       241,413       243,165   

                          
Additions during period:                         
  Amounts capitalized     17,227       10,353       7,025   

                          
Deductions during period:                         
  Cost of real estate sold     (11,060 )     (11,630 )     (8 ) 

  Other     (217 )     (8 )     (8,769 ) 

                          
Balance at close of period   $ 246,078       240,128       241,413   

                          
Accumulated Depreciation & Depletion:                         
                          
Balance at beginning of period   $ 29,788       27,921       26,228   

                          
Additions during period:                         
  Charged to cost & expense     5,689       5,697       5,609   

                          
Deductions during period:                         
  Real estate sold     (1,112 )     (3,822 )     —     

  Other     (117 )     (8 )     (3,916 ) 

                          
Balance at close of period   $ 34,248       29,788       27,921   
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Annual Report 2020 

 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

Years ended December 31 

 (Amounts in thousands except per share amounts) 

      

 

  % 

    2020   2019   Change 

              

Revenues   $ 23,583       23,756       (0.7 )  

Operating profit   $ 5,134       5,756       (10.8 ) 

Net investment income  $ 7,415    8,375    (11.5 ) 

Interest Expense  $ (1,100 )   (1,054 )   4.4  

Equity in loss of joint ventures  $ (5,690 )   (1,954 )   191.2  

Gain on sale of real estate  $ 9,170    661    1287.3  

Income from continuing operations   $ 11,722       8,822       32.9   

Income from discontinued operations, net  $ —      6,856    (100.0 ) 

Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest   $ (993 )      (499 )      99.0   

Net income attributable to the Company   $ 12,715       16,177       (21.4 )  

                          

Per common share:                         

  Income from continuing operations:                         
    Basic   $ 1.22       0.89       37.1   

    Diluted   $ 1.22       0.89       37.1   

  Income from discontinued operations, net:                         
    Basic   $ —         0.69       (100.0 )  

    Diluted   $ —         0.69       (100.0 )  

  Net income attributable to the Company:                         
    Basic   $ 1.33       1.64       (18.9 )  

    Diluted   $ 1.32       1.63       (19.0 )  

                          

Total Assets   $ 536,360       538,148       (.3 )  

Total Debt   $ 89,964       88,925       1.2   

Shareholders' Equity   $ 367,654       374,888       (1.9 )  

Common Shares Outstanding     9,364       9,817       (4.6 )  

Book Value Per Common Share   $ 39.26       38.19       2.8   

 

 

BUSINESS.  FRP Holdings, Inc. is a holding company engaged in the real estate business, namely (i) leasing and 

management of commercial properties owned by the Company, (ii) leasing and management of mining royalty land 

owned by the Company, (iii) real property acquisition, entitlement, development and construction primarily for 

apartment, retail, warehouse, and office, (iv) leasing and management of a residential apartment building.  The 

Company disposed of all but one of its warehouse properties in May 2018.  The Company’s operating subsidiaries are 

FRP Development Corp. and Florida Rock Properties, Inc. 

 

STRATEGY.  Our strategy will consist of a re-deployment of proceeds from the May 2018 warehouse sale into asset 

classes that allow management to exploit its knowledge and expertise.  The asset classes of choice are mixed-use, raw 

land, existing buildings, and strategic partnerships located in core markets with growth potential.  Emphasis will be 

placed on generating returns through opportunistic disposition versus cash-flow and long-term appreciation. 

 

OBJECTIVE.  We strive to improve shareholder value through (1) active engagement with properties and partners to 

grow asset value, (2) contributing our operating expertise and connections to maximize value and NOI growth, and (3) 

manage our capital structure in an efficient and responsible manner, with a watchful eye on projected future market 

conditions and trends to facilitate timely disposition of selected assets, (4) balancing growth against market pressure. 
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To Our Shareholders, 

 

It would seem that the one thing we can all agree on is that we are happy to put 2020 behind us.  Last year presented all of 

us with a series of challenges that few among us could have anticipated.  The world and our nation have experienced 

traumas that would have seemed unimaginable a year ago, and chief among the many things that made for such a dismal 

year was the COVID-19 pandemic.  It has changed the way we work, the way we meet, the way we interact with each other 

and the way we interact with the world.  Our offices, routines, travel habits, entertainment, and even the way we greet each 

other have been altered dramatically and perhaps permanently.  

  

This Company was very fortunate that its assets responded in the way that they did to the pandemic.  Part of that is simply 

good luck.  There are a number of businesses that were traditionally thought to be recession-proof—businesses that 

through no fault of their own took a massive hit in a post-COVID world.  Hotels, restaurants, theaters, air travel—

industries that were once integral to the way we went about our lives were suddenly anathema to consumers, almost 

overnight.  That is simply terrible luck, a misfortunate consequence of unforeseeable events.  And yet luck—good luck—is 

often something else entirely.  Branch Rickey was perhaps the most influential and innovative figure in the history of 

baseball.  He invented spring training, the farm system, and as general manager of the Brooklyn Dodgers, he changed the 

sport and American history by integrating baseball with Jackie Robinson.  “Luck” according to Rickey, “is the residue of 

design.”  I would stipulate that much of our resilience to this exogenous event is that variety of luck.   

 

We were fortunate that the mining royalties business was not only immune to the pandemic, but in fact thrived.  Despite 

losing the double minimums at Lake Louisa, revenues this year were slightly ahead of last year making it our highest ever 

revenue total for that segment.  Part of the reason for this is that the pandemic accelerated a trend we had already been 

seeing—namely that people want to move to warmer places with lower taxes, fewer regulations, and more living space.  So 

while we were lucky, we were lucky because we had good assets in a desirable location—factors in place that gave us 

confidence in these assets and this business segment prior to the pandemic.   

 

The same could be said for the Maren, the second phase of our development on the Anacostia River, which was fully 

completed in September.   Under the best of circumstances, we expected the lease-up to take approximately a year and a 

half.  Yet during a pandemic, without baseball, and while the building was still under construction, the Maren lease-up 

went much faster than we originally expected when times were good—in some months at double and nearly triple the rate 

we had anticipated. In less than a year, the residential portion of the building is 87.02% leased, 82.44% occupied and 

closing in on stabilization.  We count ourselves fortunate that the lease up went faster than anticipated during a pandemic, 

but we were “lucky” because we put a great asset in an excellent location—namely the entire reason we had invested in 

this project in the first place.    

 

Industrial real estate has remained strong as an asset class during the pandemic, as evidenced by the sale of our remaining 

lots at Lakeside Business Park for $3.75 million in April and our newest building at Hollander for $12.3 million in July.  

We had no issues with our tenants paying rent and do not expect to.  The response by this business segment to the 

pandemic has only served to strengthen our confidence in the plan to continue to develop industrial real estate and sell the 

buildings once they are stabilized.  In keeping with that plan, we are in the process of developing two industrial buildings 

at Hollander Business Park totaling 145,750 square feet.  We have received all permit entitlements, have started 

construction, and anticipate shell completion in the third quarter of 2021.  We also used the proceeds from the sale of 1801 

62
nd

 Street to purchase 55 acres of land in Aberdeen, Maryland adjacent to our Cranberry Run Business Park for $10.5 

million.  Once entitled, this property will be capable of supporting over 625,000 square feet of industrial product and will 

be essential for future industrial development as we finish developing our remaining inventory at Hollander Business Park.  

          

This past year was not all roses for every business segment we had.  Prior to the pandemic, Dock 79 was our most prized 

asset, and of all our assets, it was most affected.  The emergency protocols enacted by the District have frozen rent 

increases on lease renewals, the effects of which will extend at least through the first quarter of 2021.  Our three retail 

tenants were greatly affected by the pandemic.  Once they were allowed to reopen, there was no baseball attendance to 

drive traffic to these businesses, a factor which had been integral to their pre-COVID success.  Winter weather has also 

mitigated the appeal and availability of outdoor seating which had at least helped to offset the effects of the restrictions and 

limits placed upon our retail tenants by COVID-related measures.   Remarkably, even with the pandemic and major 

construction going on next door and without the benefit of baseball, average occupancy for 2020 was in line with last year 

(93.13% vs 95.46%) as was our renewal rate (57.14% vs 60.68%) and we ended the year with a higher occupancy rate 
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(95.73%) than we did in 2019 (93.44%).   We remain confident in the long-term future of this asset, and if this is the 

basement, it is an extremely high basement. 

 

Overall, a look at our development pipeline gives one a similar sense of optimism—which is to say cautious optimism with 

sprinkling of short-term anxiety.  Bryant Street is a good example of that.  Bryant Street is a joint venture with MRP for the 

first phase of a multi-family mixed use project in northeast Washington, DC.  Our equity investment in this project in the 

form of $32 million in common equity and another $23 million in preferred equity, and its four buildings and 487 units 

represent a substantial bet on and greatly increase our exposure to multi-family in the DC market.  We finished 

construction on the first building in December and expect to deliver the other three buildings in the fourth quarter of 2021. 

 Bryant Street’s primary amenities, a movie theater and ready access to the Metro, which made it so attractive in the recent 

past have taken on a very different look in the cold light of a post-COVID world.  Despite these headwinds, we believe this 

is still a good project.  This project will not be complete until Summer of 2021, and as the vaccine and herd immunity take 

effect, Bryant Street will hopefully come on line at just the right time.  It is also important to remember that this project is 

in an opportunity zone and it is our intent to retain the property for the ten-year hold period that allows us to achieve all the 

tax benefits afforded by this program.  This lengthy time horizon for investment and the fact that DC remains a growing 

and robust market is what we use to keep the sleepless nights of worry at bay.  There will no doubt be any number of short-

term crises in the next decade that will be cause for concern, but the long-term fundamentals that led to our investment 

remain in place. 

  

At the end of 2019, we invested in three other opportunity zone projects.  The first is a joint venture with MRP Realty for 

the development of a mixed-use project known as “1800 Half Street.”  The development is located in the Buzzard Point 

area of Washington, DC, less than half a mile downriver from Dock 79 and the Maren.  It lies directly between our two 

acres on the Anacostia, currently under lease by Vulcan, and Audi Field, the home stadium of the DC United. The 10-story 

structure will have 344 apartments and 11,246 square feet of ground floor retail.  FRP contributed $37.3 million in 

common equity.  The project is a qualified opportunity zone investment and will defer just over $10 million in taxes 

associated with the sale of our industrial assets.  In June 2020, we closed on a $74 million construction loan.  We began 

construction at the end of August 2020 and expect the building to be complete in the third quarter of 2022.  Buzzard Point 

is the next area of growth and development in the Anacostia submarket of DC, and akin to the symbiotic relationship 

between Dock 79 and The Maren, we believe this project will serve to benefit 664E, our two acres on the Anacostia River, 

and vice versa. 

 

The other two opportunity zone projects we invested in at the end of 2019 were two joint ventures in Greenville, South 

Carolina with a new partner, Woodfield Development.  Our first joint venture with them is a 200-unit multifamily project 

known as “Riverside.”  FRP contributed $6.2 million in common equity for a 40% ownership interest.  Construction began 

in February 2020 and should be complete in the third quarter of 2021.  The second joint venture in Greenville with 

Woodfield is a 227-unit multifamily development known as “.408 Jackson.”  It will have 4,700 square feet of retail and is 

located across the street from Greenville’s minor league baseball stadium.  FRP contributed $9.7 million in common equity 

for a 40% ownership interest.  Construction began in May 2020 and should be complete in the third quarter of 2022.  Both 

projects are qualified opportunity investments and will defer a combined $4.3 million in taxes.  Greenville is outside of our 

traditional development footprint, but we were extremely impressed with the growth potential of the market as well as the 

track record of our partner, and felt the opportunity was too good to pass up. 

      

2021 will be a major year of transition for this Company.  FRP entered 2020 with one building and 305 units and we will 

exit 2021 with seven buildings and 1,256 units, increasing our exposure to multifamily by a factor of four in less than 24 

months.  Two more projects and 671 units will follow in 2022.  FRP is on the verge of an incredible growth spurt and there 

will be growing pains associated with it.  As mentioned previously, Bryant Street may be a challenge initially.  We are very 

excited about our two developments in Greenville, but this is new territory for us with a new partner.  Half Street will be 

our first development in Buzzard Point, as well our first development in the Anacostia area that does not front the water.  

There will be a lot of construction in that area as well as a concrete plant across the street until 2026.  We mention all of 

this to say that there will probably be speedbumps, especially early on, associated with much of our development pipeline.  

But all of these projects are located in excellent markets with steady job growth and they are all in opportunity zones, 

meaning that we anticipate remaining invested for at least ten years.  The tax benefits we will realize as a result of that hold 

period, as well as the underlying fundamentals of each project lead us to believe that our patience and capital will be 

rewarded accordingly.   
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When last year’s letter reached you, we expressed, if not concern, then apprehension that given the revenue growth of our 

mining royalty business, the party could not go on forever.  Since 2015, this segment has achieved a compound annual 

growth rate in revenue of 8.13%, which is perhaps an unsustainably high clip.  Yet the shock we feared would finally 

precipitate a down cycle after a decade of growth, did not appear to impact this segment and may have actually spurred 

further growth.  Volumes for our mining royalties business grew by 160,000 tons in 2020, but volumes for the last seven 

months of 2020 actually grew by 499,000 tons—meaning all of our volume growth happened during the pandemic.  This 

phenomenon bears out in housing data.  Coming out of the initial shock of the pandemic, as of September 30, 2020, 

Florida and Georgia were significantly outpacing the national average for new housing permits issued.  As migration into 

the sunbelt continues, we stand particularly well positioned to benefit from it.  Aggregates prices are particularly “sticky” 

because of the high barriers to entry inherent to the industry from both a capital and regulatory perspective.  And if you 

look at pre-COVID numbers, of the top 15 states by aggregates volume in 2019, Florida, Georgia, and Virginia ranked 

fifth, third, and first in pricing per ton, respectively.  All three were still below 70% of their peak volumes.  Even if 

volumes do not reach the levels the industry and our markets experienced nearly a decade and a half ago, there is clearly 

still room for volume growth, and the ability to push prices remains unimpeded.  As a result, we have the utmost 

confidence in the long-term future of this segment and believe our reserves of more than half a billion tons in Virginia, 

Georgia and Florida put this Company in an extremely enviable position. 

   

Just as we are happy to put 2020 behind us, we are equally excited about what awaits us in 2021 and beyond.  Even with 

the immediate challenges we face, it is our belief that investing in real assets in excellent markets with good partners will 

continue to be a recipe for success.  We also have the luxury of substantial cash reserves to help us weather any short-term 

disruptions.  As we mentioned previously, we were very lucky this year.  But part of that luck is simply the way we operate 

this company—we invest conservatively and in assets that we truly believe in.  The asset that we believe most strongly in is 

the Company itself.  To that end, in 2020, we repurchased 510,145 shares at an average cost of $41.78 per share.  Thomas 

Jefferson once said that he was a big believer in luck, and the harder he worked, the luckier he got.  If that’s the case, then 

this Company—your Company—has every reason to expect a very lucky 2021.  

 

  

Respectfully yours, 

 

 

 

 

John D. Baker II 

C.E.O. and Executive Chairman 
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS   

 

Certain matters discussed in this report contain forward-looking statements, including without limitation relating to the 

Company's plans, strategies, objectives, expectations, intentions, capital expenditures, future liquidity, and plans and 

timetables for completion of pending development projects.  The words or phrases “anticipate,” “estimate,” ”believe,” 

“budget,” “continue,” “could,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “seek,” “should,” “will,” “would,” 

“expect,” “objective,” “projection,” “forecast,” “goal,” “guidance,” “outlook,” “effort,” “target” and similar expressions 

identify forward-looking statements.  The following factors and others discussed in the Company’s periodic reports and 

filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission are among the principal factors that could cause actual results to 

differ materially from the forward-looking statements: levels of construction activity in the markets served by our mining 

properties; risk insurance markets; availability and terms of financing; competition; interest rates, inflation and general 

economic conditions; demand for flexible commercial and residential properties in the Baltimore-Washington area; and 

ability to obtain zoning and entitlements necessary for property development.  However, this list is not a complete 

statement of all potential risks or uncertainties.  

 

These forward-looking statements are made as of the date hereof based on management’s current expectations, and the 

Company does not undertake an obligation to update such statements, whether as a result of new information, future events 

or otherwise.  Additional information regarding these and other risk factors may be found in the Company’s other filings 

made from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

 

OPERATING PROPERTIES  

 

The Company owns (predominately in fee simple but also through ownership of interests in joint ventures) approximately 

20,000 acres of land in Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Virginia, South Carolina, and the District of Columbia.  This land is 

generally held by the Company in four distinct segments: (i) Asset Management Segment (land owned and operated as 

income producing rental properties in the form of commercial properties), (ii) Mining Royalty Lands Segment (land owned 

and leased to mining companies for royalties or rents), (iii) Development Segment (land owned and held for investment to 

be further developed for future income production or sales to third parties), and (iv) Stabilized Joint Venture Segment 

(ownership, leasing and management of buildings through joint ventures).  

 

Asset Management Segment.  As of December 31, 2020, the Asset Management Segment owned three commercial 

properties in fee simple as follows:   

 

1) 34 Loveton Circle in suburban Baltimore County, Maryland consists of one office building totaling 33,708 square feet 

which is 95.1% occupied (16% of the space is occupied by the Company for use as our Baltimore headquarters).  The 

property is subject to commercial leases with various tenants. 

 

2) 155 E. 21
st
 Street in Duval County, Florida was an office building property that remains under lease through March 

2026.  We permitted the tenant to demolish all structures on the property during 2018. 

 

3) Cranberry Run Business Park in Hartford County, Maryland consists of five office buildings totaling 268,010 square 

feet which are 87.6% occupied. The property is subject to commercial leases with various tenants. 

 

On May 21, 2018, the Company completed the disposition of 40 industrial warehouse properties and three additional land 

parcels to an affiliate of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII, L.P. for $347.2 million.  The Company sold an additional 

warehouse property, which was excluded from the initial sale due to the tenant exercising its right of first refusal to 

purchase the property, to the same buyer for $11.7 million on June 28, 2019. The warehouse portfolio sale resulted in the 

disposition of all of the Company’s industrial flex/office warehouse properties prior to the sale date and constituted a major 

strategic shift and, as a result, these properties have been reclassified as discontinued operations for all periods presented in 

the financial statements filed herewith. 

 

Mining Royalty Lands Segment – Mining Properties. The following table sets forth a summary of the mining 

royalty lands owned by the Company or its subsidiaries in fee simple and estimated reserves at December 31, 2020. These 

properties are subject to mining leases with various tenants, including Vulcan Materials, Martin Marietta, Cemex, Argos, 

and The Concrete Company. 
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      Tons Sold in    

      Year Ended   Tons of Estimated Reserves at 

      12/31/2020   12/31/2020 

        (000’s) 

 

  

 

(000’s)   

The Company owns nine properties currently being                   

mined in Grandin, Fort Myers, Keuka, Newberry,                   

and Astatula, Florida; Columbus, Macon, and                    

Tyrone, Georgia; and Manassas, Virginia                   

comprising approximately 12,657 acres.       8,206       428,292   

                    

The Company owns four properties that are leased                   

for mining but are not currently being mined in                   

Marion County and Lake Louisa and Lake Sand in Lake 

County, Florida and Forest Park Georgia                   

comprising approximately 2,452 acres.       0       73,369   

 

In May 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to our lease with Vulcan for our Fort Myers location requiring that 

the mining be accelerated and that the mining plan be conformed to accommodate the future construction of up to 105 

residential dwelling units around the mined lakes. In return, the Company granted Lee County an option to purchase a right 

of way for a connector road that would benefit the residential area on our property and to place a conservation easement on 

part of the property, which the County exercised in 2020.  Mining activity commenced in 2017 following Lee County’s 

issuance of a mine operating permit allowing Vulcan to begin production.  

 

In November 2017, Lake County commissioners voted to approve a permit to Cemex to mine the Company’s land in Lake 

Louisa, Florida.  The county issued the permit in July 2019.  After completing the work necessary to prepare this site to 

become an active sand mine, Cemex expects to begin mining by the end of 2021. 

 

Mining Royalty Lands Segment - Brooksville Joint Venture. In 2006, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a joint 

venture agreement with Vulcan Materials Company to jointly own and develop approximately 4,280 acres of land near 

Brooksville, Florida as a mixed-use community. In April 2011, the Florida Department of Community Affairs issued its 

final order approving the development of the project consisting of 5,800 residential dwelling units and over 600,000 square 

feet of commercial and 850,000 of light industrial uses.  Zoning for the project was approved by the County in August 

2012.  Vulcan Materials still mines on the property and the Company receives 100% of the royalty on all tons sold at the 

Brooksville property.  In 2020, 285,000 tons were sold, and estimated reserves were 4,326,000 as of December 31, 2020.  

During 2017, the Company extended the mining lease on this property for an additional ten years (through 2032) in 

exchange for an increase in production of 100,000 tons by December 31, 2023. 

  

Mining Royalty Lands Segment - Other Properties. The segment also owns an additional 160 acres of investment 

property in Brooksville, Florida. 

 

Development Segment – Warehouse/Office Land.  

 

At December 31, 2020 this segment owned the following future development parcels: 

  

1) 25 acres of horizontally developed land capable of supporting 226,750 square feet of warehouse, office, and flex 

buildings at Hollander 95 Business Park in Baltimore City, Maryland. 

2) 55 acres of land that will be capable of supporting over 625,000 square feet of industrial product located at 1001 

Old Philadelphia Road in Aberdeen, Maryland. 

 

Development Segment – Land Held for Investment or Sale. 
 

At December 31, 2020, this segment owned the following development parcels: 
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1) RiverFront on the Anacostia: The RiverFront on the Anacostia property is a 5.8-acre parcel of real estate in 

Washington, D.C. that fronts the Anacostia River and is adjacent to the Washington Nationals Baseball Park.  A 

revised Planned Unit Development (PUD) plan was approved in 2012 and permits the Company to develop, in 

four phases, a four-building, mixed-use project, containing approximately 1,161,050 square feet. The approved 

development includes numerous publicly accessible open spaces and a waterfront esplanade along the Anacostia 

River.  The first phase (now known as Dock 79), which was completed through a joint venture with MRP Realty 

and which consisted of a single building with residential and retail uses,  became our fourth business segment in 

July 2017, now known as the Stabilized Joint Venture Segment. Construction began on the second phase (now 

known as the Maren) in April 2018. This project, like Dock 79, consists of a single building with residential and 

retail uses, and it received its certificate of occupancy in September 2020. The final two phases, Phase 3 and Phase 

4 remain under a first-stage PUD approval expiring April 5, 2023, permitting 599,545 square feet of development. 

 

2) Hampstead Trade Center: The Hampstead Trade Center property in Hampstead, Carroll County, Maryland is a 

118-acre parcel located adjacent to the State Route 30 bypass.  The parcel was previously zoned for industrial use, 

but our request for rezoning for residential use was approved in December 2018.    Management believes this to be 

a higher and better use of the property.  We are fully engaged in the formal process of seeking PUD entitlements 

for this tract, which is now known as “Hampstead Overlook”. 

 

3) Bryant Street: On December 24, 2018 the Company and MRP Realty formed four partnerships to purchase and 

develop approximately five acres of land at 500 Rhode Island Ave NE, Washington, D.C.  This property is the 

first phase of the Bryant Street Master Plan.  The property is located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax 

benefits in the new communities development program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 

2017. This first phase is a mixed-use development which supports 487 residential units and 85,681 square feet of 

first floor and stand-alone retail on approximately five acres of the roughly 12-acre site.  
 

4) 1800 Half Street:  On December 20, 2019 the Company and MRP formed a joint venture to acquire and develop a 

mixed-use project located at 1800 Half Street, Washington, D.C. This property is located in the Buzzard Point 

area of Washington, DC, less than half a mile downriver from Dock 79 and the Maren.  It lies directly between our 

two acres on the Anacostia currently under lease by Vulcan and Audi Field, the home stadium of the DC United.  

The project is located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new communities’ development 

program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. 

 

5) Square 664E: The Company’s Square 664E property is approximately two acres situated on the Anacostia River at 

the base of South Capitol Street less than half a mile down river from our RiverFront on the Anacostia property. 

This property is currently under lease to Vulcan Materials for use as a concrete batch plant. The initial term of the 

lease terminates on August 31, 2021, and Vulcan has exercised its option to renew for one additional period of 

five years.  In March 2017, reconstruction of the bulkhead was completed at a cost of $4.2 million in anticipation 

of future high-rise development. 
 

6) .408 Jackson: In December 2019, the Company entered into a joint venture with a new partner, Woodfield 

Development, for the acquisition and development of a mixed-use project known as “.408 Jackson” in Greenville, 

South Carolina. Woodfield specializes in Class-A multi-family, mixed use developments primarily in the 

Carolinas and DC. The project is located across the street from Greenville’s minor league baseball stadium and 

will hold 227 multi-family units and 4,700 square feet of retail space.  It is located in an Opportunity Zone, which 

provides tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts 

and Jobs Act of 2017. 
 

7) Riverside: In December 2019, the Company entered into a joint venture with Woodfield Development for the 

acquisition and development of a 200-unit multi-family apartment project located at 1430 Hampton Avenue, 

Greenville, South Carolina. The project is located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new 

communities’ development program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017. 
 

8) Windlass Run: In March 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with St. Johns Properties Inc., a Baltimore 

development company, to jointly develop the remaining lands of our Windlass Run Business Park, located in 

Middle River, Maryland, into a multi-building business park consisting of approximately 329,000 square feet of 

single-story office space.  The project will take place in several phases, with construction of the first phase, which 
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includes two office buildings and two retail buildings totaling 100,030-square-feet (inclusive of 27,950 retail), 

commenced in the fourth quarter of 2017 and was completed in January 2019.  At December 31, 2020 Phase I was 

46.7% leased and 44.3% occupied, the subsequent phases will follow as each phase is stabilized. 

 

Stabilized Joint Venture Segment. 

 

We have renamed this segment from RiverFront on the Anacostia to the Stabilized Joint Venture segment as we intend to 

transfer additional joint ventures from our Development segment into this segment as they reach stabilization. 

 

At December 31, 2020, this segment owned the following stabilized joint ventures: 

 

1) Dock 79: In 2014, approximately 2.1 acres (Phase I) of the total 5.8-acres was contributed to a joint venture 

owned by the Company (77%) and our partner, MRP Realty (23%), and construction commenced in October 2014 

on a 305-unit residential apartment building with approximately 18,000 square feet of first floor retail space. 

Lease up commenced in May 2016 and rent stabilization of the residential units of 90% occupied was achieved in 

the third quarter of 2017. The attainment of stabilization resulted in a change of control for accounting purposes as 

the veto rights of the minority shareholder lapsed and the Company became the primary beneficiary.  As such, 

beginning July 1, 2017, the Company consolidated the assets (at current fair value based on a third-party opinion), 

liabilities and operating results of the joint venture. This consolidation resulted in a gain on remeasurement of 

investment in real estate partnership of $60,196,000 of which $20,469,000 was attributed to the noncontrolling 

interest.  The Company used the fair value amount to calculate adjusted ownership under the Conversion election. 

As such for financial reporting purposes effective July 1, 2017 the Company ownership is based upon this 

substantive profit-sharing arrangement and is 66.0% on a prospective basis. 

 

2) DST Hickory Creek: In July 2019, the Company completed a like-kind exchange by reinvesting $6,000,000 into a 

Delaware Statutory Trust (DST) known as CS1031 Hickory Creek DST.  The DST owns a 294-unit garden-style 

apartment community located in Henrico County, Virginia known as Hickory Creek, which consists of 19 three-

story apartment buildings containing 273,940 rentable square feet.  Hickory Creek was constructed in 1984 and 

substantially renovated in 2016.  The Company is 26.649% beneficial owner and receives monthly distributions. 
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Real Estate Summary Schedule at December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands). 

 
      Encumb-       Gross       Net          Date       Revenue   

County     Rances       Book Cost       Book Value       Acquired       2020   

Mining Royalty Lands                                         

Alachua, FL           $ 1,442     $ 1,263       4/86     $ 1,062   

Clayton, GA             369       365       4/86       93   

Fayette, GA             885       758       4/86       731   

Lake, FL             403       245       4/86       154   

Lake, FL             1,083       73       4/86       297   

Lake Louisa, FL             11,039       11,039       5/12       1,024   

Lee, FL             4,502       4,232       4/86       920   

Monroe, GA             792       492       4/86       1,209   

Muscogee, GA             324       0       4/86       372   

Prince William, VA             298       0       4/86       1,363   

Putnam, FL             15,039       10,202       4/86       1,785   

Putnam, FL             121       17       4/86       0   

Spalding, GA             20       20       4/86       5   

Marion, FL             1,185       585       4/86       152   

Investment Property             16       16       4/86       0   

Brooksville Joint Venture             7,499       7,499       4/86       310   

      0       45,017       36,806               9,477   

Asset Management Properties                                 

    Baltimore, MD     

 

      6,541       2,796       10/89       553   

Duval, FL           198       159       4/86       730   

Harford, MD       8,667    8,166    2/19    1,040  

Baltimore City, MD       0    0        424  

      0       15,406       11,121               2,747   

Development Properties 

                Baltimore, MD       5,184    5,184    12/02    0  

Carroll, MD          9,141       9,141       3/08       0   

Baltimore City, MD 

  

  

  

8,067 

   

7,826 

   

12/10 

   

52 

 Harford, MD       11,254    11,254    11/20    0  

Washington D.C.          8,003       6,087       4/13       28   

Washington D.C. 

  

   

 

8,480 

   

7,844 

   

4/86 

   

1,072 

 Washington D.C.       60,159    60,159    12/18    0  

Washington D.C.       23,533    23,533    5/18    0  

Henrico Cty, VA       6,000    6,000    7/19    0  

Baltimore Cty, MD       591    591    2/19    0  

Prince George Cty, MD       10,026    10,026    7/19    0  

Washington D.C.       37,875    37,875    12/19    0  

Greenville, SC       9,911    9,911    12/19    0  

Greenville, SC       6,293    6,293    12/19    0  

      0       204,517       201,724               1,152   

  

                    Riverfront  

  

89,964 

   

149,146 

   

129,711 

   

07/17 

   

10,207 

   

                    Grand Totals 
(1)

   $ 89,964     $ 414,086 
  

  $ 379,362 
  

          $ 23,583   

 
(1) Includes investments in joint ventures of $167,071. 
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Five Year Summary 

(Amounts in thousands except per share amounts) 

                         
             Three months   

   Years ended  Ended  Year ended 

  December 31,  December 31,  September 30, 

    2020   2019   2018   2017   2016   2016 

Summary of Operations:                         

Revenues   $ 23,583       23,756       22,022       15,602       2,754       11,306   

Operating profit   $ 5,134       5,756       1,962       1,041       516       3,236   

Interest expense   $ 1,100       1,054       3,103       2,741       —         —     

Income (loss) from continuing operations   $ 11,722       8,822       959       49,548       (394 )     5,010   

Per Common Share:                                                 

Basic   $ 1.22       0.89       0.10       4.97       (0.04 )     0.51   

Diluted   $ 1.22       0.89       0.09       4.94       (0.04 )     0.51   

                                                  

Income from discontinued operations, net   $ —         6,856       122,129       11,003       2,076       7,014   

Income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest   $ (993 )     (499 )     (1,384 )     18,801       —         —     

Net income attributable to the Company   $ 12,715       16,177       124,472       41,750       1,682       12,024   

Per Common Share:                                                 

Basic   $ 1.33       1.64       12.40       4.19       0.17       1.22   

Diluted   $ 1.32       1.63       12.32       4.16       0.17       1.22   

                                                  

                                                  

 

  December 31, 

   

September 

30, 

       2020 

   

2019 

   

2018 

   

2017 

   

2016 

   

2016 

 Financial Summary:                                                 

Property and equipment, net   $ 203,140       202,187       206,553       209,914       224,247       220,616   

Total assets   $ 536,360       538,148       505,488       418,734       266,560       264,789   

Long-term debt   $ 89,964       88,925       88,789       118,317       40,745       41,932   

Shareholders' equity   $ 367,654       374,888       364,607       243,530       198,820       196,099   

Net Book Value per common share   $ 39.26       38.19       36.57       24.32       20.05       19.87   

Other Data:                                                 

Weighted average common shares - basic     9,580       9,883       10,040       9,975       9,879       9,846   

Weighted average common shares - diluted     9,609       9,926       10,105       10,040       9,923       9,890   

Number of employees     13       12       10       19       18       18   

Shareholders of record     339       342       355       382               414   

 

 
Quarterly Results (unaudited) 

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts) 
  For the Quarter Ended     

  March 31,   June 30,   September 30,   December 31,     

  2020   2020   2020   2020   Total Fiscal Year 2020 

Revenues  $ 5,783       5,849       6,098       5,853       23,583   

Operating profit   $ 794       1,204       1,581       1,555       5,134   

Income from continuing operations  $ 1,499       3,977       5,271       975       11,722   

Discontinued operations, net  $ —      —      —      —      —    

Net income attributable to the Company  $ 1,618       4,149       5,455       1,493       12,715   

Earnings per common share (a):                                       

 Income from continuing operations-                    

  Basic  $ 0.15       0.41       0.55       0.10       1.22   

  Diluted  $ 0.15       0.41       0.55       0.10       1.22   

 Discontinued operations-                    

  Basic  $ 0.00       0.00       0.00       0.00       —     

  Diluted  $ 0.00       0.00       0.00       0.00       —     

 Net income attributable to the Company-                    

  Basic  $ 0.17       0.43       0.57       0.16       1.33   

  Diluted  $ 0.16       0.43       0.57       0.16       1.32   

Market price per common share (b):                                       

  High  $ 52.03       46.35       43.80       46.75       52.03   

  Low  $ 31.00       38.33       39.12       40.00       31.00   
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  For the Quarter Ended     

  March 31,   June 30,   September 30,   December 31,     

  2019   2019   2019   2019   Total Fiscal Year 2019 

Revenues  $ 5,714       6,363       5,883       5,796       23,756   

Operating profit   $ 1,355       2,107       1,358       936       5,756   

Income from continuing operations  $ 1,641       2,952       1,902       2,327       8,822   

Discontinued operations, net  $ 86    6,776    (13 )   7    6,856  

Net income attributable to the Company  $ 1,898       9,825       2,001       2,453       16,177   

Earnings per common share (a):                                       

 Income from continuing operations-                    

  Basic  $ 0.16       0.30       0.19       0.24       0.89   

  Diluted  $ 0.16       0.30       0.19       0.24       0.89   

 Discontinued operations-                    

  Basic  $ 0.01       0.68       0.00       0.00       0.69   

  Diluted  $ 0.01       0.68       0.00       0.00       0.69   

 Net income attributable to the Company-                    

  Basic  $ 0.19       0.99       0.20       0.25       1.64   

  Diluted  $ 0.19       0.99       0.20       0.25       1.63   

Market price per common share (b):                                       

  High  $ 53.78       55.77       54.02       53.70       55.77   

  Low  $ 45.75       46.30       47.71       47.50       45.75   

 

 

(a) Earnings per share of common stock is computed independently for each quarter presented.  The sum of the quarterly 

net earnings per share of common stock for a year may not equal the total for the year due to rounding differences.  

(b) All prices represent high and low daily closing prices as reported by The Nasdaq Stock Market. 

 

 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 

OPERATIONS. 

 

The following discussion includes a non-GAAP financial measure within the meaning of Regulation G promulgated by the 

Securities and Exchange Commission to supplement the financial results as reported in accordance with GAAP. The non-

GAAP financial measure discussed is net operating income (NOI). The Company uses this metric to analyze its continuing 

operations and to monitor, assess, and identify meaningful trends in its operating and financial performance. This measure 

is not, and should not be viewed as, a substitute for GAAP financial measures. Refer to “Non-GAAP Financial Measure” 

below in this annual report for a more detailed discussion, including reconciliations of this non-GAAP financial measure to 

its most directly comparable GAAP financial measure. 

 

Executive Overview 

 

FRP Holdings, Inc. (“FRP” or the “Company”) is a holding company engaged in various real estate businesses, namely (i) 
mining royalty land ownership and leasing, (ii) land acquisition, entitlement and development primarily for future 

warehouse/office or residential building construction, (iii) ownership, leasing, and management of a residential apartment 

building, and (iv) warehouse/office building ownership, leasing and management. 

 

On May 21, 2018, the Company completed the disposition of 40 industrial warehouse properties and three additional land 

parcels to an affiliate of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII, L.P. for $347.2 million. One warehouse property valued at 

$11.7 million was excluded from the sale due to the tenant exercising its right of first refusal to purchase the property. On 

June 28, 2019, the Company completed the sale of the excluded property to the same buyer for $11.7 million.  These 

properties comprised substantially all the assets of our Asset Management segment and constituted a major strategic shift 

for the Company and have been reclassified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. 

 

Stabilized Joint Venture became our fourth segment in July 2017 as we consolidated our joint venture which was formed 

to construct our first apartment building.  
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The Company’s operations are influenced by a number of external and internal factors.  External factors include levels of 

economic and industrial activity in the United States and the Southeast, construction activity and costs, aggregates sales by 

lessees from the Company’s mining properties, interest rates, market conditions in the Baltimore/Northern 

Virginia/Washington DC area, and our ability to obtain zoning and entitlements necessary for property development. 

Internal factors include administrative costs, success in leasing efforts and construction cost management.  

 

Highlights of 2020. 

 

 Highest revenue total in Mining Royalties segment history. 

 Sold four properties for a total of $20.8 million and a gain on sale of $9.3 million. 

 Began construction on Half Street joint venture in Washington, DC and our two joint ventures in Greenville, 

SC 

 Completed construction on The Maren joint venture in Washington, DC and the residential portion of the 

building is 87.02% leased, and 82.44% occupied. 

 Finished shell construction and began lease-up on The Coda, the first building in our Bryant Street joint 

venture in Washington, DC. 

 Purchased 55 acres for future industrial development in Aberdeen, MD. 

 

Asset Management Segment. 

 

The Asset Management segment owns, leases and manages commercial properties.  These assets create revenue and cash 

flows through tenant rental payments, lease management fees and reimbursements for building operating costs.  The major 

cash outlays incurred in this segment are for operating expenses, real estate taxes, building repairs, lease commissions and 

other lease closing costs, construction of tenant improvements, capital to acquire existing operating buildings and closing 

costs related thereto and personnel costs of our property management team.  

 

As of December 31, 2020, the Asset Management Segment owned three commercial properties in fee simple as follows:   

 

1) 34 Loveton Circle in suburban Baltimore County, Maryland consists of one office building totaling 33,708 square feet 

which is 95.1% occupied (16% of the space is occupied by the Company for use as our Baltimore headquarters).  The 

property is subject to commercial leases with various tenants. 

2) 155 E. 21
st
 Street in Duval County, Florida was an office building property that remains under lease through March 

2026.  We permitted the tenant to demolish all structures on the property during 2018. 

3) Cranberry Run Business Park in Hartford County, Maryland consists of five office buildings totaling 268,010 square 

feet which are 87.6% occupied. The property is subject to commercial leases with various tenants. 

 

Management focuses on several factors to measure our success on a comparative basis in this segment.  The major factors 

we focus on are (1) net operating income growth, (2) growth in occupancy, (3) average annual occupancy rate (defined as 

the occupied square feet at the end of each month during a fiscal year divided by the number of months to date in that 

fiscal year as a percentage of the average number of square feet in the portfolio over that same time period), (4) tenant 

retention success rate (as a percentage of total square feet to be renewed), (5) building and refurbishing assets to meet 

Class A and Class B institutional grade classifications, and (6) reducing complexities and deferred capital expenditures to 

maximize sale price. 

 

 

Mining Royalty Lands Segment. 

 

Our Mining Royalty Lands segment owns several properties comprising approximately 15,000 acres currently under lease 

for mining rents or royalties (excluding the 4,280 acres owned by our Brooksville joint venture with Vulcan Materials).  

Other than one location in Virginia, all of these properties are located in Florida and Georgia.  The typical lease in this 

segment requires the tenant to pay us a royalty based on the number of tons of mined materials sold from our property 

during a given fiscal year multiplied by a percentage of the average annual sales price per ton sold.  As a result of this 

royalty payment structure, we do not bear the cost risks associated with the mining operations, however, we are subject to 
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the cyclical nature of the construction markets in these states as both volumes and prices tend to fluctuate through those 

cycles.  In certain locations, typically where the reserves on our property have been depleted but the tenant still has a need 

for the leased land, we collect a minimum annual rental amount.  We believe strongly in the potential for future growth in 

construction in Florida, Georgia, and Virginia which would positively benefit our profitability in this segment.  Our mining 

properties had estimated remaining reserves of 506 million tons as of December 31, 2020 after a total of 8.5 million tons 

were consumed in 2020. 

 

The major expenses in this segment are comprised of collection and accounting for royalties, management’s oversight of 

the mining leases, land entitlement for post-mining uses and property taxes at our non-leased locations and at our Grandin 

location which, unlike our other leased mining locations, are not paid by the tenant.  As such, our costs in this business are 

very low as a percentage of revenue, are relatively stable and are not affected by increases in production at our locations.  

Our current mining tenants include Vulcan Materials, Martin Marietta, Cemex, Argos and The Concrete Company.  

 

Additionally, these locations provide us with opportunities for valuable “second lives” for these assets through proper land 

planning and entitlement.  

 

Significant “2
nd

 life” Mining Lands:  

 

Location Acreage Status  

Brooksville, Fl 4,280 +/- Development of Regional of Impact and County Land Use and 

Master Zoning in place for 5,800 residential unit, mixed-use 

development 

Ft. Myers, FL  1,907 +/- Approval in place for 105, 1 acre, waterfront residential lots after 

mining completed. 

Total 6,187 +/-  

 

 

Development Segment. 

 

Through our Development segment, we own and are continuously monitoring for their “highest and best use” several 

parcels of land that are in various stages of development.  Our overall strategy in this segment is to convert all our non-

income producing lands into income production through (i) an orderly process of constructing new commercial and 

residential buildings for us to own and operate or (ii) a sale to, or joint venture with, third parties.  Additionally, our 

Development segment will purchase or form joint ventures on new developments of land not previously owned by the 

Company.   

 

Revenues in this segment are generated predominately from land sales and interim property rents.  The significant cash 

outlays incurred in this segment are for land acquisition costs, entitlement costs, property taxes, design and permitting, the 

personnel costs of our in-house management team and horizontal and vertical construction costs.  

 

Since 1990, one of our primary strategies in this segment has been to acquire, entitle and ultimately develop 

commercial/industrial business parks providing 5–15 building pads which we typically convert into warehouse/office 

buildings.  To date, our management team has converted 30 of these pads into developed buildings.  Our typical practice 

has been to transfer these assets to the Asset Management segment on the earlier to occur of (i) commencement of rental 

revenue or (ii) issuance of the certificate of occupancy.  We have also occasionally sold several of these pad sites over time 

to third parties.   

 

Development Segment – Warehouse/Office Land.  

 

At December 31, 2020 this segment owned the following future development parcels: 

  

1) 25 acres of horizontally developed land capable of supporting 226,750 square feet of warehouse, office, and flex 

buildings at Hollander 95 Business Park in Baltimore City, Maryland. 

2) 55 acres of land that will be capable of supporting over 625,000 square feet of industrial product located at 1001 

Old Philadelphia Road in Aberdeen, Maryland. 
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1001 Old Philadelphia Road:  In November 2020, the Company purchased 55 acres in Aberdeen, Maryland adjacent to 

our Cranberry Run Business Park for $10.5 million.  The project is undergoing a 12-month annexation process into the 

Town of Aberdeen with annexation expected in 2022.  Upon annexation, the project will be entitled for industrial 

development capable of supporting over 625,000 square feet of industrial product. 

 

We will continue to actively monitor these submarkets where we have lots ready for construction and take advantage of the 

opportunities presented to us.  We will also look for new parcels to place into development. 

 

We have three properties that were either spun-off to us from Florida Rock Industries in 1986 or acquired by us from 

unrelated third parties. These properties, as a result of our “highest and best use” studies, are being prepared for income 

generation through sale or joint venture with third parties, and in certain cases we are leasing these properties on an interim 

basis for an income stream while we wait for the development market to mature. 

 

Significant Investment Lands Inventory: 

 

Location 

Approx. 

Acreage Status 

 

NBV 

RiverFront on the Anacostia 

Phases III-IV 
2.5 Conceptual design program ongoing   $6,087,000 

Hampstead Trade Center, MD 73 
Residential conceptual design program 

ongoing 

$9,141,000 

Square 664E, on the 

Anacostia River in DC  
2 

Under lease to Vulcan Materials as a 

concrete batch plant through 2026 
$7,844,000 

Total 77.5  $23,072,000 

 

RiverFront on the Anacostia Phases III-IV:  This property consists of 2.5 acres on the Anacostia River and is 

immediately adjacent to the Washington National’s baseball park in the SE Central Business District of Washington, DC. 

Once zoned for industrial use and under a ground lease, this property is no longer under lease and has been rezoned for the 

construction of approximately 600,000 square feet of “mixed-use” development in two phases.  See “Stabilized Joint 

Venture Segment” below for discussion on Phase I and Development Joint Ventures below for discussion of Phase II. 

Phases III and IV are slated for office, and hotel/residential buildings, respectively, all with permitted first floor retail uses. 

  

Hampstead Trade Center:  We purchased this 118-acre tract in 2005 for $4.3 million in a Section 1031 exchange with 

plans of developing it as a commercial business park.  The “great recession” caused us to reassess our plans for this 

property.  As a result, Management has determined that the prudent course of action is to attempt to rezone the property for 

residential uses and sell the entire tract to another developer such that we can redeploy this capital into assets with more 

near-term income producing potential.  On December 22, 2018, The Town of Hampstead re-awarded FRP its request for 

rezoning with a 30-day appeal period.  No appeal was filed, therefore, FRP can now move forward with its residential 

concept plan. We are fully engaged in the formal process of seeking PUD entitlements for this 118-acre tract in 

Hampstead, Maryland, now known as “Hampstead Overlook”. 

 

Square 664E, Washington, DC:  This property sits on the Anacostia River at the base of South Capitol Street in an area 

named Buzzard Point, less than half a mile down river from our RiverFront on the Anacostia property. The Square 664E 

property consists of approximately two acres and is currently under lease to Vulcan Materials for use as a concrete batch 

plant. The initial term of the lease terminates on August 31, 2021, and Vulcan has exercised its option to renew for one 

additional period of five years.  In July 2018, Audi Field, the home of the DC United professional soccer club, opened its 

doors to patrons in Buzzard Point.  Under normal circumstances the 20,000-seat stadium hosts 17 home games each year in 

addition to other outdoor events.  The stadium is separated from our property by 1800 Half Street, the property acquired in 

a joint venture between the Company and MRP in December 2019.   

 

The third leg of our Development Segment consists of investments in joint venture for properties in development as 

described below: 
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Development Segment - Investments in Joint Ventures (in thousands): 

 
  As of December 31, 2020   Total 

  RiverFront   Bryant Street   DST Hickory   1800 Half St.   Greenville/   Apartment/ 
  Holdings II, LLC   Partnership   Creek   Partnership   Woodfield   Mixed Use 

                        

Investments in real estate, net $  105,737       173,560       45,379       37,452       42,668     
 

$ 404,796   
Cash and cash equivalents   2,626       111       1,202       14,011       3,554       21,504   
Unrealized rents & receivables   13       58       775       2       0       848   
Deferred costs   162       85       405       2,810       235       3,697   

   Total Assets $  108,538       173,814       47,761       54,275       46,457     $ 430,845   

                                              
 

  
Secured notes payable $  64,982       72,471       29,291       0       1,776     $ 168,520   
Other liabilities   4,189       22,952       107       1,953       4,774       33,975   
Capital - FRP   34,667       58,559       4,894       37,466       15,963       151,549   
Capital - Third Parties   4,700       19,832       13,469       14,856       23,944       76,801   

   Total Liabilities and Capital $  108,538       173,814       47,761       54,275       46,457     $ 430,845   

 

 

 
  As of December 31, 2020     

  Brooksville   BC FRP   

 

  Amber Ridge   Apartment/   Grand 
  Quarry, LLC   Realty, LLC   Hyde Park   Loan   Mixed Use   Total 

                        

Investments in real estate, net. 
 

$ 14,287       22,067       591       10,026       404,796     
 

$ 451,767   
Cash and cash equivalents   55       90       0       0       21,504       21,649   
Unrealized rents & receivables   0       254       0       0       848       1,102   
Deferred costs   5       336       0       0       3,697       4,038   

   Total Assets 
 

$ 14,347       22,747       591       10,026       430,845     $ 478,556   

                                                

Secured notes payable 
 

$ 0       12,370       0       0       168,520     $ 180,890   
Other liabilities   28       123       0       0       33,975       34,126   
Capital - FRP   7,499       5,127       591       10,026       151,549       174,792   
Capital - Third Parties   6,820       5,127       0       0       76,801       88,748   

   Total Liabilities and Capital 
 

$ 14,347       22,747       591       10,026       430,845     
 

$ 478,556   

 

Brooksville Quarry, LLC.  In 2006, the Company entered into a Joint Venture Agreement with Vulcan Materials 

Company to jointly own and develop approximately 4,300 acres of land near Brooksville, Florida.  Under the terms of the 

joint venture, FRP contributed its fee interest in approximately 3,443 acres formerly leased to Vulcan under a long-term 

mining lease which had a net book value of $2,548,000.  Vulcan is entitled to mine a portion of the property until 2032 and 

pay royalties to the Company.  FRP also contributed $3,018,000 for one-half of the acquisition costs of a 288-acre 

contiguous parcel. Vulcan contributed 553 acres that it owned as well as its leasehold interest in the 3,443 acres that it 

leased from FRP and $3,018,000 for one-half of the acquisition costs of the 288-acre contiguous parcel.  The joint venture 

is jointly controlled by Vulcan and FRP.  Distributions will be made on a 50-50 basis except for royalties and depletion 

specifically allocated to the Company. Other income for the year ended December 31, 2020 includes a loss of $39,000 

representing the Company’s portion of the loss of this joint venture (not including FRP’s royalty revenues). 

 

BC Realty, LLC (Windlass Run).  In March 2016, we entered into an agreement with a Baltimore development company 

(St. John Properties, Inc.)  to jointly develop the remaining lands of our Windlass Run Business Park.   The 50/50 

partnership initially called for FRP to combine its 25 acres (valued at $7,500,000) with St. John Properties’ adjacent 10 

acres fronting on a major state highway (valued at $3,239,536) which resulted in an initial cash distribution of $2,130,232 

to FRP in May 2016.  Thereafter, the venture will jointly develop the combined properties into a multi-building business 

park to consist of approximately 329,000 square feet of single-story office space.  The project will take place in several 

phases, with construction of the first phase, which includes two office buildings and two retail buildings totaling 100,030-
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square-feet (inclusive of 27,950 retail), commenced in the fourth quarter of 2017 and was completed in January 2019.  At 

December 31, 2020 Phase I was 46.7% leased and 44.3% occupied, the subsequent phases will follow as each phase is 

stabilized.  On September 28, 2017, BC FRP Realty, LLC obtained $17,250,000 of construction financing commitments 

for 4 buildings through September 15, 2022 from BB&T at 2.5% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The balance outstanding on 

these loans at December 31, 2020 was $12,127,000.  Shell building construction of the two office buildings and two retail 

buildings in the first phase of the joint venture was completed in December 2018.   

 

RiverFront Holdings II, LLC. On May 4, 2018, the Company and MRP Realty formed a Joint Venture to develop Phase 

II and closed on construction financing with Eagle Bank.  Phase II on the Anacostia known as The Maren is a 250,000-

square-foot mixed-use development which supports 264 residential units and 6,937 square feet of retail.  The Company has 

contributed its land with an agreed value of $16.3 million (cost basis of $4.6 million) and $6.2 million of cash.  MRP 

contributed capital of $5.6 million to the joint venture including development costs paid prior to the formation of the joint 

venture and a $725,000 development fee. The Company further agreed to fund $13.75 million preferred equity financing at 

7.5% interest rate all of which has been advanced.  The loan from Eagle Bank allows draws of up to $71 million during 

construction at an interest rate of 3.25% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR. The loan is interest only and matures in 36 months 

with a 12-month extension assuming completion of construction and at least one occupancy.  There is a provision for an 

additional 60 months extension with a 30-year amortization of principal at 2.15% over seven-year US Treasury Constant if 

NOI is sufficient for a 9% yield.  The Company’s equity interest in the joint venture is accounted for under the equity 

method of accounting as MRP acts as the administrative agent of the joint venture and oversees and controls the day-to-day 

operations of the project. Construction began in April 2018, the building received its certificate of occupancy in September 

2020, and stabilization (meaning 90% of the individual apartments are leased and occupied by third party tenants) is 

expected in early 2021. 

 

Bryant Street Partnerships.  On December 24, 2018 the Company and MRP Realty formed four partnerships to purchase 

and develop approximately five acres of land at 500 Rhode Island Ave NE, Washington, D.C.  This property is the first 

phase of the Bryant Street Master Plan.  The property is located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the 

new communities development program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.  This first phase 

is a mixed-use development which supports 487 residential units and 85,681 square feet of first floor and stand-alone retail 

on approximately five acres of the roughly 12-acre site. The Company contributed cash of $32 million in exchange for a 

61.36% common equity in the partnership.  The Company also contributed cash of $23 million as preferred equity 

financing at 8.0% interest rate.  The Company records interest income for this loan and a loss in equity in joint ventures for 

our 61.36% equity in the partnership.  On March 13, 2019 the partnerships closed on a construction loan with a group of 

lenders for up to $132 million at an interest rate of 2.25% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The loan matures March 13, 2023 

with up to two extensions of one year each upon certain conditions including, for the first, a debt service coverage of at 

least 1.1 and a loan-to-value that does not exceed 65% and for the second, a debt service coverage of 1.25 and a maximum 

loan-to-value of 65%. The Company and MRP guaranteed $26 million of the loan in exchange for a 1% lower interest rate. 

 The Company and MRP have a side agreement limiting the Company’s guarantee to its proportionate ownership.  The 

value of the guarantee was calculated at $1.9 million based on the present value of the 1% interest savings over the 

anticipated 48-month term.  This amount is included as part of the Company’s investment basis and is amortized to 

expense over the 48 months. The Company will evaluate the guarantee liability based upon the success of the project and 

assuming no payments are made under the guarantee the Company will have a gain for $1.9 million when the loan is paid 

in full. Borrower may prepay a portion of the unpaid principal to satisfy such tests. The Company’s equity interest in the 

joint venture is accounted for under the equity method of accounting as all the major decisions are shared equally. 

Construction began in February 2019, with substantial completion estimated in 3rd quarter 2021, and stabilization 

(meaning 88% of the individual apartments and retail are leased and occupied by third party tenants) in late 2022. 

 

Hyde Park.  On January 27, 2018 the Company entered into a loan agreement with a Baltimore developer to be the 

principal capital source of a residential development venture in Essexshire now known as “Hyde Park.”  We have 

committed up to $3.5 million in exchange for an interest rate of 10% and a preferred return of 20% after which a 

“waterfall” determines the split of proceeds from sale.  Entitlements for the development of the property are complete, a 

homebuilder is under contract to purchase all of the 126 recorded building lots.  The first phase of settlement occurred in 

May 2020, resulting in a $2.67 million principal and interest payment, with subsequent payments of $1.13 million in 

principal and interest payments in the third quarter. 
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Amber Ridge.  On June 26, 2019 the Company entered into a loan agreement with a Baltimore developer to be the 

principal capital source of a residential development venture in Prince Georges County, Maryland known as “Amber 

Ridge.”  We have committed up to $18.5 million in exchange for an interest rate of 10% and a preferred return of 20% 

after which the Company is also entitled to a portion of proceeds from sale.  This project will hold 187 single-family town 

homes.  We are currently pursuing entitlements and have two homebuilders under contract to purchase all of the 187 units 

upon completion of infrastructure development. 

 

1800 Half Street.  On December 20, 2019 the Company and MRP formed a joint venture to acquire and develop a mixed-

use project located at 1800 Half Street, Washington, D.C.  This property is located in the Buzzard Point area of 

Washington, DC, less than half a mile downriver from Dock 79 and the Maren.  It lies directly between our two acres on 

the Anacostia currently under lease by Vulcan and Audi Field, the home stadium of the DC United.  The project is located 

in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established by 

Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.  The Company contributed cash of $37.3 million.  The land was acquired 

in two pieces over the first half of 2020. On June 26, 2020 the partnership closed on a construction loan with Truist Bank 

for up to $74 million at an interest rate of 2.25% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The loan matures June 26, 2024 with one 

extension of two years requiring a .25% fee, paying principal monthly under a 30-year amortization schedule, and meeting 

a 9.9% debt yield after the first year. The ten-story structure will have 344 apartments and 11,246 square feet of ground 

floor retail.   We began construction at the end of August 2020 and expect the building to be complete in the third quarter 

of 2022. The Company’s equity interest in the joint venture is accounted for under the equity method of accounting as all 

major decisions are shared equally. 

 

Greenville Partnerships. On December 23, 2019 the Company and Woodfield Development formed a joint venture to 

develop a mixed-use project  in Greenville SC known as .408 Jackson located  across the street from Greenville’s minor 

league baseball stadium.  The project will hold 227 multifamily units and 4,700 square feet of retail space.  It is located in 

an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established by 

Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.  The Company contributed cash of $9.7 million in exchange for a 40% 

common equity in the joint venture.  On April 28, 2020 the partnership closed on a construction loan with First National 

Bank of Pennsylvania for up to $36 million at an interest rate of 2.00% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The loan matures on 

April 28, 2025 and the payment terms are interest only through April 28, 2024 and fixed principal payments of $17,765 

plus interest through April 28, 2025 when all unpaid principal is due.   There is an option of one extension of two years 

requiring a .1% fee, maintaining a 1.20 to 1 Debt Service Coverage Ratio, the Loan is free from outstanding default events 

and the appraisal value is 60% of the loan amount.  If extension is accepted principal payments of $17,765 plus interest 

will continue until maturity when all unpaid principal is due. The Company’s equity interest in the joint venture is 

accounted for under the equity method of accounting through the construction and lease up period.  Woodfield  personally 

guaranteed the loan and will be managing the projects day to day operations.  Major decisions for the entity must be made 

unanimously between both members. Construction began in May 2020 and should be complete in the third quarter of 

2022. 

 

On December 23, 2019 the Company and Woodfield formed a joint venture to develop a 200-unit multifamily apartment 

project located at 1430 Hampton Avenue, Greenville, SC.  The project is located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides 

tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 

2017.  The Company contributed $6.2 million in exchange for a 40% common equity in the joint venture.  On February 

14, 2020, Woodfield Riverside OZB, LLC closed on a construction loan with Truist Bank for up to $22.8 million at an 

interest rate of 2.25% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR. When the Certificate of Occupancy is received, the interest rate reduces 

to 2.05% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The loan matures February 10, 2024 with two 1 year extension options after initial 

48 month term amortizing payments over 30 years, and meeting Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.25 to 1.0.  

The Company’s equity interest in the joint venture is accounted for under the equity method of accounting through the 

construction and lease up period.  Woodfield personally guaranteed the loan and will be managing the projects day to day 

operations.  Major decisions for the entity must be made unanimously between both members. Construction began in 

February 2020 and should be complete in the third quarter of 2021. 

 

Stabilized Joint Venture Segment. 

 

Currently the segment includes two stabilized joint ventures which own, lease and manage buildings.  These assets create 

revenue and cash flows through tenant rental payments, and reimbursements for building operating costs.  The major cash 
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outlays incurred in this segment are for property taxes, full service maintenance, property management, utilities and 

marketing. 

 

Dock 79.  This first phase of our RiverFront on The Anacostia project is a joint venture owned by the Company (66%) and 

our partner, MRP Realty (34%) and is a 305-unit residential apartment building with approximately 18,000 sq. ft. of first 

floor retail space.  For financial reporting purposes the Company consolidates this venture as it is considered the primary 

beneficiary of the Variable Interest Entity.  As of December 31, 2020, the residential units were 95.73% occupied and 

94.10% leased, while retail units are 76% leased with just one space remaining. 

 

DST Hickory Creek.  In July 2019, the Company invested $6 million in 1031 proceeds from two sales in 2019 into a 

Delaware Statutory Trust (DST) known as CS1031 Hickory Creek Apartments, DST.  The Company is 26.649% beneficial 

owner and receives monthly distributions.  The DST owns a 294-unit garden-style apartment community consisting of 19 

three-story apartment buildings containing 273,940 rentable square feet.  The property was constructed in 1984 and 

substantially renovated in 2016.  The property is located in Henrico County, providing residents convenient access to some 

of the largest employment and economic drivers in metro Richmond, including ten Fortune 1,000 companies.  The project 

is a qualified 1031 like-kind exchange investment and will defer $790,000 in taxes associated with last year’s asset sales of 

7030 Dorsey Road and 1502 Quarry Drive. The Company’s equity interest in the trust is accounted for under the cost 

method because we don’t have significant influence over the operating and financial policies.  Monthly distributions are 

recorded as equity in loss of joint ventures. 

 

COMPARATIVE RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Consolidated Results 

 
(dollars in thousands)  Twelve Months Ended December 31,  

  2020   2019   Change   % 

Revenues:                               

  Lease revenue $ 14,106     $ 14,318     $ (212 )      -1.5 % 

  Mining lands lease revenue   9,477       9,438       39       0.4 % 

 Total Revenues   23,583       23,756       (173 )      -0.7 % 

                                

Cost of operations:                               

  Depreciation/Depletion/Amortization   5,828       5,855       (27 )      -0.5 % 

  Operating Expenses   3,333       4,134       (801 )     -19.4 % 

  Property Taxes   2,826       2,941       (115 )      -3.9 % 

  Management Company indirect   2,951       2,514       437       17.4 % 

  Corporate Expense   3,511       2,556       955       37.4 % 

Total cost of operations   18,449       18,000       449 

 

    2.5 % 

                                

Total operating profit   5,134       5,756       (622 )      -10.8 % 

                                

Net investment income, including realized gains  

 of $298 and $949   7,415       8,375       (960 )     -11.5 %  

Interest Expense   (1,100 )     (1,054 )     (46 )     4.4 % 

Equity in loss of joint ventures   (5,690 )     (1,954 )     (3,736 )     191.2 % 

Gain on sale of real estate   9,170       661       8,509 

 

    1287.3 %  

  

               Income before income taxes   14,929     

 

11,784       3,145       26.7 % 

Provision for income taxes   3,207       2,962       245       8.3 % 

Income from continuing operations   11,722       8,822       2,900       32.9 % 

                

Income from discontinued operations, net   —         6,856       (6,856 )     -100.0 %  

                                

Net income  11,722    15,678    (3,956 )   -25.2 % 

Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest   (993 )      (499 )      (494 )     99.0 %  

                                

Net income attributable to the Company $ 12,715     $ 16,177     $ (3,462 )     

-21.4 

 % 
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Net income for 2020 was $12,715,000 or $1.32 per share versus $16,177,000 or $1.63 per share in the same period last 

year.  Income from discontinued operations for 2019 was $6,856,000 or $.69 per share. Income from continuing operations 

increased $2,900,000 or 33% and was impacted by the following items: 

 

 Operating expense includes a $250,000 credit for settlement of environmental claims on our Anacostia property 

while related professional fees decreased $161,000. 

 Corporate expense stock compensation of $1,372,000 compared to $232,000 in the same period last year due the 

timing of stock grants. 

 Loss on joint ventures increased $3,736,000.  This is primarily due to $3,036,000 increased loss at the Maren and 

a $1,557,000 increased loss at Bryant Street.  Included in this loss is: 

o $1,946,000 depreciation at the Maren  

o $189,000 accelerated deferred loan fees at the Maren in anticipation of early refinancing in 2021  

o $702,000 for our share of preferred interest in Bryant Street,  

o $511,000 loss on phase 1 of Bryant Street due to completion of construction of the first building as well 

and lease-up efforts during the quarter,  

o $254,000 of interest income in 2019 prior to the funds being deployed,  

o This loss was partially offset by improved results at our Windlass Run joint venture of $384,000, and 

increase in Hickory Creek distributions of $216,000 and $255,000 interest income generated in our 

opportunity zone investments prior to the funds being deployed. 

 Gain on sale of $9,170,000 compared to $661,000 in the same period last year primarily due to the sale of the 

three remaining lots at our Lakeside Business Park, 1801 62
nd

 Street, Gulf Hammock, and 87 acres from our Ft. 

Myers property. 

 Provision for income taxes was favorably impacted by $1,100,000 due to a carryback of our 2020 tax net 

operating loss to fiscal 2016 when the federal tax rate was 35%. 

 

 

Asset Management Segment Results 

 
    Twelve months ended December 31         

(dollars in thousands)   2020   %   2019   %   Change   % 

                          

Lease revenue   $ 2,747       100.0 %     2,190       100.0 %     557       25.4 % 

                                                  

Depreciation, depletion and amortization     652       23.7 %     708       32.3 %     (56 )      -7.9 % 

Operating expenses     430       15.7 %     650       29.7 %     (220 )      -33.8 % 

Property taxes     124       4.5 %     286       13.0 %     (162 )      -56.6 % 

Management company indirect     634       23.1 %     350       16.0 %     284       81.1 % 

Corporate expense     909       33.1 %     646       29.5 %     263       40.7 % 

                                                  

Cost of operations     2,749       100.1 %     2,640       120.5 %     109       4.1 % 

                                                  

Operating profit   $ (2 )      -0.1 %   

 

(450 )      -20.5 %   

 

448       -99.6 % 

 

 

Most of the Asset Management Segment was reclassified to discontinued operations leaving two commercial properties as 

well as Cranberry Run Business Park, which we purchased in the first quarter of 2019, and 1801 62
nd

 Street which joined 

this segment on April 1 of 2019, but was sold in July 2020. Cranberry Run Business Park is a five-building industrial park 

in Harford County, MD totaling 268,010 square feet of industrial/ flex space and at quarter end was 87.6% leased and 

occupied.  Total revenues in this segment were $2,747,000, up $557,000 or 25.4%, over the same period last year.  

Operating loss was ($2,000), down $448,000 from an operating loss of ($450,000) in the same period last year. This 

improvement is primarily due to profits at 1801 62
nd

 Street this year prior to its sale compared to losses during lease-up in 

the prior year as well as improved leasing and occupancy at Cranberry Run Business Park, partially offset by higher 

allocation of corporate expenses. 
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Mining Royalty Lands Segment Results 

 
    Twelve months ended December 31         

(dollars in thousands)   2020   %   2019   %   Change   % 

                          

Mining lands lease revenue   $ 9,477       100.0 %     9,438       100.0 %     39       0.4 % 

                                                  

Depreciation, depletion and amortization     218       2.3 %     177       1.9 %     41       23.2 % 

Operating expenses     74       0.8 %     99       1.0 %     (25 )      -25.3 % 

Property taxes     267       2.8 %     271       2.9 %     (4 )      -1.5 % 

Management company indirect     289       3.1 %     201       2.1 %     88       43.8 % 

Corporate expense     288       3.0 %     169     

 

1.8 %     119       70.4 % 

                                                  

Cost of operations     1,136       12.0 %     917       9.7 %     219       23.9 % 

                                                  

Operating profit   $ 8,341       88.0 %   

 

8,521       90.3 %   

 

(180 )      -2.1 % 

 

Total revenues in this segment were $9,477,000 versus $9,438,000 in the same period last year.  Total operating profit in 

this segment was $8,341,000, a decrease of $180,000 versus $8,521,000 in the same period last year.  The primary reason 

for this decrease is an increase in overall corporate expenses as well as the allocation of these expenses due to discontinued 

operations. 

 

Development Segment Results 
    Twelve months ended December 31 

(dollars in thousands)   2020   2019   Change 

              

Lease revenue   

$

  1,152       1,164       (12 )  

                           

 Depreciation, depletion and amortization     214       214       —     

 Operating expenses     319       768       (449 )  

 Property taxes     1,375       1,226       149 

  Management company indirect     1,820       1,773       47   

 Corporate expense     2,108       1,581       527   

                           

 Cost of operations     5,836       5,562       274   

                           

 Operating loss   $ (4,684 )   

 

(4,398 )   

 

(286 ) 

               

Equity in loss of Joint Venture   (5,990 )   (2,035 )   (3,955 )  

Gain on sale of real estate   1,877    —      1,877   

Interest earned   4,133    2,337    1,796   

              

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes  $ (4,664 )   (4,096 )   (568 )  

 

The Development segment is responsible for (i) seeking out and identifying opportunistic purchases of income 

producing warehouse/office buildings, and (ii) developing our non-income producing properties into income 

production.   

 

With respect to ongoing projects: 

 We are in the PUD entitlement process for our 118-acre tract in Hampstead, Maryland, now known as 

“Hampstead Overlook.”  Hampstead Overlook received Concept Plan approval from the Town of Hampstead for 

164 single and 91 town home residential units in February 2020, and the project is currently under Preliminary 

Plan review with the governing agencies. 

 Last quarter we received permit entitlements for two industrial buildings at Hollander Business Park totaling 

145,750 square feet.  We have started construction and anticipate shell completion in the third quarter of 2021. 
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 We finished shell building construction in December 2018 on the two office buildings in the first phase of our 

joint venture with St. John Properties.  Shell building construction of the two retail buildings was completed in 

January 2019. We are now in the process of leasing these four single-story buildings totaling 100,030 square feet 

of office and retail space.  At quarter end, Phase I was 46.7% leased and 44.3% occupied. 

 We are the principal capital source of a residential development venture in Baltimore County, Maryland known as 

“Hyde Park.”  We have committed up to $3.5 million in exchange for an interest rate of 10%.  Additional 

proceeds and interest payments above a 20% preferred return on capital determine a split of profits.  Entitlements 

for the development of the property are complete, and a homebuilder is under contract to purchase all the 126 

recorded building lots.  The first phase of settlement occurred in May 2020, resulting in a $2.67 million principal 

and interest payment, with subsequent payments of $1.13 million in principal and interest payments in the third 

quarter.  Currently all principal and $322,605 in accrued interest has been repaid.    

 We are the principal capital source of a residential development venture in Prince George’s County, Maryland 

known as “Amber Ridge.”  We have committed up to $18.5 million in exchange for an interest rate of 10%.  

Additional proceeds and interest payments above a 20% preferred return on capital determine a split of profits.  

Amber Ridge will hold 187 town homes.  We are currently pursuing entitlements, mass grading the site, and have 

two homebuilders under contract to purchase all 187 units upon completion of development infrastructure. 

 In April 2018, we began construction on Phase II of our RiverFront on the Anacostia project, now known as “The 

Maren”, a 14-story project with 264 residential units and 6,937 net leasable square feet of ground floor retail.  

Lease-up commenced in earnest in the second week of March 2020, and the building received its final certificate 

of occupancy at the end of September 2020.  At the end of the quarter, the Maren’s residential units were 87.02% 

leased, and 82.44% occupied and the retail was 76% leased whose rent commences no later than June.   

 In December 2018, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with MidAtlantic Realty Partners (MRP) 

for the development of the first phase of a multifamily, mixed-use development in northeast Washington, DC 

known as “Bryant Street.”  The project is comprised of four buildings, with 487 units and 85,681 net leasable 

square feet of retail.  FRP contributed $32 million in common equity and another $23 million in preferred equity 

to the joint venture.  Construction began in February 2019 and as of the end of the quarter was 92% complete.  

Bryant Street is currently on time, within budget, and expected to be complete in the fourth quarter of 2021.  The 

Coda, the first of our four buildings at Bryant Street received a temporary certificate of occupancy in December, 

and leasing efforts are under way.  This project is located in an opportunity zone and has allowed the Company to 

defer $14.9 million in taxes associated with the sale of our industrial assets. 

 In December 2019, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with MRP for the development of a 

mixed-use project known as “1800 Half Street.”  The development is located in the Buzzard Point area of 

Washington, DC, less than half a mile downriver from Dock 79 and the Maren.  It lies directly between our two 

acres on the Anacostia, currently under lease by Vulcan, and Audi Field, the home stadium of the DC United. The 

10-story structure will have 344 apartments and 11,246 square feet of ground floor retail.  FRP contributed $37.3 

million in common equity.  The project is a qualified opportunity zone investment and will defer just over $10 

million in taxes associated with the sale of our industrial assets.  In June 2020, we closed on a $74 million 

construction loan.  We began construction at the end of August 2020 and expect the building to be complete in the 

third quarter of 2022.  

 In December 2019, the company entered into two joint ventures in Greenville, SC with a new partner, Woodfield 

Development.  Woodfield specializes in Class-A multi-family, mixed use developments primarily in the Carolinas 

and DC.  Our first joint venture with them is a 200-unit multifamily project known as “Riverside.”  FRP 

contributed $6.2 million in common equity for a 40% ownership interest.  Construction began in February 2020 

and should be complete in the third quarter of 2021.  The second joint venture in Greenville with Woodfield is a 

227-unit multifamily development known as “.408 Jackson.”  It will have 4,700 square feet of retail and is located 

across the street from Greenville’s minor league baseball stadium.  FRP contributed $9.7 million in common 

equity for a 40% ownership interest.  Construction began in May 2020 and should be complete in the third quarter 

of 2022.  Both projects are qualified opportunity investments and will defer a combined $4.3 million in taxes. 

 In November 2020, the Company purchased 55 acres in Aberdeen, Maryland adjacent to our Cranberry Run 

Business Park for $10.5 million.  The project is undergoing a 12-month annexation process into the Town of 

Aberdeen with annexation expected in 2022.  Upon annexation, the project will be entitled for industrial 

development capable of supporting over 625,000 square feet of industrial product.  The acquisition was a part of 

1031 exchange from the sale proceeds of 1801 62
nd

 street which deferred $3.8 million in taxable gain.  This will 

expand our land bank and allow the Company to continue its industrial development program after we finish 

developing our remaining inventory at Hollander Business Park. 
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Stabilized Joint Venture Segment Results 

 
    Twelve months ended December 31         

(dollars in thousands)   2020   %   2019   %   Change   % 

                          

Lease revenue   $ 10,207       100.0 %     10,964       100.0 %     (757 )      -6.9 % 

                                                  

Depreciation, depletion and amortization     4,744       46.5 %     4,756       43.4 %     (12 )      -0.3 % 

Operating expenses     2,510       24.6 %     2,617       23.9 %     (107 )      -4.1 % 

Property taxes     1,060       10.4 %     1,158       10.6 %     (98 )      -8.5 % 

Management company indirect     208       2.0 %     190       1.7 %     18       9.5 % 

Corporate expense     206       2.0 %     160       1.4 %     46       28.8 % 

                                                  

Cost of operations     8,728       85.5 %     8,881       81.0 %     (153 )      -1.7 % 

                                                  

Operating profit   $ 1,479       14.5 %   

 

2,083       19.0 %   

 

(604 )      -29.0 % 

 

Dock 79’s average residential occupancy for 2020 was 93.13%, and at the end of the year, Dock 79’s residential units were 

94.10% leased and 95.73% occupied.  Through 2020, 57.14% of expiring leases renewed with an average increase in rent 

on those renewals of 0.31% due to the mandated rent freeze on renewals that went into effect in March.  Net Operating 

Income for this segment was $6,652,000, down $515,000 or 7.2% compared to the same period last year.  Dock 79 is a 

joint venture between the Company and MRP, in which FRP Holdings, Inc. is the majority partner with 66% ownership. 

 

Distributions for Hickory Creek were $339,000 in 2020.  The project is a qualified 1031 like-kind exchange investment in 

a Delaware Statutory Trust of which the Company is a 26.659% beneficial owner. 

 

 

 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 

The growth of the Company’s businesses requires significant cash needs to acquire and develop land or operating 

buildings and to construct new buildings and tenant improvements.  As of December 31, 2020, we had $73,909,000 of 

cash and cash equivalents along with $75,609,000 of investments available for sale.  As of December 31, 2020, we had no 

debt borrowed under our $20 million Wells Fargo revolver, $448,000 outstanding under letters of credit and $19,552,000 

available to borrow under the revolver.  In November 2017, we secured $90 million in permanent financing for Dock 79 

from EagleBank, the proceeds of which were used to pay off $79 million of construction and mezzanine debt. The 

remainder was distributed pari passu between the Company and our partners. 

 

 

Cash Flows - The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities for each of 

the periods presented (in thousands of dollars): 

 
    Years ended December 31, 

    2020   2019   2018 

Total cash provided by (used for):                         
Operating activities     18,613       47,023       (37,186 ) 

Investing activities     50,527 

 

    (33,819 )     90,945   

Financing activities     (21,838 )     (9,144 )     (35,736 ) 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents     47,302       4,060       18,023   

                          
Outstanding debt at the beginning of the period     88,925       88,789       118,317   

Outstanding debt at the end of the period     89,964       88,925       88,789   
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Operating Activities - Net cash provided by operating activities in 2020 was $18,613,000 versus cash used for operating 

activities of $47,023,000 in the same period last year.  Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations was 

$1,742,000 in the prior year.  Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations was lower primarily due to 

the prior year deferral of income taxes related to a 1031 exchange on the sales of 1502 Quarry Drive and 7020 Dorsey 

Road and the prior year placement of $50 million in two opportunity zone funds. 

 

Current income tax expense in 2019 included an $13,797,000 provision to return adjustment related to the deferral of 

current federal and state taxes due in connection with $50 million additional Opportunity Zone investment funds invested 

in June of 2019 but applied to the 2018 returns.  In addition, 2019 included an additional deferral reduction of $4,213,000 

of current state taxes related to the $55 million Opportunity Zone investment in December of 2018 which were deferred 

rather than our prior 2018 tax position that the state taxes would not conform to the federal treatment.  The aggregate of the 

provision to return adjustments in 2019 of $18 million offset current tax provision of $2 million absent these adjustments 

for a net current tax benefit of $16 million.  As of December 31, 2020 the company has deferred taxes of approximately 

$31 million associated with $112 million of gains on sales reinvested through Opportunity Zone investments.  These taxes 

are deferred until the earlier of the sale of the related investments or December 31, 2026 and 10% of gains are excluded 

from tax once the investments are held five years plus an additional 5% is excluded at seven years. 

 

Net cash used for operating activities in 2019 was $47,023,000 versus cash used for operating activities of $37,186,000 in 

2018.  Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations in 2019 was $1,742,000.  Net cash provided by 

operating activities of continuing operations was higher primarily due to the deferral of income taxes related to a 1031 

exchange on the sales of 1502 Quarry Drive and 7020 Dorsey Road and the placement of $50 million in two opportunity 

zone funds. 

 

Investing Activities – Net cash provided by investing activities in 2020 was $50,527,000 versus cash used in investing 

activities of $33,819,000 in 2019.  The increase was due primarily to the proceeds on the sale of investments available for 

sale offset by the purchase of investments available for sale, the proceeds from the sale of the three remaining lots at our 

Lakeside Business Park, 1801 62
nd

 Street, Gulf Hammock, and 87 acres form our Ft. Myers property, offset by the 

purchase of property at 1001 Old Philadelphia Road.   

 

Net cash used in investing activities in 2019 was $33,819,000 versus cash provided by investing activities of $90,945,000 

in 2018.  The decrease was due primarily to the proceeds on the sale of investments available for sale offset by the 

purchase of investments available for sale, and the acquisition of Cranberry Run Business Park.   

 

At December 31, 2020 the Company was invested in 32 corporate bonds with individual maturities ranging from 2021 

through 2022.  The unrealized gain on these bonds of $677,000 was recorded as part of comprehensive income and was 

based on the estimated market value by National Financial Services, LLC (“NFS”) obtained from sources that may include 

pricing vendors, broker/dealers who clear through NFS and/or other sources (Level 2).  The Company recorded a realized 

gain of $298,000 in its net investment income related to bonds that were sold in 2020. 

 

Financing Activities – Net cash required by financing activities was $21,838,000 versus $9,144,000 in the same period 

last year primarily due to the increased purchase of company stock in 2020.  

 

Net cash required by financing activities in 2019 was $9,144,000 versus $35,736,000 in 2018 primarily due to the payoff 

of mortgage loans related to the buildings sold in the prior year. 

 

 

Credit Facilities - On February 6, 2019, the Company entered into a First Amendment to the 2015 Credit Agreement (the 

“Credit Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”). The Credit Agreement establishes a five-year 

revolving credit facility with a maximum facility amount of $20 million.  The interest rate under the Credit Agreement will 

be a maximum of 1.50% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR, which may be reduced quarterly to 1.25% or 1.0% over Daily 1 

Month  LIBOR if the Company meets a specified ratio of consolidated debt to consolidated total capital, which excludes 

FRP Riverfront.   A commitment fee of 0.25% per annum is payable quarterly on the unused portion of the commitment 
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but the amount may be reduced to 0.20% or 0.15% if the Company meets a specified ratio of consolidated total debt to 

consolidated total capital. The Credit Agreement contains certain conditions, affirmative financial covenants and negative 

covenants.  As of December 31, 2020, there was no debt outstanding on this revolver, $448,000 outstanding under letters 

of credit and $19,552,000 available for borrowing.  The letters of credit were issued to guarantee certain obligations to 

state agencies related to real estate development.  Most of the letters of credit are irrevocable for a period of one year and 

typically are automatically extended for additional one-year periods.  The letter of credit fee is 1% and applicable interest 

rate would have been 1.14675% on December 31, 2020.  The Credit Agreement contains certain conditions and financial 

covenants, including a minimum tangible net worth and dividend restriction.  As of December 31, 2020, these covenants 

would have limited our ability to pay dividends to a maximum of $228 million in the aggregate.  The Company was in 

compliance with all covenants as of December 31, 2020. 

 

On November 17, 2017, Riverfront Holdings I, LLC (our Dock 79 joint venture) refinanced the Dock 79 project pursuant 

to a loan agreement and deed of trust note entered into with EagleBank , pursuant to which we borrowed a principal sum of 

$90,000,000.  The loan is secured by the Dock 79 real property and improvements, bears a fixed interest rate of 4.125% 

per annum, and has a term of 120 months.  During the first 48 months of the loan term, we made monthly payments of 

interest only, and we currently make monthly payments of principal and interest in equal installments based upon a 30-year 

amortization period.  The loan is a non-recourse loan.  However, all amounts due under the loan documents will become 

immediately due upon an event of default by the joint venture, such events including, without limitation, joint venture's (i) 

failure to: pay, permit inspections or observe covenants under the loan documents, (ii) breach of representations made 

under the loan documents (iii) voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy, and (iv) dissolution, or the dissolution of the 

guarantor.  MidAtlantic Realty Partners, LLC, an affiliate of MRP,  executed a carve-out guaranty in connection with the 

loan. 

 

Cash Requirements –  The Company expended capital of $29,859,000 during 2020 for real estate development including 

investments in joint ventures.  These capital expenditures were funded from cash and investments on hand, cash generated 

from operations and property sales, or borrowings under our credit facilities. 

 

 

 

Non-GAAP Financial Measures. 

  

To supplement the financial results presented in accordance with GAAP, FRP presents a non-GAAP financial measure 

within the meaning of Regulation G promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.  The non-GAAP financial 

measure included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is net operating income (NOI). FRP uses this non-GAAP financial 

measure to analyze its continuing operations and to monitor, assess, and identify meaningful trends in its operating and 

financial performance.  This measure is not, and should not be viewed as, a substitute for GAAP financial measures. 

 
Net Operating Income Reconciliation                       

Twelve months ended 12/31/20 (in thousands)                       

  

 

  

 

  Stabilized   

 

    

  Asset    Joint  Mining  Unallocated  FRP 

  Management   Development   Venture   Royalties   Corporate   Holdings 

  Segment   Segment   Segment   Segment   Expenses   Totals 

Income (loss) from continuing operations   2,944       (3,725 )     413 

 

    9,508       2,582 

 

    11,722 

 Income Tax Allocation   743       (939 )     354 

 

    2,398       651 

 

    3,207 

 Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes   3,687       (4,664 )     767 

 

    11,906       3,233 

 

    14,929 

                                                 

Less:                                               

 Equity in profit of Joint Ventures  —      —      339    —      —      339  

 Gains on sale of buildings  3,689    1,877    —      3,604    —      9,170  

 Unrealized rents   153       —         —         235       —         388   

 Interest income   —         4,133       —         —         3,282       7,415   

Plus:                                               

 Unrealized rents   —         —         15       —         —         15   

 Equity in loss of Joint Venture   —         5,990       —         39       —         6,029   

 Interest Expense   —         —         1,051       —         49       1,100   

 Depreciation/Amortization   652       214       4,744       218       —         5,828   

 Management Co. Indirect   634       1,820       208       289       —         2,951   

 Allocated Corporate Expenses   909       2,108       206       288       —         3,511   

                                                

Net Operating Income (loss)   2,040       (542 )     6,652       8,901       —         17,051   
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Net Operating Income Reconciliation 

Twelve months ended 12/31/19 (in thousands)                       

  

 

  

 

  Stabilized   

 

    

  Asset    Joint  Mining  Unallocated  FRP 

  Management   Development   Venture   Royalties   Corporate   Holdings 

  Segment   Segment   Segment   Segment   Expenses   Totals 

Income (loss) from continuing operations   63       (2,988 )     736 

 

    6,277       4,734 

 

    8,822 

 Income Tax Allocation   23       (1,108 )     458 

 

    2,327       1,262 

 

    2,962 

 Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes   86       (4,096 )     1,194 

 

    8,604       5,996 

 

    11,784 

                                                 

Less:                                               

 Gains on sale of buildings  536    —      —      125    —      661  

 Unrealized rents   5       —         22       —         —         27   

 Interest income   —         2,337       —         —         6,038       8,375   

 Equity in gain of Joint Venture  —      —      123    —      —      123  

Plus:                                               

Unrealized rents   —         —         —         123       —         123   

Equity in loss of Joint Venture   —         2,035       —         42       —         2,077   

 Interest Expense   —         —         1,012       —         42       1,054   

 Depreciation/Amortization   708       214       4,756       177       —         5,855   

 Management Co. Indirect   350       1,773       190       201       —         2,514   

 Allocated Corporate Expenses   646       1,581       160       169       —         2,556   

                                                

Net Operating Income (loss)   1,249       (830 )     7,167       9,191       —         16,777   

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 

The Company has outstanding letters of credit described above under “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” The Company 

has guaranteed debt as described above under “Bryant Street Partnerships”. The Company unconsolidated Joint Ventures 

have debt as described above under “Investments in Joint Ventures”. The Company does not have any other off-balance 

sheet arrangements that either have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on its financial 

condition. 

 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Management of the Company considers the following accounting policies critical to the reported operations of the 

Company: 

 

Accounts Receivable and Unrealized Rents Valuation. The Company is subject to customer credit risk that could affect 

the collection of outstanding accounts receivable and unrealized rents, that is rents recorded on a straight-lined basis.  To 

mitigate these risks, the Company performs credit reviews on all new customers and periodic credit reviews on existing 

customers.  A detailed analysis of late and slow pay customers is prepared monthly and reviewed by senior management.  

The overall collectibility of outstanding receivables and straight-lined rents is evaluated and allowances are recorded as 

appropriate.  Significant changes in customer credit could require increased allowances and affect cash flows. 

 

Net Real Estate Investments and Impairment of Assets. Net real estate investments are recorded at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and depletion.  Provision for depreciation of Net real estate investments is computed using the 

straight-line method based on the following estimated useful lives: 

  Years   

Buildings and improvements 3-39   

 

Depletion of sand and stone deposits is computed on the basis of units of production in relation to estimated reserves.   

 

The Company periodically reviews net real estate investments for potential impairment whenever events or circumstances 

indicate the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable.  This review consists of comparing cap rates on 

recent cash flows and market value estimates to the carrying values of each asset group.  If this review indicates the 

carrying value might exceed fair value then an estimate of future cash flows for the remaining useful life of each property 

is prepared considering anticipated vacancy, lease rates, and any future capital expenditures.  Changes in estimates or 

assumptions could have an impact on the Company’s financials. 

 

All direct and indirect costs, including interest and real estate taxes, associated with the development, construction, leasing 
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or expansion of real estate investments are capitalized as a development cost of the property.  Included in indirect costs is 

an estimate of internal costs associated with development and rental of real estate investments. Changes in estimates or 

assumptions could have an impact on the Company’s financials. 

 

Accounting for Real Estate Investments. The Company accounts for its real estate investments which are not wholly 

owned using either the cost method, the equity method or by consolidation with related non-controlling interest. 

Consolidation is required if the Company controls an investment and is the primary beneficiary.  Equity method is required 

when the Company has significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the investment but is not in 

control or not the primary beneficiary.  Cost method applies when the Company does not have significant influence of the 

operating and financial policies.  Significant judgment is required and regular review as the facts change. 

 

Income Taxes. The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset-and-liability method.  Deferred tax assets and 

liabilities represent items that will result in taxable income or a tax deduction in future years for which the related tax 

expense or benefit has already been recorded in our statement of earnings.  Deferred tax accounts arise as a result of timing 

differences between when items are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements compared with when they are 

recognized in the tax returns.  The Company assesses the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be recovered from future 

taxable income. To the extent recovery is not probable, a valuation allowance is established and included as an expense as 

part of our income tax provision. No valuation allowance was recorded at December 31, 2020, as all deferred tax assets are 

considered more likely than not to be realized.  Significant judgment is required in determining and assessing the impact of 

complex tax laws and certain tax-related contingencies on the provision for income taxes.  As part of the calculation of the 

provision for income taxes, we assess whether the benefits of our tax positions are at least more likely than not of being 

sustained upon audit based on the technical merits of the tax position.  For tax positions that are more likely than not of 

being sustained upon audit, we accrue the largest amount of the benefit that is more likely than not of being sustained in 

our consolidated financial statements.  Such accruals require estimates and judgments, whereby actual results could vary 

materially from these estimates.  Further, a number of years may elapse before a particular matter, for which an established 

accrual was made, is audited and resolved. 

  

INFLATION 

 

Most of the Company’s operating expenses are inflation-sensitive, with inflation generally producing increased costs of 

operations. Substantially all of the Company’s royalty agreements are based on a percentage of the sales price of the related 

mined items.  Minimum royalties and substantially all lease agreements provide escalation provisions. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME – Years ended December 31 

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 

    Years Ended December 31, 

    2020   2019   2018 

Revenues:             
     Lease revenue    $ 14,106       14,318       13,883   

     Mining Royalty and rents     9,477       9,438       8,139   

 Total Revenues     23,583       23,756       22,022   

                          

Cost of operations:                         
     Depreciation, depletion and amortization     5,828       5,855       7,898   

     Operating expenses     3,333       4,134       4,285   

     Environmental remediation recovery     —         —         (465 ) 

     Property taxes     2,826       2,941       2,625   

     Management company indirect     2,951       2,514       1,765   

     Corporate expenses (Note 3 Related Party)     3,511       2,556       3,952   

Total cost of operations     18,449       18,000       20,060   

                          
Total operating profit     5,134       5,756       1,962   

                          
Net investment income, including realized gains (losses) of $298, 

$949, and ($1,195), respectively     7,415       8,375       2,672   

Interest expense     (1,100 )     (1,054 )     (3,103 ) 

Equity in loss of joint ventures     (5,690 )     (1,954 )     (88 ) 

Gain on sale of real estate     9,170       661       40   

                          
Income from continuing operations before income taxes     14,929       11,784       1,483   

Provision for income taxes     3,207       2,962       524   

Income from continuing operations     11,722       8,822       959   

                          
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax     —         6,856       122,129   

                          
Net income     11,722       15,678       123,088   

Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest     (993 )     (499 )     (1,384 ) 

                          
Net income attributable to the Company   $  12,715       16,177       124,472   

                          

Earnings per common share:                         

  Income from continuing operations-                         
    Basic    $ 1.22       0.89       0.10   

    Diluted    $ 1.22       0.89       0.09   

  Discontinued operations-                         
    Basic    $ —         0.69       12.16   

    Diluted    $ —         0.69       12.09   

  Net Income-                         
    Basic    $ 1.33       1.64       12.40   

    Diluted    $ 1.32       1.63       12.32   

                          

Number of shares (in thousands) used in computing:                         
    -basic earnings per common share     9,580       9,883       10,040   

    -diluted earnings per common share     9,609       9,926       10,105   

 

 

See accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME – Years ended December 31 

(In thousands)  

 

 

    Years Ended December 31, 

    2020   2019   2018 

Revenues:             

Net income   

 

$ 11,722       15,678       123,088   

Other comprehensive income (loss) net of tax:             

  Unrealized gain (loss) on investments available for sale,              

     net of income tax effect of ($145), $602, and ($275)     (391 )      1,624       (739 )  

  Minimum pension liability, net of income tax effect of $53, $0 and $0   143    —      —    

Comprehensive income     11,474       17,302       122,349   

             

Less comp. income attributable to noncontrolling interest   (993 )   (499 )   (1,384 ) 

             

Comprehensive income attributable to the Company  $ 12,467    17,801    123,733  

             

             

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

See accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS – As of December 31 

(In thousands, except share data)       

    December 31   December 31 

Assets:   2020   2019 

Real estate investments at cost:                

Land   $ 91,744       84,383  

Buildings and improvements      141,241       147,019  

Projects under construction     4,879       1,056  

     Total investments in properties     237,864       232,458  

Less accumulated depreciation and depletion     34,724       30,271  

     Net investments in properties     203,140       202,187  

                 

Real estate held for investment, at cost     9,151       8,380  

Investments in joint ventures     167,071       160,452  

     Net real estate investments     379,362       371,019  

                 

Cash and cash equivalents 

  

73,909 

   

26,607  

Cash held in escrow 

  

196 

   

186  

Accounts receivable, net     923       546  

Investments available for sale at fair value   75,609    137,867  

Federal and state income taxes receivable   4,621    —    

Unrealized rents 

  

531 

   

554  

Deferred costs     707       890  

Other assets     502       479  

Total assets   $ 536,360       538,148  

                 

Liabilities:                

Secured notes payable   $ 89,964       88,925  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     3,635       2,431  

Other liabilities 

  

1,886 

   

1,978  

Deferred revenue 

  

542 

   

790  

Federal and state income taxes payable   —      504  

Deferred income taxes     56,106       50,111  

Deferred compensation 

  

1,242 

   

1,436  

Tenant security deposits     332       328  

    Total liabilities     153,707       146,503  

  

       

 

Commitments and contingencies                    

  

       

 

Equity:                

Common stock, $.10 par value 

25,000,000 shares authorized, 

9,363,717 and 9,817,429 shares issued 

and outstanding, respectively     936       982 

 

Capital in excess of par value     56,279       57,705  

Retained earnings     309,764       315,278  

Accumulated other comprehensive income, net     675 

 

    923  

     Total shareholders’ equity     367,654       374,888  

Noncontrolling interest MRP 

  

14,999 

   

16,757  

     Total equity 

  

382,653 

   

391,645  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $ 536,360       538,148  

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS – Years ended December 31 

(In thousands) 
  2020   2019   2018 

Cash flows from operating activities:                       

 Net income $ 11,722       15,678       123,088   

 Adjustments to reconcile net income to                       

  net cash provided by continuing operating activities:                       

 Income from discontinued operations, net   —   

 

    (6,856 )     (122,129 ) 

 Depreciation, depletion and amortization   6,050       6,158       8,209   

 Deferred income taxes   5,995       22,130       1,999   

 Equity in loss of joint ventures   5,690       1,954       88   

 Gain on sale of equipment and property   (9,184 )     (674 )     (82 ) 

 Stock-based compensation   1,372       232       1,662   

 Realized (gain) loss on available for sale investments   (298 )      (949 )      1,195   

 Deferred debt issuance cost write-off  902    —      —    

 Net changes in operating assets and liabilities:                       

  Accounts receivable   (377 )      18       51   

  Deferred costs and other assets   27 

 

    (1,072 )     (234 ) 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   956       (350 )      1,384   

  Income taxes payable and receivable   (5,125 )     10,358 

 

    (6,892 ) 

  Other long-term liabilities   883 

 

    2,138 

 

    (1,945 ) 

 Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations   18,613       48,765       6,394   

 Net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations   —   

 

    (1,742 )     (43,580 ) 

 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   18,613 

 

    47,023 

 

    (37,186 ) 

                        

Cash flows from investing activities:                       

 Investments in properties   (17,544 )     (10,434 )     (7,294 ) 

 Investments in joint ventures   (12,315 )     (73,529 )     (71,007 ) 

 Purchases of investments available for sale   (24,584 )     (86,261 )     (446,974 ) 

 Proceeds from sales of investments available for sale   85,735       116,434       279,553   

 Cash held in escrow   (10 )      16       131   

 Proceeds from sale of assets   19,245       8,422       447   

Net cash provided by (used in) investment activities of continuing operations   50,527 

 

    (45,352 )     (245,144 ) 

Net cash provided by investing activities of discontinued operations   —         11,533       336,089   

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   50,527       (33,819 )      90,945   

                        

Cash flows from financing activities:                       

 Distribution to noncontrolling interest   (765 )     (1,392 )     (1,020 ) 

 Repayment of long-term debt   —   

 

    —   

 

    (1,552 ) 

 Repurchase of company stock   (21,312 )     (8,210 )     (5,733 ) 

 Exercise of employee stock options   239       458       1,415   

Net cash used in financing activities of continuing operations   (21,838 )     (9,144 )     (6,890 ) 

Net cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations   —   

 

    —   

 

    (28,846 ) 

Net cash used in financing activities   (21,838 )     (9,144 )     (35,736 ) 

                        

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   47,302       4,060       18,023   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   26,607       22,547       4,524   

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year $ 73,909       26,607       22,547   

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:                       

 Cash paid during the year for:                       

  Interest, net of capitalized amounts $ 960       914       2,851   

  Income taxes (refunded) paid $ 2,244       (26,380 )      50,427   

 

 
See accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

(In thousands, except share amounts) 
                  Accumu-             

                  lated             

                  Other             

                  Compre-   Total         

          Capital in       hensive   Share   Non-     

  Common Stock   Excess of   Retained   Income, net   Holders’   Controlling   Total 

  Shares   Amount   Par Value   Earnings   of tax   Equity   Interest   Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2018   10,014,667     $  1,001       55,636       186,855       38       243,530       21,052       264,582   

                                

 Exercise of stock options   56,232       6       1,409                       1,415               1,415   

 Stock option compensation                   607                       607               607   

 Shares granted to Directors   20,092       2       1,053                       1,055               1,055   

 Shares purchased and cancelled   (121,817 )     (12 )      (701 )     (5,020 )             (5,733 )             (5,733 ) 

 Net income                           124,472               124,472       (1,384 )      123,088   

 Distributions to partners                                                   (1,020 )      (1,020 )  

 Unrealized loss on investment, net                                   (739 )      (739 )              (739 )  

                                                                

Balance at December 31, 2018   9,969,174     $ 997     $ 58,004     $ 306,307     $ (701 )    $ 364,607     $ 18,648     $ 383,255   

                                

 Exercise of stock options   15,034       2       456                       458               458   

 Stock option compensation                   112                       112               112   

 Shares granted to Employee  1,012        50            50        50  

 Shares granted to Directors   1,460       

 

      70                       70               70   

 Shares purchased and cancelled   (169,251 )     (17 )      (987 )     (7,206 )             (8,210 )             (8,210 ) 

 Net income                           16,177               16,177       (499 )      15,678   

 Distributions to partners                                                   (1,392 )      (1,392 )  

 Unrealized gain on investment, net                                   1,624       1,624               1,624   

                                                                

Balance at December 31, 2019   9,817,429     $ 982     $ 57,705     $ 315,278     $ 923     $ 374,888     $ 16,757     $ 391,645   

                                

 Exercise of stock options   12,415       1       238                       239               239   

 Stock option grant compensation                   92                       92               92   

 Restricted stock compensation          250            250        250  

 Shares granted to Employee 

 

11,448 

   

1 

   

529 

           

530 

       

530 

  Shares granted to Directors   12,050       1       499                       500               500   

 Restricted stock award  20,520    2    (2 )                     

 Shares purchased and cancelled   (510,145 )     (51 )      (3,032 )     (18,229 )             (21,312 )             (21,312 ) 

 Net income                           12,715               12,715       (993 )      11,722   

 Distributions to partners                                                   (765 )      (765 )  

 Minimum pension liability, net                  143    143        143  

 Unrealized loss on investment, net                                   (391 )      (391 )              (391 )  

                                                                

Balance at December 31, 2020   9,363,717     $ 936     $ 56,279     $ 309,764     $ 675     $ 367,654     $ 14,999     $ 382,653   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

1. Accounting Policies.  

 

ORGANIZATION - FRP Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) is a holding company engaged in various real estate businesses. 

The segments of the Company include: (i) leasing and management of commercial properties owned by the Company (the 

“Asset Management Segment”), (ii) leasing and management of mining royalty land owned by the Company  (the “Mining 

Royalty Lands Segment”), (ii) real property acquisition, entitlement, development and construction primarily for 

apartment, retail, warehouse, and office buildings either alone or through joint ventures (the “Development Segment”), (iv) 

ownership, leasing and management of buildings through joint ventures (the “Stabilized Joint Venture Segment”). 

 

FRP Holdings, Inc. was incorporated on April 22, 2014 in connection with a corporate reorganization that preceded the 

Spin-off of Patriot Transportation Holding, Inc.  The Company’s predecessor issuer was formed on July 20, 1998.  The 

business of the Company is conducted through our wholly-owned subsidiaries FRP Development Corp., a Maryland 

corporation (“Development”) and Florida Rock Properties, Inc., a Florida corporation (“Properties”), and the various 

subsidiaries of each. 

 

On May 21, 2018, the Company completed the disposition of 40 industrial warehouse properties and three additional land 

parcels to an affiliate of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII, L.P. for $347.2 million. One warehouse property valued at 

$11.7 million was excluded from the sale due to the tenant exercising its right of first refusal to purchase the property.  On 

June 28, 2019, the Company completed the sale of the excluded property to the same buyer for $11.7 million. This resulted 

in the disposition of all of the Company’s industrial flex/office warehouse properties prior to the sale date and constituted a 

major strategic shift and as a result, these properties have been reclassified as discontinued operations for all periods 

presented.  The Asset Management segment currently contains three commercial properties. 

 

CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company inclusive of our 

operating real estate subsidiaries, Development and Properties, and all wholly-owned or controlled entities.  Our 

investments in real estate partnerships which are conducted through limited liability corporations (“LLC”) are also referred 

to as joint ventures. Investments in real estate joint ventures not controlled by the Company are accounted for under the 

equity or cost method of accounting as appropriate (See Note 2). All significant intercompany balances and transactions 

are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Effective July 1, 2017 the Company consolidated the assets (at fair value), liabilities and operating results of our Riverfront 

Investment Partners I, LLC joint venture (“Dock 79”) which was previously accounted for under the equity method.  

Subsequent to the July 1, 2017 consolidation, the ownership of Dock 79 attributable to our partner MRP Realty is reflected 

on our consolidated balance sheet as a noncontrolling interest.  Such noncontrolling interests are reported on the 

Consolidated Balance Sheets within equity but separately from shareholders' equity.  On the Consolidated Statements of 

Income, all of the revenues and expenses from Dock 79 are reported in net income, including both the amounts attributable 

to the Company and the noncontrolling interest.  The amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the noncontrolling 

interest is clearly identified on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments with maturities of three 

months or less at time of purchase to be cash equivalents.  Bank overdrafts consist of outstanding checks not yet presented 

to a bank for settlement, net of cash held in accounts with right of offset.  

 

INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE FOR SALE - The Company determines the appropriate classification of its investments in 

debt securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such determinations at each balance sheet date.  Debt securities are 
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classified as held to maturity when the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity.  

Marketable securities that are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term are classified as 

trading securities and are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recognized in earnings. Debt and 

marketable equity securities not classified as held to maturity or as trading, are classified as available-for-sale, and are 

carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included in the determination of comprehensive 

income and reported in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.  The fair value of securities is determined 

using quoted market prices.  At December 31, 2020, no investments were held for trading purposes or classified as held to 

maturity. 

 

REVENUE AND EXPENSE RECOGNITION - Real estate rental revenue and mining royalties are generally recognized 

when earned under the leases and are considered collectable.  Rental income from leases with scheduled increases or other 

incentives during their term is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Reimbursements of expenses, 

when provided in the lease, are recognized in the period that the expenses are incurred. 

 

Sales of real estate are recognized when the collection of the sales price is reasonably assured and when the Company has 

fulfilled substantially all of its obligations, which are typically as of the closing date. 

 

Accounts receivable are recorded net of discounts and provisions for estimated allowances.  We estimate allowances on an 

ongoing basis by considering historical and current trends.  We record estimated bad debts expense as part of operating 

expenses.  We estimate the net collectibility of our accounts receivable and establish an allowance for doubtful accounts 

based upon this assessment.  Specifically, we analyze the aging of accounts receivable balances, historical bad debts, 

customer concentrations, customer credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer payment terms. 

 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

depletion.  Provision for depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed using the straight-line method based 

on the following estimated useful lives: 

 

      Years 

Building and improvements     3-39 

 

Depletion of sand and stone deposits is computed on the basis of units of production in relation to estimated reserves.  

Reserve estimates are periodically adjusted based upon surveys.   

 

The Company recorded depreciation and depletion expenses for fiscal year 2020, 2019 and 2018, of $5,766,000, 

$5,784,000 and $5,709,000, respectively. 

 

All direct and indirect costs, including interest and real estate taxes, associated with the development, construction, leasing 

or expansion of real estate investments are capitalized as a cost of the property.  Included in indirect costs is an allocation 

of internal costs associated with development of real estate investments.  The cost of routine repairs and maintenance to 

property and equipment is expensed as incurred. 

 

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS – The Company reviews its long-lived assets, which include property and 

equipment and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization for potential impairment annually or whenever events or 

circumstances indicate the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable.  This review consists of 

comparing cap rates on recent cash flows and market value estimates to the carrying values of each asset group.  If this 

review indicates the carrying value might exceed fair value then an estimate of future cash flows for the remaining useful 

life of each property is prepared considering anticipated vacancy, lease rates, and any future capital expenditures.   

 

DEVELOPED PROPERTY RENTALS PURCHASE ACCOUNTING – Acquisitions of rental property, including any 

associated intangible assets, are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.  Any liabilities assumed or incurred are 

recorded at their fair value at the time of acquisition.  The fair value of the acquired property is allocated between land and 
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building (on an as-if vacant basis) based on management’s estimate of the fair value of those components for each type of 

property and to tenant improvements based on the depreciated replacement cost of the tenant improvements, which 

approximates their fair value.  The fair value of the in-place leases is recorded as follows: 

 

 the fair value of leases in-place on the date of acquisition is based on absorption costs for the estimated lease-up 

period in which vacancy and foregone revenue are avoided due to the presence of the acquired leases; 

 the fair value of above and below-market in-place leases based on the present value (using a discount rate that 

reflects the risks associated with the acquired leases) of the difference between contractual rent amounts to be paid 

under the assumed lease and the estimated market lease rates for the corresponding spaces over the remaining non-

cancelable terms of the related leases; and 

 the fair value of intangible tenant or customer relationships. 

 

The Company’s determination of these fair values requires it to estimate market rents for each of the leases and make 

certain other assumptions.  These estimates and assumptions affect the rental revenue, and depreciation and amortization 

expense recognized for these leases and associated intangible assets and liabilities. 

 

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES - The Company uses the equity method to account for its investments in 

Brooksville. BC FRP Realty, and Greenville/Woodfield, in which it has a voting interest of 50% or less and has significant 

influence but does not have control.  The Company uses the cost method to account for its investment in DST Hickory 

Creek because it does not have significant influence over operating and financial policies. The Company uses the equity 

method to account for its investment in Riverfront Investment Partners Phase II, in which it has a voting interest of 80% 

and has significant influence but does not have control as the minority partner has day to day management responsibility 

and veto rights on significant decisions during the construction and lease up phase prior to stabilization.  The Company 

uses the equity method to account for its investment in the Bryant Street Partnerships and 1800 Half Street, in which it has 

a voting interest in excess of 50% because all major decisions are shared equally. Under the equity method, the investment 

is originally recorded at cost and adjusted to recognize the Company’s share of net earnings or losses of the investee, 

limited to the extent of the Company’s investment in and advances to the investee and financial guarantees on behalf of the 

investee that create additional basis.  The Company regularly monitors and evaluates the realizable value of its 

investments.  When assessing an investment for an other-than-temporary decline in value, the Company considers such 

factors as, the performance of the investee in relation to its own operating targets and its business plan, the investee’s 

revenue and cost trends, as well as liquidity and cash position, and the outlook for the overall industry in which the 

investee operates.  From time to time, the Company may consider third party evaluations or valuation reports.  If events 

and circumstances indicate that a decline in the value of these assets has occurred and is other-than-temporary, the 

Company records a charge to investment income (expense). 

 

INCOME TAXES - Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on differences between financial statement and 

tax bases of assets and liabilities using presently enacted tax rates.  Deferred income taxes result from temporary 

differences between pre-tax income reported in the financial statements and taxable income.  The Company recognizes 

liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process.  The first step is to evaluate the tax position for 

recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will 

be sustained on audit.  The second step is to estimate and measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 

50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement.  It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as the 

amounts rely upon the determination of the probability of various possible outcomes.  The Company reevaluates these 

uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis.  This evaluation is based on factors including, but not limited to, changes in 

facts or circumstances, changes in tax law and expiration of statutes of limitations, effectively settled issues under audit, 

and audit activity.  Such a change in recognition or measurement would result in the recognition of a tax benefit or an 

additional charge to the tax provision.  It is the Company's policy to recognize as additional income tax expense the items 

of interest paid and penalties directly related to income taxes. 
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STOCK BASED COMPENSATION – The Company accounts for compensation related to share based plans by 

recognizing the grant date fair value of stock options and other equity-based compensation issued to employees in its 

income statement over the requisite employee service period using the straight-line attribution model.  In addition, 

compensation expense must be recognized for the change in fair value of any awards modified, repurchased or cancelled 

after the grant date.  The fair value of each grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing 

model.  The assumptions used in the model and current year impact are discussed in Note 7. 

 

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN - The Company has a deferred compensation plan, the Management Security Plan 

(MSP) for our President.  The accruals for future benefits are based upon actuarial assumptions. 

 

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE - Basic earnings per common share are based on the weighted average number of 

common shares outstanding during the periods.   Diluted earnings per common share are based on the weighted average 

number of common shares and potential dilution of securities that could share in earnings.  The differences between basic 

and diluted shares used for the calculation are the effect of employee and director stock options and restricted stock. 

 

USE OF ESTIMATES - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 

accepted in the United State requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

Certain accounting policies and estimates are of more significance in the financial statement preparation process than 

others.  The most critical accounting policies and estimates include the economic useful lives of our mining reserves, 

property and equipment, provisions for uncollectible accounts receivable and collectibility of unrealized rents, accounting 

for real estate investments, estimates of exposures related to our insurance claims plans and environmental liabilities, and 

estimates for taxes.  To the extent that actual, final outcomes are different than these estimates, or that additional facts and 

circumstances result in a revision to these estimates, earnings during that accounting period will be affected. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL - Environmental expenditures that benefit future periods are capitalized.  Expenditures that relate to 

an existing condition caused by past operations, and which do not contribute to current or future revenue generation, are 

expensed.  Liabilities are recorded for the estimated amount of expected environmental assessments and/or remedial 

efforts.  Estimation of such liabilities includes an assessment of engineering estimates, continually evolving governmental 

laws and standards, and potential involvement of other potentially responsible parties. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME – Comprehensive income consists of net income and other comprehensive income (loss).  

Other comprehensive income (loss) refers to expenses, gains, and losses that are not included in net income, but rather are 

recorded directly in shareholders’ equity.  

                          

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS – In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue 

from Contracts with Customers” which replaces existing revenue recognition standards and significantly expand the 

disclosure requirements for revenue arrangements. It may be adopted either retrospectively or on a modified retrospective 

basis to new contracts and existing contracts with remaining performance obligations as of the effective date.  Lease 

contracts with customers constitute a materially all of our revenues and are a specific scope exception.  The new standard 

was adopted beginning with the first quarter of 2018 in connection with our revenues not subject to leases and did not have 

a material impact on our financial statements. 

 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)”, which requires lessees to recognize a right-

to-use asset and a lease obligation for all leases.  The Company is not a significant lessee.  Lessors will account for leases 

using an approach that is substantially equivalent to existing accounting standards.  The Company's existing leases will 

continue to be classified as operating leases.  Leases entered into after the effective date of the new standard may be 

classified as operating or sales-type leases, based on specific classification criteria.  Operating leases will continue to have 

a similar pattern of recognition as under current GAAP.  Sales-type lease accounting, however, will result in the 
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recognition of selling profit at lease commencement, with interest income recognized over the life of the lease.  The new 

standard also includes a change to the treatment of internal leasing costs and legal costs, which can no longer be 

capitalized.  Only incremental costs of a lease that would not have been incurred if the lease had not been obtained may be 

deferred as initial direct costs.  The new standard also requires lessors to exclude from variable payments certain lessor 

costs, such as real estate taxes, that the lessor contractually requires the lessee to pay directly to a third party on its behalf.  

The new standard requires our expected credit loss related to the collectability of lease receivables to be reflected as an 

adjustment to the line item Lease Revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the credit loss related to the 

collectibility of lease receivables was recognized in the line item Operating expenses and was not significant. Additionally, 

the new standard requires lessors to allocate the consideration in a contract between the lease component (right to use an 

underlying asset) and non-lease component (transfer of a good or service that is not a lease).  However, lessors are 

provided with a practical expedient, elected by class of underlying asset, to account for lease and non-lease components of 

a contract as a single lease component if certain criteria are met.  The terms of the Company's leases generally provide that 

the Company is entitled to receive reimbursements from tenants for operating expenses such as real estate taxes, insurance 

and common area maintenance, in addition to the base rental payments for use of the underlying asset.  Under the new 

standard, common area maintenance is considered a nonlease component of a lease contract, which would be accounted for 

under Topic 606.  However, the Company will apply the practical expedient to account for its lease and non-lease 

components as a single, combined operating lease component. While the timing of recognition should remain the same, the 

Company is no longer presenting reimbursement revenue from tenants separately in our Consolidated Statements of 

Income beginning January 1, 2019.  The new standard along with the adoption of ASU No. 2018-11, Leases - Targeted 

Improvements which the FASB issued in July 2018, was adopted effective January 1, 2019 and we have elected to use 

January 1, 2019 as our date of initial application. We elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the 

transition guidance within the new standard.  By adopting these practical expedients, we were not required to reassess (1) 

whether an existing contract meets the definition of a lease; (2) the lease classification for existing leases; or (3) costs 

previously capitalized as initial direct costs.  The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our financial 

statements. 

 

2. Investments in Joint Ventures. 

 

Brooksville.  In 2006, the Company entered into a Joint Venture Agreement with Vulcan Materials Company to jointly 

own and develop approximately 4,300 acres of land near Brooksville, Florida.  Under the terms of the joint venture, FRP 

contributed its fee interest in approximately 3,443 acres formerly leased to Vulcan under a long-term mining lease which 

had a net book value of $2,548,000.  Vulcan is entitled to mine a portion of the property until 2032 and pay royalties to the 

Company.  FRP also contributed $3,018,000 for one-half of the acquisition costs of a 288-acre contiguous parcel. Vulcan 

contributed 553 acres that it owned as well as its leasehold interest in the 3,443 acres that it leased from FRP and 

$3,018,000 for one-half of the acquisition costs of the 288-acre contiguous parcel.  The joint venture is jointly controlled 

by Vulcan and FRP.  Distributions will be made on a 50-50 basis except for royalties and depletion specifically allocated to 

the Company. Other income for the year ended December 31, 2020 includes a loss of $39,000 representing the Company’s 

portion of the loss of this joint venture. 

 

BC FRP Realty (Windlass Run). In 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with a Baltimore development company 

(St. John Properties, Inc.)  to jointly develop the remaining lands of our Windlass Run Business Park.   The 50/50 

partnership initially calls for FRP to combine its 25 acres (valued at $7,500,000) with St. John Properties’ adjacent 10 

acres fronting on a major state highway (valued at $3,239,536) which resulted in an initial cash distribution of $2,130,232 

to FRP in May 2016.  Thereafter, the venture will jointly develop the combined properties into a multi-building business 

park to consist of approximately 329,000 square feet of single-story office space.  On September 28, 2017 BC FRP Realty, 

LLC obtained $17,250,000 of construction financing commitments for 4 buildings through September 15, 2022 from 

BB&T at 2.5% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The balance outstanding on these loans at December 31, 2020 was 

$12,127,000. 

 

RiverFront Holdings II, LLC. On May 4, 2018, the Company and MRP formed a partnership to develop Phase II of our 

RiverFront on the Anacostia project and closed on construction financing with Eagle Bank.  The Company has contributed 



 
 66 

its land with an agreed value of $16.3 million (cost basis of $4.6 million) and $6.2 million of cash.  MRP contributed 

capital of $5.6 million to the partnership including development costs paid prior to the formation of the partnership and a 

$725,000 development fee. The Company further agreed to fund $13.75 million preferred equity financing at 7.5% interest 

rate all of which has been advanced.  The Company records interest income for this loan and a loss in equity in ventures 

for our 80% equity in the partnership.  The loan from Eagle Bank allows draws of up to $71 million during construction at 

an interest rate of 3.25% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The loan is interest only and matures in 36 months with a 12-month 

extension assuming completion of construction and at least one occupancy.  There is a provision for an additional 60 

months extension with a 30-year amortization of principal at 2.15% over seven-year US Treasury Constant if NOI is 

sufficient for a 9% yield.  The loan balance at December 31, 2020 was $65,070,000.  The Company’s equity interest in the 

joint venture is accounted for under the equity method of accounting through the construction and lease up period as MRP 

acts as the administrative agent of the joint venture and oversees and controls the day to day operations of the project. 

 

Bryant Street Partnerships.  On December 24, 2018 the Company and MRP formed four partnerships to purchase and 

develop approximately five acres of land at 500 Rhode Island Ave NE, Washington, D.C.  This property is the first phase 

of the Bryant Street Master Plan.  The property is located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new 

communities development program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.  The Company 

contributed cash of $32 million in exchange for a 61.36% common equity in the partnership.  The Company also 

contributed cash of $23 million as preferred equity financing at 8.0% interest rate.  The Company records interest income 

for this loan and a loss in equity in ventures for our 61.36% equity in the partnership.  On March 13, 2019 the partnerships 

closed on a construction loan with a group of lenders for up to $132 million at an interest rate of 2.25% over Daily 1 

Month LIBOR.  The loan matures March 13, 2023 with up to two extensions of one year each upon certain conditions 

including, for the first, a debt service coverage of at least 1.10 and a loan-to-value that does not exceed 65% and for the 

second, a debt service coverage of 1.25 and a maximum loan-to-value of 65%.  Borrower may prepay a portion of the 

unpaid principal to satisfy such tests. The loan balance at December 31, 2020 was $74,923,000. The Company and MRP 

guaranteed $26 million of the loan in exchange for a 1% lower interest rate.  The Company and MRP have a side 

agreement limiting the Company’s guarantee to its proportionate ownership.  The value of the guarantee was calculated at 

$1.9 million based on the present value of the 1% interest savings over the anticipated 48 month term.  This amount is 

included as part of the Company’s investment basis and is amortized to expense over the 48 months.  The Company’s 

equity interest in the joint venture is accounted for under the equity method of accounting as all the major decisions are 

shared equally. 

 

Hyde Park. On January 27, 2018 the Company entered into a loan agreement with a Baltimore developer to be the 

principal capital source of a residential development venture in Essexshire now known as “Hyde Park.”  We have 

committed up to $3.5 million in exchange for an interest rate of 10% and a preferred return of 20% after which the 

Company is also entitled to a portion of proceeds from sale.  Entitlements for the development of the property are 

complete, a homebuilder is under contract to purchase all of the 126 recorded building lots.  The first phase of settlement 

occurred in May 2020, resulting in a $2.67 million principal and interest payment, with subsequent payments of $1.13 

million in principal and interest payments in the third quarter. 

 

DST Hickory Creek.  In July 2019, the Company invested $6 million in 1031 proceeds from two sales in 2019 into a 

Delaware Statutory Trust (DST) known as CS1031 Hickory Creek Apartments, DST.  The Company is 26.65% beneficial 

owner and receives monthly distributions. The DST owns a 294-unit garden-style apartment community consisting of 19 

three-story apartment buildings containing 273,940 rentable square feet on approximately 20.4 acres of land.  The property 

was constructed in 1984 and substantially renovated in 2016.  The DST purchased the property in April, 2019 for 

$45,600,000 with ten-year financing obtained for $29,672,000 at 3.74% with a 30-year amortization period, interest only 

for five years. The Company’s equity interest in the trust is accounted for under the cost method because we don’t have 

significant influence over the operating and financial policies.  Monthly distributions are recorded as equity in gain or loss 

of joint ventures. Distributions of $339,000 were received in 2020. 

 

Amber Ridge.  On June 26, 2019 the Company entered into a loan agreement with a Baltimore developer to be the 

principal capital source of a residential development venture in Prince Georges County, Maryland known as “Amber 
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Ridge.”  We have committed up to $18.5 million in exchange for an interest rate of 10% and a preferred return of 20% 

after which the Company is also entitled to a portion of proceeds from sale.  This project will hold 187 single-family town 

homes.  We are currently pursuing entitlements and have two homebuilders under contract to purchase all of the 187 units 

upon completion of development infrastructure. 

 

1800 Half Street.  On December 20, 2019 the Company and MRP formed a joint venture to acquire and develop a mixed-

use project located at 1800 Half Street, Washington, D.C.  This property is located in the Buzzard Point area of 

Washington, DC, less than half a mile downriver from Dock 79 and the Maren.  It lies directly between our two acres on 

the Anacostia currently under lease to Vulcan and Audi Field, the home stadium of the DC United.  The project is located 

in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established by 

Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.  The Company contributed cash of $37.3 million.  MRP will contribute 

the remainder of its equity in 2020. The land was acquired in two pieces over the first half of 2020.  On June 26, 2020 the 

partnership closed on a construction loan with Truist Bank for up to $74 million at an interest rate of 2.25% over Daily 1 

Month LIBOR.  The loan matures June 26, 2024 with one extension of two years requiring a .25% fee, paying principal 

monthly under a 30-year amortization schedule, and meeting a 9.9% debt yield after the first year.  The ten-story structure 

will have 344 apartments and 11,246 square feet of ground floor retail.  The Company’s equity interest in the joint venture 

is accounted for under the equity method of accounting because all major decisions are shared equally. 

 

Greenville/Woodfield Partnerships. On December 23, 2019 the Company and Woodfield Development formed a joint 

venture to develop a mixed-use project in Greenville SC known as .408 Jackson located across the street from Greenville’s 

minor league baseball stadium.  The project will hold 227 multifamily units and 4,700 square feet of retail space.  It is 

located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established 

by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017.  On April 28, 2020 the partnership closed on a construction loan with 

First National Bank of Pennsylvania for up to $36 million at an interest rate of 2.00% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The 

loan matures on April 28, 2025 and the payment terms are interest only through April 28, 2024 and fixed principal 

payments of $17,765 plus interest through April 28, 2025 when all unpaid principal is due.   There is an option of one 

extension of two years requiring a .1% fee, maintaining a 1.20 to 1 Debt Service Coverage Ratio, the Loan is free from 

utstanding default events and the appraisal value is 60% of the loan amount.  If extension is accepted principal payments of 

$17,765 plus interest will continue until maturity when all unpaid principal is due. The Company contributed cash of $9.7 

million in exchange for a 40% common equity in the joint venture.  The Company’s equity interest in the joint venture is 

accounted for under the equity method of accounting through the construction and lease up period.  Woodfield  personally 

guaranteed the loan and will be managing the projects day to day operations.  Major decisions for the entity must be made 

unanimously between both members. 

 

On December 23, 2019 the Company and Woodfield formed a joint venture to develop a 200-unit multifamily apartment 

project located at 1430 Hampton Avenue, Greenville, SC.  The project is located in an Opportunity Zone, which provides 

tax benefits in the new communities’ development program as established by Congress in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 

2017.  The Company contributed $6.2 million in exchange for a 40% common equity in the joint venture.  On February 

14, 2020, Woodfield Riverside OZB, LLC closed on a construction loan with Truist Bank for up to $22.8 million at an 

interest rate of 2.25% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR. When the Certificate of Occupancy is received, the interest rate reduces 

to 2.05% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR.  The loan matures February 10, 2024 with two 1 year extension options after initial 

48 month term amortizing payments over 30 years, and meeting Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.25 to 1.0.  

The loan balance at December 31, 2020 was $1,914,000. The Company’s equity interest in the joint venture is accounted 

for under the equity method of accounting through the construction and lease up period.  Woodfield personally guaranteed 

the loan and will be managing the projects day to day operations.  Major decisions for the entity must be made 

unanimously between both members.   

 

 

Investments in Joint Ventures (in thousands): 

 
                            The   
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                            Company's   

                

 

    

 

    Share of  Profit   

     Common     Total     Total Assets of     Profit (Loss)      (Loss) of  the   

    Ownership     Investment     The Partnership     Of the Partnership      Partnership (1)   

                

As of December 31, 2020                                

Brooksville Quarry, LLC   50.00 %  $ 7,499     14,347     (78 )   (39 ) 

BC FRP Realty, LLC 

 

50.00 % 

 

5,184 

  

22,747 

  

(411 ) 

 

(207 ) 

RiverFront Holdings II, LLC  80.00 %  23,533   108,538   (4,573 )  (3,907 ) 

Bryant Street Partnerships  61.36 %  60,159   173,814   (836 )  (2,130 ) 

Hyde Park     591   591   —    —   

DST Hickory Creek  26.65 %  6,000   47,761   (367 )  339  

Amber Ridge Loan     10,026   10,026   —    —   

1800 Half St. Owner, LLC  61.37 %  37,875   54,275   158   164  

Greenville/Woodfield Partnerships  40.00 %  16,204   46,457   182   90  

   Total        $ 167,071     478,556       (5,925 )     (5,690 ) 

                

As of December 31, 2019                                

Brooksville Quarry, LLC   50.00 %  $ 7,499     14,316     (84 )   (42 ) 

BC FRP Realty, LLC 

 

50.00 % 

 

5,391 

  

22,969 

  

(1,114 ) 

 

(591 ) 

RiverFront Holdings II, LLC  80.00 %  25,975   88,235   (95 )  (871 ) 

Bryant Street Partnerships  61.36 %  58,353   96,477   260   (573 ) 

Hyde Park     3,492   3,492   —    —   

DST Hickory Creek  26.65 %  6,000   49,369   (168 )  123  

Amber Ridge Loan     509   509   —    —   

1800 Half St. Owner, LLC  59.73 %  37,314   40,161   —    —   

Greenville/Woodfield Partnerships  40.00 %  15,919   19,214   —    —   

   Total        $       160,452     334,742       (1,201 )     (1,954 ) 

                

(1): RiverFront Holdings II, LLC includes $286,000 in 2020 and $788,000 in 2019 for the Company’s share of preferred 

interest.  Bryant Street Partnerships includes $1,146,000 in 2020 and $444,000 in 2019 for the Company’s share of 

preferred interest and $471,000 in 2020 and $373,000 in 2019 for amortization of guarantee liability related to the Bryant 

Street loan. 

 

The Company’s Investments in Joint Ventures as of December 31, 2020 are summarized in the following two tables (in 

thousands): 
  As of December 31, 2020   Total 

  RiverFront   Bryant Street   DST Hickory   1800 Half St.   Greenville/   Apartment/ 
  Holdings II, LLC   Partnership   Creek   Partnership   Woodfield   Mixed Use 

                        

Investments in real estate, net $  105,737       173,560       45,379       37,452       42,668     
 

$ 404,796   
Cash and cash equivalents   2,626       111       1,202       14,011       3,554       21,504   
Unrealized rents & receivables   13       58       775       2       0       848   
Deferred costs   162       85       405       2,810       235       3,697   

   Total Assets $  108,538       173,814       47,761       54,275       46,457     $ 430,845   

                                              
 

  
Secured notes payable $  64,982       72,471       29,291       0       1,776     $ 168,520   
Other liabilities   4,189       22,952       107       1,953       4,774       33,975   
Capital - FRP   34,667       58,559       4,894       37,466       15,963       151,549   

Capital - Third Parties   4,700       19,832       13,469       14,856       23,944       76,801   

   Total Liabilities and Capital $  108,538       173,814       47,761       54,275       46,457     $ 430,845   
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  As of December 31, 2020     

  Brooksville   BC FRP   

 

  Amber Ridge   Apartment/   Grand 
  Quarry, LLC   Realty, LLC   Hyde Park   Loan   Mixed Use   Total 

                        
Investments in real estate, net.  $ 14,287       22,067       591       10,026       404,796      $ 451,767   
Cash and cash equivalents   55       90       0       0       21,504       21,649   
Unrealized rents & receivables   0       254       0       0       848       1,102   
Deferred costs   5       336       0       0       3,697       4,038   

   Total Assets  $ 14,347       22,747       591       10,026       430,845     $ 478,556   

                                                
Secured notes payable  $ 0       12,370       0       0       168,520     $ 180,890   
Other liabilities   28       123       0       0       33,975       34,126   
Capital - FRP   7,499       5,127       591       10,026       151,549       174,792   
Capital - Third Parties   6,820       5,127       0       0       76,801       88,748   

   Total Liabilities and Capital  $ 14,347       22,747       591       10,026       430,845     $ 478,556   

                        

 

The Company’s capital recorded by the unconsolidated Joint Ventures is $7,778,000 more than the Investment in Joint 

Ventures reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet due to the lower basis in property contributed. 

 

The Company’s Investments in Joint Ventures as of December 31, 2019 are summarized in the following two tables (in 

thousands): 
  As of December 31, 2019   Total 

  RiverFront   Bryant Street   DST Hickory   1800 Half St.   Greenville/   Apartment/ 
  Holdings II, LLC   Partnership   Creek   Partnership   Woodfield   Mixed Use 

                        
Investments in real estate, net $  87,521       95,903       46,685       14,391       1,889      $ 246,389   
Cash and cash equivalents   630       387       1,764       25,770       17,325       45,876   
Unrealized rents & receivables   82       158       446       0       0       686   
Deferred costs   2       29       474       0       0       505   

    

Total Assets $  88,235       96,477       49,369       40,161       19,214     $ 293,456   

                                              
 

  
Secured notes payable $  38,564       1,660       29,246       0       0     $ 69,470   
Other liabilities   6,771       17,183       120       1,363       1,889       27,326   
Capital - FRP   37,284       57,479       6,000       37,314       15,919       153,996   
Capital - Third Parties   5,616       20,155       14,003       1,484       1,406       42,664   

    

Total Liabilities and Capital $  88,235       96,477       49,369       40,161       19,214     $ 293,456   

 
  

 As of December 31, 2019     

  Brooksville   BC FRP   

 

  Amber Ridge   Apartment/   Grand 

  Quarry, LLC   Realty, LLC   Hyde Park   Loan   Mixed Use   Total 

                        
Investments in real estate, net.  $ 14,293       22,423       3,492       509       246,389      $ 287,106   
Cash and cash equivalents   18       15       0       0       45,876       45,909   
Unrealized rents & receivables   0       220       0       0       686       906   
Deferred costs   5       311       0       0       505       821   

   Total Assets  $ 14,316       22,969       3,492       509       293,456     $ 334,742   

                                                
Secured notes payable  $ 0       12,103       0       0       69,470     $ 81,573   
Other liabilities   2       196       0       0       27,326       27,524   
Capital - FRP   7,500       5,335       3,492       509       153,996       170,832   
Capital - Third Parties   6,814       5,335       0       0       42,664       54,813   

   Total Liabilities and Capital  $ 14,316       22,969       3,492       509       293,456      $ 334,742   
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The amount of consolidated retained earnings for these joint ventures was $(8,278,000) and $(4,127,000) as of December 

31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. 

 

 

The income statements of RiverFront Holdings II, LLC are as follows (in thousands): 

 
    RiverFront   RiverFront   RiverFront   RiverFront 

    Holdings II, LLC.   Holdings II, LLC.   Holdings II, LLC.   Holdings II, LLC. 

    Total JV   Company Share   Total JV   Company Share 

Maren   Year ended   Year ended   Year ended   Year ended 

    December 31,   December 31,   December 31,   December 31, 

    2020   2020   2019   2019 

Revenues:                                 

    Rental Revenue   $ 2,825     $ 2,260     $ —       $ —     

    Revenue – other     233       186       —         —     

Total Revenues     3,058       2,446       —         —     

                                  

Cost of operations:                                 

     Depreciation and amortization     2,432       1,946       —         —     

     Operating expenses     1,795       1,435       95       76   

     Property taxes     331       265       —         —     

Total cost of operations     4,558       3,646       95       76   

                                  

Total operating profit     (1,500 )     (1,200 )     (95 )     (76 ) 

Interest expense     (3,073 )     (2,707 )     —         (795 ) 

                                  

Net loss before tax     (4,573 )     (3,907 )     (95 )     (871 ) 

 

 

The income statements of the Bryant Partnerships are as follows (in thousands): 

 
    Bryant Street   Bryant Street 

    Partnerships   Partnerships 

    Total JV   Company Share 

Bryant   Year ended   Year ended 

    December 31,   December 31, 

    2020   2020 

Revenues:                 

    Rental Revenue   $ —       $ —     

    Revenue – other     5       3   

Total Revenues     5       3   

                  

Cost of operations:                 

     Depreciation and amortization     184       113   

     Operating expenses     483       297   

     Property taxes     17       10   

Total cost of operations     684       420   

                  

Total operating profit     (679 )     (417 ) 

Interest expense     (157 )     (1,713 ) 

                  

Net loss before tax     (836 )     (2,130 ) 
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3. Related Party Transactions. 

 

The Company is a party to a Transition Services Agreement which resulted from our January 30, 2015 spin-off of Patriot 

Transportation Holding, Inc. (Patriot).  The Transition Services Agreement sets forth the terms on which Patriot will 

provide to FRP certain services that were shared prior to the Spin-off, including the services of certain employees and 

executive officers.  The boards of the respective companies amended and extended this agreement for one year effective 

April 1, 2020. 

 

The consolidated statements of income reflect charges and/or allocation from Patriot for these services of $1,305,000 and 

$1,389,000 for 2020 and 2019, respectively.  Included in the charges above are amounts recognized for corporate 

executive stock-based compensation expense.  These charges are reflected as part of corporate expenses. 

 

To determine these allocations between FRP and Patriot as set forth in the Transition Services Agreement, we employ an 

allocation method to allocate said expenses and thus we believe that the allocations to FRP are a reasonable approximation 

of the costs related to FRP’s operations, but any such related-party transactions cannot be presumed to be carried out on an 

arm’s-length basis.  

 

 

4. Debt. 

 

Debt is summarized as follows (in thousands): 

    December 31,   December 31, 

    2020   2019 

Revolving credit agreements   $ —         —     

Riverfront permanent loan     89,964       88,925   

      89,964       88,925   

Less portion due within one year     —         —     

    $ 89,964       88,925   

 

The aggregate amount of principal payments, excluding the revolving credit, due subsequent to December 31, 2020 is: 

2021 - $127,000; 2022 - $1,556,000; 2023 - $1,622,000; 2024 - $1,690,000; 2025 and subsequent years - $84,969,000.    

On February 6, 2019, the Company entered into a First Amendment to the 2015 Credit Agreement (the “Credit 

Agreement”) with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”), effective February 6, 2019.  The Credit Agreement modifies 

the Company’s prior Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo dated January 30, 2015.  The Credit Agreement establishes a 

five-year revolving credit facility with a maximum facility amount of $20 million.  The interest rate under the Credit 

Agreement will be a maximum of 1.50% over Daily 1 Month LIBOR, which may be reduced quarterly to 1.25% or 1.0% 

over Daily 1 Month LIBOR if the Company meets a specified ratio of consolidated debt to consolidated total capital, as 

defined which excludes FRP Riverfront.   A commitment fee of 0.25% per annum is payable quarterly on the unused 

portion of the commitment but the amount may be reduced to 0.20% or 0.15% if the Company meets a specified ratio of 

consolidated total debt to consolidated total capital. The Credit Agreement contains certain conditions, affirmative 

financial covenants and negative covenants.  As of December 31, 2020, there was no debt outstanding on this revolver, 

$448,000 outstanding under letters of credit and $19,552,000 available for borrowing.  The letters of credit were issued to 

guarantee certain obligations to state agencies related to real estate development.  Most of the letters of credit are 

irrevocable for a period of one year and typically are automatically extended for additional one-year periods.  The letter of 

credit fee is 1% and applicable interest rate would have been 1.14675% on December 31, 2020.  The credit agreement 

contains certain conditions and financial covenants, including a minimum tangible net worth and dividend restriction.  As 

of December 31, 2020, these covenants would have limited our ability to pay dividends to a maximum of $228 million 
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combined.  The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of December 31, 2020. 

 

On November 17, 2017, Riverfront Holdings I, LLC (the "Joint Venture") refinanced the Dock 79 project pursuant to a 

Loan Agreement and Deed of Trust Note entered into with EagleBank ("Loan Documents").  The Joint Venture, which 

was formed between the Company and MRP in 2014 in connection with the development of the Riverfront on the 

Anacostia property, borrowed a principal sum of $90,000,000 in connection with the refinancing.  The loan is secured by 

the Dock 79 real property and improvements, bears a fixed interest rate of 4.125% per annum and has a term of 120 

months.  During the first 48 months of the loan term, the Joint Venture will make monthly payments of interest only, and 

thereafter, make monthly payments of principal and interest in equal installments based upon a 30-year amortization 

period.  The loan is a non-recourse loan.  However, all amounts due under the Loan Documents will become immediately 

due upon an event of default by the Joint Venture, such events including, without limitation, Joint Venture's (i) failure to: 

pay, permit inspections or observe covenants under the Loan Documents, (ii) breach of representations made under the 

Loan Documents (iii) voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy, and (iv) dissolution, or the dissolution of the guarantor.  MRP 

has executed a carve-out guaranty in connection with the loan. 

 

Debt cost amortization of $1,039,000 was recorded in 2020 (including $902,000 due to accelerated amortization of 

deferred loan fees at Dock 79 in anticipation of early refinancing in the first quarter of 2021). During 2020 and 2019, the 

Company capitalized interest costs of $3,762,000 and $2,889,000, respectively. 

 

 

5. Leases. 

 

At December 31, 2020, the total carrying value of property owned by the Company which is leased or held for lease to 

others is summarized as follows (in thousands): 

 

Construction aggregates property   $ 35,093   

Commercial property     61,823   

      96,916   

less accumulated depreciation and depletion     14,813   

    $ 82,103   

 

The minimum future straight-lined rentals due the Company on noncancelable leases as of December 31, 2020 are as 

follows: 2021 - $10,082,000; 2022 - $3,806,000; 2023 - $3,295,000; 2024 - $3,239,000; 2025 - $3,183,000; 2026 and 

subsequent years $13,444,000. 

 

 

6. Earnings per Share. 

 

The following details the computations of the basic and diluted earnings per common share (in thousands, except per share 

amounts): 

    Years Ended December 31 

    2020   2019   2018 

Common shares:             
              
Weighted average common shares                         
 outstanding during the period -                         
 shares used for basic earnings                         
 per common share     9,580       9,883       10,040   
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Common shares issuable under share                         
 based payment plans which are                         
 potentially dilutive     29       43       65   

                          
Common shares used for diluted                         
 earnings per common share     9,609       9,926       10,105   

                          
Income from continuing operations   $  11,722       8,822       959   

Discontinued operations   $ —         6,856       122,129   

Net income attributable to the Company   $  12,715       16,177       124,472   

                          
Basic earnings per common share:                         
  Income from continuing operations   $ 1.22       0.89       0.10   

  Discontinued operations   $ —         0.69       12.16   

 Net income attributable to the Company   $ 1.33       1.64       12.40   

                          
Diluted earnings per common share                         
  Income from continuing operations   $ 1.22       0.89       0.09   

  Discontinued operations   $ —         0.69       12.09   

 Net income attributable to the Company   $ 1.32       1.63       12.32   

 

 

For 2020 and 2019, 53,545 and 19,950 shares, respectively, attributable to outstanding stock options were excluded from 

the calculation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.   

 

During 2020 the Company repurchased 510,145 shares at an average cost of $41.78.  During 2019 the Company 

repurchased 169,251 shares at an average cost of $48.51.  During 2018 the Company repurchased 121,817 shares at an 

average cost of $47.06. 

 

7. Stock-Based Compensation Plans. 

 

The Company has two Stock Option Plans (the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2016 Equity Incentive Option Plan) 

under which options for shares of common stock were granted to directors, officers and key employees.  The 2016 plan 

permits the grant of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, or stock awards. 

 The options awarded under the plans have similar characteristics.  All stock options are non-qualified and expire ten years 

from the date of grant.  Stock based compensation awarded to directors, officers and employees are exercisable 

immediately or become exercisable in cumulative installments of 20% or 25% at the end of each year following the date of 

grant.  When stock options are exercised the Company issues new shares after receipt of exercise proceeds and taxes due, 

if any, from the grantee.  The number of common shares available for future issuance was 439,248 at December 31, 2020. 

 

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes valuation model for estimating fair value of stock compensation for options 

awarded to officers and employees.  Each grant is evaluated based upon assumptions at the time of grant.  The assumptions 

were no dividend yield, expected volatility between 29% and 41%, risk-free interest rate of 1.0% to 2.9% and expected life 

of 3.0 to 7.0 years. 

 

The dividend yield of zero is based on the fact that the Company does not pay cash dividends and has no present intention 

to pay cash dividends.  Expected volatility is estimated based on the Company’s historical experience over a period 

equivalent to the expected life in years.  The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury constant maturity interest 

rate at the date of grant with a term consistent with the expected life of the options granted.   The expected life calculation 
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is based on the observed and expected time to exercise options by the employees. 

 

On May 21, 2018, under the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan change-in-control clause, all unvested stock options held by the 

Company’s named executive officers became vested and fully exercisable.  Included in stock compensation expense was 

$402,000 for the vesting of option grants from 2016 and 2017 due to the asset disposition. 

 

The Company recorded the following stock compensation expense in its consolidated statement of income (in thousands): 

 

    Years Ended December 31, 

    2020   2019   2018 

Stock option grants   $ 92       112       607   

Restricted stock awards granted in 2020   250    —       —     

Employee stock grant   530    —       —      

Unrestricted employee stock award   

 

—          50       —      

Annual director stock award   

 

500       70       1,055   

    $ 1,372       232       1,662   

 

 

A summary of changes in outstanding options is presented below (in thousands, except share and per share amounts): 

 

      Weighted   Weighted   Weighted 

  Number   Average   Average   Average 

  of   Exercise   Remaining   Grant Date 

Options Shares   Price   Term (yrs)   Fair Value(000's) 

Outstanding at 

                 January 1, 2018 

 

174,510 

  

$ 28.70 

   

6.0 

  

$ 1,901 

     Granted 

 

29,260 

  

$ 45.97 

      

$ 427 

     Exercised 

 

(56,232 ) 

 

$ 25.17 

      

$ (546 ) 

Outstanding at 

                 December 31, 2018 

 

147,538 

  

$ 33.48 

   

6.7 

  

$ 1,782 

     Exercised 

 

(15,034 ) 

 

$ 30.42 

      

$ (151 ) 

Outstanding at 

                 December 31, 2019 

 

132,504 

  

$ 33.82 

   

5.8 

  

$ 1,631 

     Exercised 

 

(12,415 ) 

 

$ 19.23 

      

$ (100 ) 

Outstanding at                               

  December 31, 2020   120,089     $ 35.33       5.3     $ 1,531   

Exercisable at                               

  December 31, 2020   107,741     $ 34.12       5.0     $ 1,327   

Vested during                               

  twelve months ended                               

  December 31, 2020   5,967                     $ 94   

 

The following table summarizes information concerning stock options outstanding at December 31, 2020: 

 

        Shares      Weighted     Weighted   

Range of Exercise       under     Average     Average   

Prices per Share       Option     Exercise Price   Remaining Life 
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Non-exercisable:                             

$37.26 - $45.97       12,348       $  45.93       7.9  Years 

               

Exercisable:                             

$16.71 - $24.75       14,100         16.72       .9   

$24.76 - $37.25       35,854         26.24       3.3   

$37.26 - $45.97       57,787         43.25       7.0   

        107,741       $ 34.12       5.0  Years 

Total       120,089       $ 35.33       5.3  Years 

 

 

The aggregate intrinsic value of exercisable in-the-money options was $1,239,000 and the aggregate intrinsic value of 

outstanding in-the-money options was $1,240,000 based on the market closing price of $45.55 on December 31, 2020 less 

exercise prices.  

 

The unrecognized compensation cost of options granted to FRP employees but not yet vested as of December 31, 2020 was 

$198,000, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.9 years.   

 

Gains of $312,000 were realized by option holders during the year ended December 31, 2020. 

 

A summary of changes in restricted stock awards is presented below (in thousands, except share and per share amounts): 

 

        Weighted   Weighted   Weighted 

    Number   Average   Average   Average 

    Of   Exercise   Remaining   Grant Date 

Restricted stock   Shares   Price   Term (yrs)   Fair Value(000's) 

         

Outstanding at January 1, 2020     0              

    Granted     20,520     $ 46.30         $ 950   

Outstanding at December 31, 2020     20,520     $ 46.30     3.4   $ 950   

 

Total compensation cost of restricted stock granted but not yet vested as of December 31, 2020 was $700,000 which is 

expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.6 years.   

 

 

8. Income Taxes.   

 

The provision for income tax expense included in the financial statements (in thousands): 

 

    Years Ended December 31, 

    2020   2019   2018 

Included in Net income:                         
  Continuing operations   $ 3,207       2,962       524   

  Discontinued operations     -       2,542       45,286   

      3,207       5,504       45,810   

Comprehensive income     (92 )     602 

 

    (275 ) 

                          
Total tax expense   $ 3,115       6,106       45,535   
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The provision for income taxes (income tax benefit) consists of the following (in thousands): 

 

    Year Ended December 31,  

    2020   2019   2018 

  Current:                           

    Federal     $ (2,667 )     (8,225 )     28,512   

    State       (213 )     (7,799 )     15,024   

          (2,880 )      (16,024 )      43,536   

  Deferred       5,995       22,130       1,999   

                              

  Total     $ 3,115       6,106       45,535   

 

 

The deferred taxes in 2020 are primarily related to the bonus depreciation on property placed in service.  Current taxes in 

2020 were favorably impacted by $1,100,000 due to a carryback of our 2020 tax net operating loss to fiscal 2016 when the 

federal tax rate was 35%.  Current income tax expense in 2019 includes a $13,797,000 provision to return adjustment 

related to the deferral of current federal and state taxes due in connection with $50 million additional Opportunity Zone 

investment funds invested in June of 2019 but applied to the 2018 returns.  In addition, 2019 includes an additional 

deferral reduction of $4,213,000 of current state taxes related to the $55 million Opportunity Zone investment in 

December of 2018 which were deferred rather than our prior 2018 tax position that the state taxes would not conform to 

the federal treatment.  The aggregate of the provision to return adjustments in 2019 of $18 million offset current tax 

provision of $2 million absent these adjustments for a net current tax benefit of $16 million.  2018 included $44.6 million 

in tax expense related to discontinued operations as a result of the taxes related to the gain on sale of our warehouses.   

 

As of December 31, 2020 the company has deferred taxes of approximately $31 million associated with $112 million of 

gains on sales reinvested through Opportunity Zone investments.  These taxes are deferred until the earlier of the sale of 

the related investments or December 31, 2026 and 10% of gains are excluded from tax once the investments are held five 

years plus an additional 5% is excluded at seven years. 

 

A reconciliation between the amount of tax shown above and the amount computed at the statutory Federal income tax rate 

follows (in thousands): 

    Year Ended December 31 

    2020   2019   2018 

Amount computed at statutory                         
  Federal rate   $ 3,226       5,006       35,351   
State income taxes (net of Federal                         
  income tax benefit)     1,048       1,623       10,186   

Carryback of net operating loss     (1,100 )      -       -   

Other, net     (59 )      (523 )      (2 )  

Provision for income taxes   $ 3,115       6,106       45,535   

 

In this reconciliation, the category “Other, net” consists of permanent tax differences related to non-deductible expenses, 

special tax rates and tax credits, interest paid and penalties, and adjustments to prior year estimates.   

 

 

The types of temporary differences and their related tax effects that give rise to deferred tax assets and deferred tax 

liabilities are presented below (in thousands): 
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    December 31, 

    2020   2019   2018 

Deferred tax liabilities:                         

 Property and equipment   $ 56,314       49,932       28,329   

 Depletion     708       718       721   

 Unrealized rents     27       27       52   

 Prepaid expenses     50       76       38   

  Gross deferred tax liabilities     57,099       50,753       29,140   

Deferred tax assets:                         

 Employee benefits and other     993       642       1,159   

Gross deferred tax assets     993       642       1,159   

Net deferred tax liability   $ 56,106       50,111       27,981   

  

 

The Company has no unrecognized tax benefits. 

 

FRP tax returns in the U.S. and various states that include the Company are subject to audit by taxing authorities. As of 

December 31, 2020, the earliest tax year that remains open for audit is 2015. Our effective income tax expense may vary, 

possibly materially, due to projected effective state tax rates. 

 

9. Employee Benefits.  

 

The Company and certain subsidiaries have a savings/profit sharing plan for the benefit of qualified employees.  The 

savings feature of the plan incorporates the provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code under which an 

eligible employee may elect to save a portion (within limits) of their compensation on a tax deferred basis.  The Company 

contributes to a participant’s account an amount equal to 50% (with certain limits) of the participant’s contribution.  

Additionally, the Company may make an annual discretionary contribution to the plan as determined by the Board of 

Directors, with certain limitations.  The plan provides for deferred vesting with benefits payable upon retirement or earlier 

termination of employment.  The Company’s cost was $43,000 in 2020 and $35,000 in 2019. 

 

The Company has a deferred compensation plan, the Management Security Plan (MSP) for our President.  The accruals for 

future benefits are based upon actuarial assumptions. Life insurance on his life has been purchased to partially fund this 

benefit and the Company is the owner and beneficiary of that policy.  The expense for 2020 and 2019, was $2,000 and 

($14,000), respectively.  The accrued benefit under this plan as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was 

$1,252,000 and $1,424,000, respectively. 

 

10. Business Segments. 

  

The Company is reporting its financial performance based on four reportable segments, Asset Management, Mining 

Royalty Lands, Development and Stabilized Joint Venture, as described below. 

 

The Asset Management segment owns, leases and manages commercial properties.  The flex/office warehouses in the 

Asset Management Segment were sold and reclassified to discontinued operations leaving only two commercial properties 

and one recent industrial acquisition, Cranberry Run Business Park, which we purchased in 2019. In July 2020 we sold our 

property located at 1801 62
nd

 Street, our most recent spec building in Hollander Business Park, which had joined Asset 

Management April 1, 2019.   

 

Our Mining Royalty Lands segment owns several properties comprising approximately 15,000 acres currently under lease 

for mining rents or royalties (this does not include the 4,280 acres owned in our Brooksville joint venture with Vulcan 

Materials).  Other than one location in Virginia, all of these properties are located in Florida and Georgia. 
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Through our Development segment, we own and are continuously assessing for their highest and best use for several 

parcels of land that are in various stages of development.  Our overall strategy in this segment is to convert all of our non-

income producing lands into income production through (i) an orderly process of constructing new buildings for us to own 

and operate or (ii) a sale to, or joint venture with, third parties.  Additionally, our Development segment will form joint 

ventures on new developments of land not previously owned by the Company.   

 

The Stabilized Joint Venture segment includes joint ventures which own, lease and manage buildings that have met our 

initial lease up criteria.  One of our two joint ventures in the segment, Riverfront Investment Partners I, LLC (“Dock 79”) 

is consolidated. The ownership of Dock 79 attributable to our partner MidAtlantic Realty Partners, LLC  (MRP) is 

reflected on our consolidated balance sheet as a noncontrolling interest.  Such noncontrolling interests are reported on the 

Consolidated Balance Sheets within equity but separately from shareholders' equity.  On the Consolidated Statements of 

Income, all of the revenues and expenses from Dock 79 are reported in net income, including both the amounts attributable 

to the Company and the noncontrolling interest.  The amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the noncontrolling 

interest is clearly identified on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. 

 

On May 21, 2018, the Company completed the disposition of 40 industrial warehouse properties and 3 additional land 

parcels to an affiliate of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII, L.P. for $347.2 million.  One warehouse property valued at 

$11.7 million was excluded from the sale due to the tenant exercising its right of first refusal to purchase the property.  On 

June 28, 2019, the Company completed the sale of the excluded property to the same buyer for $11.7 million. This sale 

constituted a major strategic shift and as a result, these properties have been reclassified as discontinued operations for all 

periods presented.  We plan to develop our remaining owned office/warehouse pad sites in a timely, opportunistic manner 

and sell the fully leased buildings in groups of two or three. 

 

Operating results and certain other financial data for the Company’s business segments are as follows (in thousands): 

 

    Years Ended December 31, 

    2020   2019   2018 

Revenues:             
 Asset management   $ 2,747       2,190       2,309   

 Mining royalty lands     9,477       9,438       8,139   

 Development     1,152       1,164       1,206   

 Stabilized Joint Venture     10,207       10,964       10,368   

    $ 23,583       23,756       22,022   

Operating profit:                         
Before corporate expenses:                         
 Asset management   $ 907       196       1,051   

 Mining royalty lands     8,629       8,690       7,504   

 Development     (2,576 )     (2,817 )     (2,104 ) 

 Stabilized Joint Venture     1,685       2,243       (537 ) 

 Operating profit before corporate expenses     8,645       8,312       5,914   

 Corporate expenses:                         
  Allocated to asset management     (909 )     (646 )     (153 ) 

  Allocated to mining royalty lands     (288 )     (169 )     (214 ) 

  Allocated to Development     (2,108 )     (1,581 )     (1,984 ) 

  Allocated to Stabilized Joint Venture     (206 )     (160 )     (393 ) 

  Unallocated     —         —         (1,208 ) 

      (3,511 )     (2,556 )     (3,952 ) 

    $ 5,134       5,756       1,962   
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Interest expense   $ 1,100       1,054       3,103   

                          
Depreciation, depletion and amortization:                         
 Asset management   $ 652       708       540   

 Mining royalty lands     218       177       198   

 Development     214       214       228   

 Stabilized Joint Venture     4,744       4,756       6,932   

    $ 5,828       5,855       7,898   

Capital expenditures:                         
 Asset management   $ 924       9,487       335   

 Mining royalty lands     —         —         —     

 Development     16,547       631       6,396   

 Stabilized Joint Venture     73       316       563   

    $ 17,544       10,434       7,294   

 
                        

Identifiable net assets at end of period:                         
  Asset management   $ 11,172       18,468       10,593   

  Discontinued operations     —         —         3,224   

  Mining royalty lands     37,387       38,409       37,991   

  Development     196,212       179,357       119,029   

  Stabilized Joint Venture     130,472       133,956       138,206   

  Investments available for sale at fair value     75,609       137,867       165,212   

  Cash items     74,105       26,793       22,749   

  Unallocated corporate assets     11,403       3,298       8,484   

    $ 536,360       538,148       505,488   

 

 

11. Fair Value Measurements. 

 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to 

valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels.  Level 1 means the use of quoted prices in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities.  Level 2 means the use of values that are derived principally from or corroborated 

by observable market data.  Level 3 means the use of inputs are those that are unobservable and significant to the overall 

fair value measurement. 

 

At December 31, 2020 the Company was invested in 32 corporate bonds with individual maturities ranging from 2021 

through 2022.  The unrealized gain on these bonds of $677,000 was recorded as part of comprehensive income and was 

based on the estimated market value by National Financial Services, LLC (“NFS”) obtained from sources that may include 

pricing vendors, broker/dealers who clear through NFS and/or other sources (Level 2).  The Company recorded a realized 

gain of $298,000 in its net investment income related to bonds that were sold in 2020.  The amortized cost of the 

investments was $74,932,000 and the carrying amount and fair value of such bonds were $75,609,000 as of December 31, 

2020. 

 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying amount reported in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash 

equivalents and revolving credit approximate their fair value based upon the short-term nature of these items. 

 

The fair values of the Company’s other mortgage notes payable were estimated based on current rates available to the 
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Company for debt of the same remaining maturities.  At December 31, 2020, the carrying amount and fair value of such 

other long-term debt was $89,964,000 and $96,187,000, respectively.  At December 31, 2019, the carrying amount and 

fair value of such other long-term debt was $88,925,000 and $93,065,000, respectively.   

 

 

12. Contingent Liabilities.  

 

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are involved in litigation on a number of matters and are subject to certain claims 

which arise in the normal course of business.  The Company has retained certain self-insurance risks with respect to losses 

for third party liability and property damage.  The liability at any point in time depends upon the relative ages and amounts 

of the individual open claims.  In the opinion of management, none of these matters are expected to have a material 

adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

 

The Company executed a letter of intent with MRP in May 2016 to develop Phase II of the Riverfront on the Anacostia 

project and recorded an estimated environmental remediation expense of $2.0 million for the Company’s estimated liability 

under the proposed agreement.  The Company substantially completed the remediation and reduced the estimated liability 

in the quarter ending September 30, 2018 by $465,000 and further reduced the liability $92,000 to zero in 2020.  The 

Company has no obligation to remediate any known contamination on Phases III and IV of the development until such 

time as it makes a commitment to commence construction on each phase. 

 

 

13. Commitments.  

 

The Company, at December 31, 2020, had entered into various contracts to develop and maintain real estate with 

remaining commitments totaling $6,177,000.  

 

 

14. Concentrations. 

 

The mining royalty lands segment has a total of five tenants currently leasing mining locations and one lessee that 

accounted for 32% of the Company’s consolidated revenues during 2020 and $285,000 of accounts receivable at 

December 31, 2020.  The termination of these lessees’ underlying leases could have a material adverse effect on the 

Company.  The Company places its cash and cash equivalents with Wells Fargo Bank and First Horizon Bank.  At times, 

such amounts may exceed FDIC limits. 

 

 

15. Unusual or Infrequent Items Impacting Quarterly Results.   

 

On May 21, 2018, the Company completed the disposition of 40 industrial warehouse properties and three additional land 

parcels to an affiliate of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII, L.P. for $347.2 million. 

 

Provision for income taxes in the fourth quarter of 2020 was favorably impacted by $1,100,000 due to a carryback of our 

2020 tax net operating loss to fiscal 2016 when the federal tax rate was 35%. 

 

 

16. Intangible Assets. 

 

The Company has allocated the purchase price of property acquisitions based upon the fair value of the assets acquired, 

consisting of land, buildings and intangible assets, including in-place leases and below market leases.  These deferred 

leasing intangible assets are recorded within Deferred Costs and Deferred lease intangible, net in the consolidated balance 

sheets. The value of the in-place lease intangibles will be amortized to amortization expense over the remaining lease 
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terms. The fair value assigned pertaining to the above market in-place leases values are amortized as a reduction to rental 

revenue, and the below market in-place lease values are amortized as an increase to rental revenue over the remaining non-

cancelable terms of the respective leases. 

 

DOCK 79 – The Company will recognize the amortization related to the Dock 79 intangible assets according to the 

following schedule (in thousands): 

          In-place     

          Leases     

  Initial Values     $ 4,727     

  Annual Amortization:           

   2017     $ 2,501     

 

2018 

   

2,201 

    2019       25     

 

CRANBERRY RUN BUSINESS PARK – The Company will recognize the amortization related to the Cranberry Run 

Business Park intangible assets according to the following schedule (in thousands): 

  

 

        In-place     

          Leases     

  Initial Values     $ 183     

  Annual Amortization:           

   2019     $ 79     

 

2020 

   

46 

   2021    46   

  2022       12     

 

The Company reviews intangible assets for impairment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.  Recoverability of long-lived assets is measured by a comparison 

of the carrying amount of the asset group to the future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by those 

assets.  If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment charge recognized is the amount by which the 

carrying amounts of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. 

 

The gross amounts and accumulated amortization of identifiable intangible assets are as follows (in thousands): 

 

    December 31, 2020   December 31, 2019 

    Gross   Accumulated   Gross   Accumulated 

    Amount   Amortization   Amount   Amortization 

Amortizable intangible assets:                                 
  In-place leases (useful life 0-8 years)   $ 4,910       4,852       4,910       4,806   

  Above Market leases (useful life 5 years)     -       -       -       -   

    $ 4,910       4,852       4,910       4,806   

 

 

 

17. Discontinued Operations. 

 

On May 21, 2018, the Company completed the disposition of 40 industrial warehouse properties and three additional land 

parcels to an affiliate of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII, L.P. for $347.2 million.  One warehouse property valued at 

$11.7 million was excluded from the sale due to the tenant exercising its right of first refusal to purchase the property.  On 
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June 28, 2019, the Company completed the sale of the excluded property to the same buyer for $11.7 million.  These 

properties comprised substantially all the assets of our Asset Management segment and have been reclassified as 

discontinued operations for all periods presented.  The results of operations associated with discontinued operations for the 

years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows (in thousands): 

 

    Years Ended December 31, 

    2019   2018   

            
Lease Revenues   $ 460       12,098     

                    

Cost of operations:                   
     Depreciation, depletion and amortization     17       3,161     
     Operating expenses     248       1,742     
     Property taxes     41       1,286     
     Management company indirect     —         1,360     
     Corporate expenses     —         1,462     

Total cost of operations     306       9,011     
                    

Total operating profit     154       3,087     
                    

Interest expense     —         (587 )   
Gain on sale of buildings     9,244       164,915     

                    
Income before income taxes     9,398       167,415     
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes     2,542       45,286     

                    
Income from discontinued operations   $ 6,856       122,129     

 

 

The components of the balance sheet are as follows (in thousands): 

      December 31 

Assets:     2018 

Real estate investments at cost:           
Land     $  546   

Buildings and improvements       3,315   

Projects under construction       —     

     Total investments in properties       3,861   

Less accumulated depreciation and depletion       2,374   

     Net investments in properties       1,487   

            
Accounts receivable, net       910   

Unrealized rents       473   

Deferred costs       354   

Other assets       —     

Assets of discontinued operations     $  3,224   
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Liabilities:           
Secured notes payable, current portion     $ —     

Secured notes payable, less current portion       —     

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities       205   

Deferred revenue       45   

Tenant security deposits       38   

Liabilities of discontinued operations     $  288   

 

 

18.  Subsequent Events. 

 

The Company has a pending transaction set to finalize in March 2021 to refinance the mortgage currently in place at Dock 

79 and place permanent financing on The Maren.  If completed, the $92 million loan for Dock 79 will have a term of 12 

years and will reduce the interest rate on the current Dock 79 loan from 4.125% to 3.03% but will require a prepayment 

penalty of $900,000 on the existing $90 million loan.  Under its current mortgage, Dock 79 is set to begin principal 

payments in November 2021.  This is an interest-only loan and would defer any principal payments until at least 2033.  

This transaction would also secure $88 million in long-term, interest-only financing for The Maren for a term of 12 years 

and an interest rate of 3.03%.  As a result of this transaction, the Company would also be repaid the $13.75 million in 

preferred equity that it supplied the joint venture along with roughly $2.3 million in accrued interest payments. 

 

In March 2021, RiverFront II, LLC. reached stabilization meaning 90% of the individual apartments had been leased and 

occupied by third party tenants.  Upon reaching stabilization, the Company has, for a period of one year, the exclusive right 

to (i) cause the joint venture to sell the property or (ii) cause the Company’s and MRP’s percentage interests in the joint 

venture to be adjusted so as to take into account the contractual payouts assuming a sale at the value of the development at 

the time of this “Conversion election”. The attainment of stabilization resulted in a change of control for accounting 

purposes as the veto rights of the minority shareholder lapsed and the Company became the primary beneficiary.  As such, 

beginning March 2021, the Company will consolidate the assets (at fair value), liabilities and operating results of the joint 

venture.  The consolidation will result in a gain on remeasurement and prospective adjustment of the percentage ownership 

based upon the profit sharing arraignment. 
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Report of Management 

 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

Management of the Company is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements 

appearing in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. The financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States appropriate in the circumstances and, accordingly, include certain 

amounts based on our best judgments and estimates. Financial information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is 

consistent with that in the financial statements. 

 

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of internal controls and procedures 

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements. Our internal control system is supported by a program of internal audits and appropriate reviews by 

management, written policies and guidelines, careful selection and training of qualified personnel, and a written Code of 

Business Conduct adopted by our Company's Board of Directors, applicable to all officers and employees of our 

Company and subsidiaries.  

 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements and, 

even when determined to be effective, can only provide reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement 

preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk 

that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies 

or procedures may deteriorate. 

 

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial 

reporting as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act").  

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 

2017. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 

the Treadway Commission (2013 Framework) ("COSO") in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on this 

assessment, management believes that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2020. 

 

The Company's independent auditors, Hancock Askew& Co., LLP, a registered public accounting firm, are appointed by 

the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors, subject to ratification by our Company's shareowners. 

Hancock Askew & Co., LLP has audited and reported on the consolidated financial statements of FRP Holdings, Inc. The 

report of the independent auditors is contained in this annual report. 

 

Audit Committee's Responsibility 

 

The Audit Committee of our Company's Board of Directors, composed solely of Directors who are independent in 

accordance with the requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market listing standards, the Exchange Act, and the Company's 

Corporate Governance Guidelines, meets with the independent auditors, management and internal auditors periodically to 

discuss internal controls and auditing and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee reviews with the independent 

auditors the scope and results of the audit effort. The Audit Committee also meets periodically with the independent 

auditors and the chief internal auditor without management present to ensure that the independent auditors and the chief 

internal auditor have free access to the Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee's Report can be found in the Company's 

2020 Proxy Statement. 
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm 

The Shareholders and Board of Directors FRP Holdings, Inc.  

 
Opinion on the Financial Statements  

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of FRP Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 

31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash 

flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the consolidated 

financial statements (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial 

statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 

2019, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, in 

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

 

Basis for Opinion  

 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting 

firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the 

U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 

PCAOB. 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 

misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an 

audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of 

internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our 

audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 

basis for our opinion.  

 

Critical Audit Matter 

 

The critical audit matter communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements 

that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or 

disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involve especially challenging, subjective, or complex 

judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, 

taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the 

critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates. 

 

Description of Matter 

 

At December 31, 2020 the Company’s investments in real estate were $379 million including unconsolidated real 

estate ventures of $167 million. As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company enters 
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into real estate investments and performs an assessment as to which method of accounting is appropriate, whether 

the proper accounting is to determine whether to use the cost or equity to account for an investment or whether to 

consolidate such investment. Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements provides a detail of unconsolidated real 

estate investments 

 

Application and auditing of the accounting treatment of the Company’s real estate investments, including the 

process of evaluating the use of the cost or equity method of accounting or the evaluation of criteria for 

consolidation based on the variable interest entity (VIE) model or a voting interest entity (VOE) model, is complex 

and requires significant judgment. This evaluation and analysis include the determination of which party, if any, has 

power to direct the activities most significant to the economic performance of each real estate venture and whether 

the venture has sufficient equity to finance its activities without additional subordinated support. Factors considered 

by management in determining whether the Company has the power to direct the activities include voting rights, 

involvement in day-to-day capital allocation and operating decisions and the extent of the Company’s involvement 

in the entity.    

 

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit 

 

 We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of relevant controls over 

the Company’s qualitative analysis that determines whether the Company has control over the venture, through 

influence, voting interest or through the presence of a variable interest in a real estate venture that would require 

consolidation.  

  

For all investments in real estate ventures, our procedures include reading the operating agreements and other 

relevant documents and evaluating the structure and terms of the agreements and reviewing management’s 

evaluation of control over the entity and the applicability of the variable interest model as compared to the voting 

interest model. We evaluate management’s determination of whether the investee has sufficient equity to finance its 

activities without additional subordinated financial support and whether the equity holders lack the characteristics of 

a controlling financial interest. We consider management’s determination on whether the Company is the primary 

beneficiary or has a controlling financial interest that should be considered. We take into consideration evidence 

obtained in other areas of the audit, such as review of board minutes and status of the projects development to 

determine if any reconsideration of the findings is necessary.  

 

Hancock Askew & Co., LLP 

 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2006.  

 

Savannah, Georgia 

March 19, 2021 
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FRP Holdings, Inc. 

200 West Forsyth Street, 7th Floor 

Jacksonville, Florida, 32202 

Telephone:  (904) 396-5733 

 

 

Annual Meeting 

Due to the social distancing guidelines from the CDC, this year our Annual Shareholders meeting will be held virtually at 

11 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time on Monday May 3, 2021. All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the Annual 

Shareholders meeting via a weblink titled “2021 Annual Shareholders Meeting” which will be posted on our website at 

www.frpdev.com under Investor Relations. 

 

Transfer Agent 

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company 

59 Maiden Lane 

Plaza Level 

New York, NY  10038 

Telephone:  1-800-937-5449 

 

General Counsel 

Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP 

Jacksonville, Florida   

 

Independent Registered Certified Public Accounting Firm 

 

Hancock Askew & Co., LLP 

Savannah, Georgia 

 

Common Stock Listed 

 

The Nasdaq Stock Market 

(Symbol: FRPH) 

 

 

Form 10-K 

 

Shareholders may receive, without charge, a copy of FRP Holdings, Inc.’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended 

December 31, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission by writing to the Treasurer at 200 West 

Forsyth Street, 7th Floor, Jacksonville, Florida 32202.  The most recent certifications by our Chief Executive Officer, 

Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are 

filed as exhibits to our Form 10-K. 

 

Company Website 

 

The Company’s website may be accessed at www.frpdev.com.  All of our filings with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission can be accessed through our website promptly after filing.  This includes annual reports on Form 10-K, 

proxy statements, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports filed or furnished on Form 8-K and all related 

amendments. 



 

CERTIFICATIONS                                                  Exhibit 31(a) 

 

I, John D. Baker II, certify that: 

 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of FRP Holdings, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 

were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 

and for, the periods presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 

reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls to be designed under our 

supervision, ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 

made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 

prepared; 

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 

to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles; 

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosures controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 

covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal annual that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial report; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or 

persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 

information; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 

Date: March 19, 2021 /s/John D. Baker II 

  John D. Baker II 

  Chief Executive Officer 

 



 

CERTIFICATIONS                                                  Exhibit 31(b) 

 

I, John D. Baker III, certify that: 

 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of FRP Holdings, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 

made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 

and for, the periods presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls to be designed under our 

supervision, ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 

made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 

prepared; 

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 

to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles; 

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosures controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 

covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal annual that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial report; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or 

persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 

information; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 

Date: March 19, 2021 /s/John D. Baker III        

John D. Baker III 

Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 

 



 

CERTIFICATIONS                                                  Exhibit 31(c) 

 

I, John D. Klopfenstein, certify that: 

 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of FRP Holdings, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 

made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 

and for, the periods presented in this annual report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls to be designed under our 

supervision, ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 

made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 

prepared; 

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 

to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles; 

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosures controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 

covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal annual that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially 

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial report; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 

over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or 

persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 

information; and 

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 

the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 

Date: March 19, 2021  /s/John D. Klopfenstein 

  John D. Klopfenstein 

  Controller and Chief Accounting Officer 

 



 

 

 

Exhibit 32 

 

CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

 

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned certifies that this periodic report fully 

complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information 

contained in this periodic report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 

FRP Holdings, Inc. 

 

 

      FRP Holdings, Inc. 

          

          

Date:  March 19, 2021   By JOHN D. BAKER II   

      John D. Baker II   

      Chief Executive Officer 

      (Principal Executive Officer) 

          

          

    By JOHN D. BAKER III   

      John D. Baker III.   

      Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer 

      (Principal Financial Officer) 

          

          

    By JOHN D. KLOPFENSTEIN   

      John D. Klopfenstein   

      Controller and Chief Accounting 

      Officer (Principal Accounting Officer) 

 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to FRP Holdings, Inc. and will be 

retained by FRP Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 

 

The foregoing certification accompanies the issuer’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and is not filed as provided in SEC 

Release Nos. 33-8212, 34-4751 and IC-25967, dated June 30, 2003. 


